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I. INTRODUCTION

A. Background

1. The Appeals Chamber of the International Tribunal for the Prosecution of Persons
Responsible for Serious Violations of International Humanitarian Law Committed in the Territory
of the Former Yugoslavia since 1991 (“International Tribunal”) is seized of three appeals' from the
judgement rendered by Trial Chamber II (“Trial Chamber™), on 27 September 2007, in the case of
Prosecutor v. Mile Mrksi¢, Miroslav Radi¢ and Veselin Sljivancanin, Case No. IT-95-13-/1-T
(“Trial Judgement™).

2. Mile Mrksi¢ (“Mrksi¢”) was born on 20 July 1947 near Vrginmost, in present-day Croatia.
During the time relevant to the Indictment, he was a colonel in the JNA and commander of the
Gmtbr and OG South. As commander of OG South, he had command of all Serb forces including
JNA, TO and paramilitary forces. Veselin Sljivan&anin (“Sljivanéanin”) was born on 13 June 1953
in Pavez, Zabljak municipality, in present-day Montenegro. During the time relevant to the
Indictment, he was a major in the JNA and held the post of head of the security organ of both the
Gmtbr and the OG South.

3. The events giving rise to this case took place on 20/21 November 1991 and concern the
mistreatment and execution of Croat and other non-Serb persons taken from the Vukovar hospital
by Serb forces on 20 November 1991. The city of Vukovar had been the object of attack by the
JNA, from August until November 1991. During the course of the three-month siege, the city was
largely destroyed by JNA shelling and hundreds of people were killed. When the Serb forces
occupied the city, hundreds more non-Serbs were killed by Serb forces. The majority of the
remaining non-Serb population of the city was expelled within days of the fall of Vukovar. In the
last days of the siege, several hundred people sought refuge at the Vukovar Hospital in the hope that
it would be evacuated in the presence of international observers. The Trial Chamber found that 194
people identified in the Schedule to the Trial Judgement,” were taken from the Vukovar hospital to

Ovc¢ara, where Serb forces mistreated them and later executed them.>

4. Mrksic¢ was convicted under Articles 3 and 7(1) of the Statute for: (a) murder as a violation
of the laws or customs of war, for having aided and abetted the murder of 194 individuals identified
in the Schedule to the Trial Judgement, at a site located near the hangar at Ov&ara on 20 and

21 November 1991; (b) torture as a violation of the laws or customs of war, for having aided and

' See Prosecution Notice of Appeal; Mrksi¢ Notice of Appeal; Sljivancanin Notice of Appeal.
See Schedule to the Trial Judgement. ow M
* Trial Judgement, paras 509, 539, \

Case No.: IT-95-13/1-A 5 May 2009
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abetted the torture of prisoners of war at the hangar at Ov&ara on 20 November 1991; and (c) cruel
treatment as a violation of the laws or customs of war, for having aided and abetted the maintenance
of inhumane conditions of detention at the hangar at Ovéara on 20 November 1991.* He was
acquitted of all crimes charged as crimes against humanity which included persecutions,
extermination, murder, torture and inhumane acts.’ The Trial Chamber sentenced Mrk3ic to a single

v 6
sentence of 20 years’ imprisonment.

5. The Trial Chamber found that Sljivan¢anin failed to discharge his legal duty to protect the
prisoners of war held in Ov&ara from acts of mistreatment.” It convicted him under Articles 3 and
7(1) of the Statute, for having aided and abetted the torture of prisoners of war at the hangar at
Ov¢ara on 20 November 1991.° It acquitted him of all crimes charged as crimes against humanity as
well as for murder as a violation of the laws or customs of war.” Further, while the Trial Chamber
found that Sljivanéanin had aided and abetted cruel treatment as a violation of the laws and customs
of war, it did not enter a conviction under that count as it was impermissibly cumulative.'” The Trial

Chamber sentenced him to a single sentence of five years’ imprisonment.'!

B. Prosecution’s Appeal

6. On 29 October 2007, the Prosecution filed a notice of appeal. This notice of appeal was
amended on 7 May 2008, setting forth four grounds of appeal against the Trial Judgement and
requesting the Appeals Chamber to: (a) reverse the acquittal of Sljivancanin and Mrksi¢ under
Article 5 of the Statute,'? and therefore (1) enter a conviction for torture and murder as a crime
against humanity under Article 5 of the Statute against Sljivan¢anin'® and (ii) enter convictions for
murder, torture and inhumane acts as crimes against humanity under Article 5 of the Statute against
Mrksic;' (b) overturn the acquittal of Sljivancanin for murder, and enter a conviction against him
under Article 3 of the Statute for having aided the murder of 194 prisoners killed at the grave site
near Ovéara on 20/21 November 1991;"° (c) revise and increase Sljivanéanin’s sentence in order to

properly reflect the gravity of his criminal conduct;'® (d) revise and increase Mrksi¢’s sentence in

* Trial Judgement, para. 712.

® Trial Judgement, para. 711.

® Trial Judgement, para. 713.

7 Trial Judgement, para. 674.

® Trial Judgement, para. 715.

® Trial Judgement, paras 711, 715.

' Trial Judgement, paras 674, 679, 681.

! Trial Judgement, para. 716.

2 See Prosecution Notice of Appeal, paras 3-6.
" Prosecution Notice of Appeal, paras 6(i), 11.
* Prosecution Notice of Appeal, para. 6(ii).

' Prosecution Notice of Appeal, paras 8-10. ’-\ M
' Prosecution Notice of Appeal, paras 13-15.

Case No.: IT-95-13/1-A 5 May 2009
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order to properly reflect the gravity of his criminal conduct;'” and (e) revise and increase
Sljivan¢anin and Mrksi¢’s sentences in case the Appeals Chamber enters new convictions under

Article 5 of the Statute.'®

C. Sljivanéanin’s Appeal

1. On 29 October 2007, Sljivan¢anin filed a notice of appeal setting forth seven grounds of
appeal against the Trial Judgement. This notice of appeal was amended on 28 August 2008, setting
forth six grounds of appeal against the Trial Judgement, requesting the Appeals Chamber to reverse
the Trial Judgement and find him not guilty on Count 7 of the Indictment (torture as a violation of
the laws and customs of war, under Article 3 of the Statute)19 or in the alternative to order a new
trial on this count,® or if the conviction is upheld, to reduce the sentence of five years’

imprisonment imposed by the Trial Chamber.”!

D. MrkSi¢’s Appeal

8. On 29 October 2007, Mrk3i¢ filed a notice of appeal setting forth eleven grounds of appeal
against the Trial Judgement and requesting the Appeals Chamber to acquit him of his conviction
under Article 3 of the Statute for having aided and abetted the crimes of murder, torture and cruel

treatment and challenging his sentence.”

E. Appeals Hearing

9. The Appeals Chamber heard oral submissions of the Parties regarding these appeals on
21 and 23 January 2009. Having considered their written and oral submissions, the Appeals

Chamber hereby renders its Judgement.

"7 Prosecution Notice of Appeal, paras 16-18.

'® Prosecution Notice of Appeal, paras 7, 12.

** Sljivanéanin Notice of Appeal, paras 6, 36.

29 Sljivanéanin Notice of Appeal, para. 37. f_\’ \V\
2! Stjivanéanin Notice of Appeal, para. 38.

22 Mrksic Notice of Appeal, paras 96-97.
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II. STANDARD OF REVIEW ON APPEAL

10. On appeal, the Parties must limit their arguments to legal errors that invalidate the
judgement of the Trial Chamber and to factual errors that result in a miscarriage of justice within
the scope of Article 25 of the Statute. These criteria are well established by the Appeals Chambers
of both the International Tribunal®® and the International Criminal Tribunal for Rwanda (“ICTR”).24
In exceptional circumstances, the Appeals Chamber will also hear appeals where a party has raised
a legal issue that would not lead to invalidation of the judgement, but is nevertheless of general

significance to the International Tribunal’s jurisprudence.?

11. A party alleging an error of law must identify the alleged error, present arguments in support
of its claim and explain how the error invalidates the judgement. An allegation of an error of law
which has no chance of changing the outcome of a judgement may be rejected on that ground.?®
However, even if the party’s arguments are insufficient to support the contention of an error, the

Appeals Chamber may find for other reasons that there is an error of law.?’

12. The Appeals Chamber reviews the Trial Chamber’s findings of law to determine whether or
not they are correct.”® Where the Appeals Chamber finds an error of law in the Trial Judgement
arising from the application of the wrong legal standard by the Trial Chamber, the Appeals

Chamber will articulate the correct legal standard and review the relevant factual findings of the

 Strugar Appeal Judgement, para. 10; Ori¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 7; Halilovi¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 6; Limaj et
al. Appeal Judgement, para. 8; Blagojevic and Joki¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 6; Brdanin Appeal Judgement, para. §;
Galic Appeal Judgement, para. 6; Staki¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 7; Kvocka et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 14:
Vasiljevi¢ Appeal Judgement, paras 4-12; Kunarac et al. Appeal Judgement, paras 35-48; Kupreskic et al. Appeal
Judgement, para. 29; Celebici Appeal Judgement, paras 434-435; FurundZija Appeal Judgement, paras 34-40; Tadi¢
Appeal Judgement, para. 64.
** Seromba Appeal Judgement, para. 9; Nahimana et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 11; Muhimana Appeal Judgement,
para. 6; Kajelijeli Appeal Judgement, para. 5; Semanza Appeal Judgement, para. 7; Musema Appeal Judgement, para.
15; Akayesu Appeal Judgement, para. 178; Kayishema and Ruzindana Appeal Judgement, paras 177, 320. Under the
Statute of the ICTR, the relevant provision is Article 24.
» Ori¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 7; Halilovi¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 6; Limaj et al. Appeal Judgement, para. §;
Blagojevic¢ and Joki¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 6; Brdanin Appeal Judgement, para. 8; Gali¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 6;
Staki¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 7; Kupreskic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 22; Tadi¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 247.
See also Nahimana et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 12.
% Strugar Appeal Judgement, para. 11; Ori¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 8; Halilovi¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 7; Limaj et
al. Appeal Judgement, para. 9; Blagojevi¢ and Joki¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 7; Brdanin Appeal Judgement, para. 9,
Galic¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 7; Staki¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 8; Kvocka et al. Appeal Judgement para. 16, citing
Krnojelac Appeal Judgement, para. 10.
%7 Strugar Appeal Judgement, para. 11; Oric Appeal Judgement, para. 8; Halilovi¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 7; Limaj et
al. Appeal Judgement, para. 9; Blagojevic and Joki¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 7; Brdanin Appeal Judgement, para. 9,
Galic Appeal Judgement, para. 7; Stakic Appeal Judgement, para. 8; Kvocka et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 16; Kordic
and Cerkez Appeal Judgement, para. 16; Vasiljevi¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 6; Kupreskic et al. Appeal Judgement,
para. 26. See also Seromba Appeal Judgement, para. 10; Nahimana et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 12; Muhimana
Appeal Judgement, para. 7; Gacumbitsi Appeal Judgement, para. 7; Ntagerura et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 11;
Semanza Appeal Judgement, para. 7, Kambanda Appeal Judgement, para. 98.
8 Strugar Appeal Judgement, para. 12; Ori¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 9; Halilovi¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 8; Limaj et
al. Appeal Judgement, para. 10; Blagojevic and Joki¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 8; Brdanin Appeal Judgement, para. 10;
Gali¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 8; Stakic Appeal Judgement, para. 9; Krnojelac Appeal Judgement, para. 10.
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Trial Chamber accordingly.29 In so doing, the Appeals Chamber not only corrects the legal error,
but applies the correct legal standard to the evidence contained in the trial record, where necessary,
and determines whether it is itself convinced beyond reasonable doubt as to the factual finding
challenged by the appellant before that finding is confirmed on appeal.”® The Appeals Chamber will
not review the entire trial record de novo. Rather, it will in principle only take into account evidence
referred to by the Trial Chamber in the body of the judgement or in a related footnote, evidence

contained in the trial record and referred to by the parties, and additional evidence admitted on

appeal.3 !

13. When considering alleged errors of fact, the Appeals Chamber will apply a standard of
reasonableness. Only an error of fact which has occasioned a miscarriage of justice will cause the
Appeals Chamber to overturn a decision by the Trial Chamber.*? In reviewing the findings of the
Trial Chamber, the Appeals Chamber will only substitute its own finding for that of the Trial
Chamber when no reasonable trier of fact could have reached the original decision.*® The Appeals
Chamber applies the same reasonableness standard to alleged errors of fact regardless of whether

the finding of fact was based on direct or circumstantial evidence.*

14. In determining whether or not a Trial Chamber’s finding was one that no reasonable trier of

fact could have reached, the Appeals Chamber “will not lightly disturb findings of fact by a Trial

% Strugar Appeal Judgement, para. 12; Oric Appeal Judgement, para. 9; Halilovi¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 8; Limaj et
al. Appeal Judgement, para. 10; Blagojevic and Joki¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 8; Brdanin Appeal Judgement, para. 10;
Gali¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 8; Stakic Appeal Judgement, para. 9; Kvocka et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 17; Kordic¢
and Cerkez Appeal Judgement, para. 17; Blaski¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 15. See also Nahimana et al. Appeal
Judgement, para. 13.

* Strugar Appeal Judgement, para. 12; Ori¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 9; Halilovi¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 8; Limaj et
al. Appeal Judgement, para. 10; Blagojevic and Joki¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 8; Brdanin Appeal Judgement, para. 10;
Galic¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 8; Stakic¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 9; Kvocka et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 17; Kordi¢
and Cerkez Appeal Judgement, para. 17; Blaski¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 15. See also Nahimana et al. Appeal
Judgement, para. 13.

3 Strugar Appeal Judgement, para. 15; Brdanin Appeal Judgement, para. 15; Gali¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 8; Stakic
Appeal Judgement, para. 9; Blaskic Appeal Judgement, para. 13; Kordi¢ and Cerkez Appeal Judgement, para. 21, fn.
12.

% Strugar Appeal Judgement, para. 13; Oric Appeal Judgement, para. 10; Halilovi¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 9; Simi¢
Appeal Judgement, para. 10; Kvocka et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 18; Vasiljevi¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 8. See also
Seromba Appeal Judgement, para. 11 ; Muhimana Appeal Judgement, para. 6; Kamuhanda Appeal Judgement, para. 6;
Kajelijeli Appeal Judgement, para. 5.

* Strugar Appeal Judgement, para. 13; Oric¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 10; Halilovi¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 9; Limaj
et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 12; Blagojevic and Joki¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 9; Brdanin Appeal Judgement, para.
13; Gali¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 9; Staki¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 10; Kvocka et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 18;
Kordic and Cerkez Appeal Judgement, para. 18; Blaski¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 16; Celebici Appeal Judgement, para.
435; FurundZija Appeal Judgement, para. 37; Aleksovski Appeal Judgement, para. 63; Tadi¢ Appeal Judgement, para.
64. See also Seromba Appeal Judgement, para. 11 ; Nahimana et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 14.

* Strugar Appeal Judgement, para. 13; Ori¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 10; Limaj et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 12;
Blagojevic and Joki¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 226; Brdanin Appeal Judgement, para. 13; Gali¢ Appeal Judgement,
para. 9; Staki¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 220; Celebici Appeal Judgement, para. 458. Similarly, the type of evidence,
direct or circumstantial, is irrelevant to the standard of proof at trial, where the accused may only be found guilty of a
crime if the Prosecution has proved each element of that crime and the relevant mode of liability beyond a reasonable
doubt. See Staki¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 219; Celebici Appeal Judgement, para. 458.

M
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Chamber”.*> The Appeals Chamber recalls, as a general principle, the approach adopted by the
Appeals Chamber in the Kupreskic et al. case, according to which:

Pursuant to the jurisprudence of the Tribunal, the task of hearing, assessing and weighing the

evidence presented at trial is left primarily to the Trial Chamber. Thus, the Appeals Chamber must

give a margin of deference to a finding of fact reached by a Trial Chamber. Only where the

evidence relied on by the Trial Chamber could not have been accepted by any reasonable tribunal

of fact or where the evaluation of the evidence is “wholly erroneous” may the Appeals Chamber
substitute its own finding for that of the Trial Chamber,*®

15. The same standard of reasonableness and the same deference to factual findings of the Trial
Chamber apply when the Prosecution appeals against an acquittal. Thus, when considering an
appeal by the Prosecution, the Appeals Chamber will only hold that an error of fact was committed
when it determines that no reasonable trier of fact could have made the impugned finding.”’
However, since the Prosecution bears the burden at trial of proving the guilt of the accused beyond
reasonable doubt, the significance of an error of fact occasioning a miscarriage of justice is
somewhat different for a Prosecution appeal against acquittal than for a defence appeal against
conviction.’® An accused must show that the Trial Chamber’s factual errors create a reasonable
doubt as to his guilt. The Prosecution must show that, when account is taken of the errors of fact

committed by the Trial Chamber, all reasonable doubt of the accused’s guilt has been eliminated.*

16. On appeal, a party may not merely repeat arguments that did not succeed at trial, unless the
party can demonstrate that the Trial Chamber’s rejection of them constituted such an error as to

warrant the intervention of the Appeals Chamber.*’ Arguments of a party which do not have the

 Strugar Appeal Judgement, para. 13; Ori¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 10; Halilovi¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 10; Limaj
et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 12; Blagojevic and Joki¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 9; Gali¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 9;
Stakic¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 10; Kvocka et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 19; Krnojelac Appeal Judgement, para. 11;
FurundZija Appeal Judgement, para. 37; Aleksovski Appeal Judgement, para. 63; Tadi¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 64.
See also Seromba Appeal Judgement, para. 11; Nahimana et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 14; Muhimana Appeal
Judgement, para. 8; Kamuhanda Appeal Judgement, para. 7, Kajelijeli Appeal Judgement, para. 5; Ntakirutimana
Appeal Judgement, para. 12; Musema Appeal Judgement, para. 18.

3% Kupreskic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 30.

37 Strugar Appeal Judgement, para. 14; Ori¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 12; Limaj et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 13;
Blagovevic and Joki¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 9; Brdanin Appeal Judgement, para. 14. See also Seromba Appeal
Judgement, para. 11; Bagilishema Appeal Judgement, para. 13.

* Strugar Appeal Judgement, para. 14; Ori¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 12; Halilovi¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 11; Limaj
et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 13; Krnojelac Appeal Judgement, para. 14.

¥ Seromba Appeal Judgement, para. 11; Rutaganda Appeal Judgement, para. 24; Bagilishema Appeal Judgement, paras
13-14. See also Strugar Appeal Judgement, para. 14; Ori¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 12; Halilovi¢ Appeal Judgement,
para. 11; Limaj et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 13; Blagojevi¢ and Joki¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 9; Brdanin Appeal
Judgement, para. 14.

“ Strugar Appeal Judgement, para. 16; Oric Appeal Judgement, para. 13; Halilovi¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 12; Limaj
et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 14; Blagojevic and Joki¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 10; Brdanin Appeal Judgement, para.
16; Galic Appeal Judgement, para. 10; Staki¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 11; BlaSki¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 13. See
also Seromba Appeal Judgement, para. 12; Muhimana Appeal Judgement, para. 9; Gacumbitsi Appeal Judgement, para.
9; Kajelijeli Appeal Judgement, para. 6, citing Niyitegeka Appeal Judgement, para. 9; Rutaganda Appeal Judgement,

para. 18.
T™
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potential to cause the impugned judgement to be reversed or revised may be immediately dismissed

by the Appeals Chamber and need not be considered on the merits.*'

17. In order for the Appeals Chamber to assess a party’s arguments on appeal, the appealing
party is expected to provide precise references to relevant transcript pages or paragraphs in the Trial
Judgement to which the challenges are being made.*? Further, “the Appeals Chamber cannot be
expected to consider a party’s submissions in detail if they are obscure, contradictory, vague or

. . . . 43
suffer from other formal and obvious insufficiencies”.

18. It should be recalled that the Appeals Chamber has inherent discretion in selecting which
submissions merit a detailed reasoned opinion in writing and may dismiss arguments which are

evidently unfounded without providing detailed reasoning.**

* Ori¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 13; Halilovi¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 12; Limaj et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 14;
Blagojevic and Joki¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 10; Brdanin Appeal Judgement, para. 16; Gali¢ Appeal Judgement, para.

10; Staki¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 11. See also Seromba Appeal Judgement, para. 12; Nahimana et al. Appeal
Judgement, para. 16; Muhimana Appeal Judgement, para. 9; Gacumbitsi Appeal Judgement, para. 9; Ntagerura et al.
Appeal Judgement, para. 13; Kajelijeli Appeal Judgement, para. 6, citing Blaski¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 13;
Niyitegeka Appeal Judgement, para. 9; Rutaganda Appeal Judgement, para. 18.

* Ori¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 14; Halilovi¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 13; Limaj et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 15;
Blagojevic and Jokic Appeal Judgement, para. 11; Brdanin Appeal Judgement, para. 15; Gali¢ Appeal Judgement, para.

11; Stakic¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 12; Blaski¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 13; Vasiljevi¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 11;
Practice Direction on Appeals Requirements, para. 4(b). See also Seromba Appeal Judgement, para. 13; Nahimana et al.
Appeal Judgement, para. 16; Muhimana Appeal Judgement, para. 10; Kajelijeli Appeal Judgement, para. 7; Nivitegeka
Appeal Judgement, para. 10; Rutaganda Appeal Judgement, para. 19; Kayishema and Ruzindana Appeal Judgement,

ara. 137.

3 Strugar Appeal Judgement, para. 16; Ori¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 14; Halilovi¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 13; Limaj
et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 15; Blagojevi¢ and Joki¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 11; Galic¢ Appeal Judgement, para.
L1; Stakic Appeal Judgement, para. 12; Vasiljevi¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 12; Kunarac et al. Appeal Judgement, paras
43, 48. See also Seromba Appeal Judgement, para. 13; Nahimana et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 16; Muhimana Appeal
Judgement, para. 10; Gacumbitsi Appeal Judgement, para. 10; Ntagerura et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 13; Kajelijeli
Appeal Judgement, para. 7; Niyitegeka Appeal Judgement, para. 10.

“ Strugar Appeal Judgement, para. 16; Ori¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 14; Halilovi¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 12; Limaj
et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 16; Gali¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 12; Brdanin Appeal Judgement, para. 16; Staki¢
Appeal Judgement, paras 11, 13; Vasiljevi¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 12; Kunarac et al. Appeal Judgement, paras 47-
48. See also Seromba Appeal Judgement, para. 13; Nahimana et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 17; Muhimana Appeal
Judgement, para. 10; Gacumbitsi Appeal Judgement, paras 9-10; Nragerura et al. Appeal Judgement, paras 13-14;
Kajelijeli Appeal Judgement, paras 6, 8; Niyitegeka Appeal Judgement, para. 11; Rutaganda Appeal Judgement, para.

| TV
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III. PROSECUTION’S APPEAL

19. On 7 May 2008, the Prosecution filed an amended notice of appeal setting forth four
grounds of appeal against the Trial Judgement. In its first ground of appeal, it argues that the Trial
Chamber erred in law by excluding persons hors de combat from being victims of crimes against
humanity. It therefore requests the Appeals Chamber to reverse the acquittal of Sljivanéanin and
Mrksi¢ under Article S of the Statute,*’ and therefore: (1) enter a conviction for torture as a crime
against humanity under Article 5 of the Statute against Sljivancanin;*® and (i1) enter convictions for
murder, torture, and inhumane acts as crimes against humanity under Article 5 of the Statute against
Mrksic.*” Under its second ground of appeal, it requests the Appeals Chamber to overturn
Sljivanéanin’s acquittal for murder, and enter a conviction against him under Article 3 of the Statute
for having aided and abetted the murder of 194 prisoners killed at the grave site near Ovcara on
20/21 November 1991.*® The Prosecution’s third and fourth grounds of appeal request the Appeals
Chamber to: (i) revise and increase Sljivancanin’s sentence in order to properly reflect the gravity
of his criminal conduct;* (ii) revise and increase Mrksi¢’s sentence in order to properly reflect the
gravity of his criminal conduct;” and (iii) revise and increase Sljivanéanin and Mrksi¢’s sentences
in case its first or second grounds of appeal succeed and the Appeals Chamber enters new
convictions under Articles 3 or 5 of the Statute.”® The Prosecution’s appeal against Sljivancanin’s

e oo . . . . 52
and Mrksi¢’s sentences is addressed in the sentencing section.

A. First Ground of Appeal: Acquittal of Sliivan¢anin and Mrksi¢ for Article 5 Crimes

20. The Prosecution argues that the Trial Chamber erred in law by requiring that the individual
victims of crimes against humanity under Article 5 of the Statute be civilians as defined by
Article 50 of Additional Protocol I, thereby excluding persons hors de combat, and as a result erred
in entering convictions for war crimes only.”® In its Appeal Brief, the Prosecution argues that
Article 5 of the Statute is applicable to persons hors de combat for two reasons: (i) Article 5 of the
Statute does not require that individual victims must be civilians but only that the crimes take place
as part of a widespread or systematic attack against a civilian population; and (ii) in determining

whether the civilian population is the primary object of the attack, all non-participants in the

* See Prosecution Notice of Appeal, paras 3-6.

*® Prosecution Notice of Appeal, para. 6(i).

*’ Prosecution Notice of Appeal, para. 6(ii).

“ Prosecution Notice of Appeal, paras 8-10. Should the Appeals Chamber allow its first ground of appeal, the
Prosecution also requests the Appeals Chamber to enter a conviction against Sljivan¢anin for murder as a crime against
humanity under Article 5 of the Statute (Prosecution’s Notice of Appeal, para. 11).

* Prosecution Notice of Appeal, paras 13-15.

% Prosecution Notice of Appeal, paras 16-18.

*! Prosecution Notice of Appeal, paras 7, 12.

52 See infra Section VI: “Appeals Against Sentence”.
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hostilities, including persons hors de combat, should be regarded as civilians.>* However, at the
Status Conference held on 16 October 2008, the Prosecution informed the Presiding Judge in this
case that, in light of the Marti¢ Appeal Judgement recently rendered, it would not be pursuing the
second sub-ground of its first ground of appeal (“C. Error 27),> namely, the allegation that all non-
participants in the hostilities should be regarded as civilians.>® Should its first ground of appeal
succeed, the Prosecution requests the Appeals Chamber to reverse Sljivanéanin’s and Mrksic’s
acquittals under Article 5 of the Statute for the crimes committed in Ové&ara and to increase their

sentences accordingly.’’

21. Mrksi¢ opposes the Prosecution’s first ground of appeal,®® states that the Trial Chamber’s
conclusions are consistent with the Appeals Chamber’s case-law,’” and that it would be a “dreadful
menace” to depart from this case-law.® He argues that the victims of crimes against humanity must
be civilians as defined under Article 50 of Additional Protocol 1,61 and that members of the armed
forces not armed or not taking part in the hostilities cannot be considered civilians.®? He emphasizes

that the civilian status of the victims is a very important element of crimes against humanity.®

22. Sljivanéanin opposes the Prosecution’s arguments as an “inappropriate attempt to expand
the scope of Article 5 of the Statute”.** In his view, the victims of crimes against humanity must be
civilians and cannot be soldiers, members of resistance groups, former combatants who have laid
down their arms and/or combatants hors de combat.®®> He states that “there is no precedent before
the International Tribunal where a crime directed solely and exclusively against a group of
combatants/prisoners of war was charged as a crime against humanity”.® In the present case, he
argues, the Trial Chamber was correct not to enter convictions for crimes against humanity because
no reasonable trier of fact could have found that the crimes in Ovéara were part of a widespread or
systematic attack directed against the civilian population of Vukovar.®” Should the Appeals

Chamber allow the Prosecution’s arguments and reverse §ljivanéanin’s acquittal under Count 5 of

>3 Prosecution Notice of Appeal, para. 3; Prosecution Appeal Brief, paras 12, 25, 62.

>* Prosecution Appeal Brief, paras 6, 13.

5 Prosecution Appeal Brief, paras 37-59.

5 Transcript of Status Conference, 16 October 2008, p. 25: “The Prosecution will not be pursuing subground (2), that's
error 2 under ground 1. In light of the recent ruling in the case of Marti¢, the ground that relates to definitions of
civilians that appears under ground 1, subground (c), on our brief, we will not be pursuing”.

%7 Prosecution Notice of Appeal, paras 4-7; Prosecution Appeal Brief, paras 63-66; Prosecution Brief in Reply, paras 1,
33.

%% Mrksic¢ Respondent’s Brief, para. 5.

%% Mrksi¢ Respondent’s Brief, para. 12.

% Mrksi¢ Respondent’s Brief, para. 24.

! Mrksic¢ Respondent’s Brief, paras 11, 16.

%2 Mrksi¢ Respondent’s Brief, para. 16.

% Mrksic Respondent’s Brief, paras 17-19.

% Sljivan¢anin Respondent’s Brief, para. 22. See also Sljivancanin Respondent’s Brief, para. 23.

% Sljivancanin Respondent’s Brief, paras 119-120. See also Sljivancanin Respondent’s Brief, para. 36; AT. 256.

% Sljivancanin Respondent’s Brief, para. 27.
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the Indictment, Sljivanéanin submits that the sentence of five years of imprisonment imposed on

him should not be revised.®®

1. Whether the individual victims of crimes against humanity must be civilians

23. The Prosecution contends that the Trial Chamber erred in creating a separate requirement
under Article 5 of the Statute that the individual victims must be civilians.®® Tt contends that the
requirement that the attack be directed against a “civilian population” under Article 5 of the Statute
ensures that the primary object of the attack is not a legitimate military target.” Hence, this
requirement excludes attacks primarily directed at military objectives from being qualified as
crimes against humanity,71 but does not mean that the individual victims must be civilians,”* as
there is no such jurisdictional requirement.”* It avers that the only requirement is that crimes must
be part of a widespread or systematic attack directed against a civilian population,”* which the
Appeals Chamber interpreted as implying that crimes against humanity must be committed as part
of a widespread or systematic attack in which the civilian population was the primary object of the
attack.” In its view, the status of the victims is only one relevant factor in determining whether a

civilian population is the object of attack.’®

24, Sljivan¢anin concedes that some instruments require that crimes against humanity be
committed as part of a widespread or systematic attack against any civilian population.”” He argues,
however, that the plain language of Article 5 of the Statute is that crimes against humanity must be
directed against any civilian population,”® that this requirement is included in “almost every

579

instrument embodying the prohibition of crimes against humanity”"” and in many States’ legislation

concerning crimes against humamty,80 and implies that the victims must be civilians.®

%7 Sljivanganin Respondent’s Brief, paras 25-26.

% Sljivan¢anin Respondent’s Brief, paras 122-125.

% Prosecution Appeal Brief, para. 14, See also Prosecution Appeal Brief, para. 12, citing Trial Judgement, paras 462-
463.

" Prosecution Appeal Brief, para. 16. See also Prosecution Appeal Brief, para. 26.

7! Prosecution Appeal Brief, para. 14.

7 Prosecution Appeal Brief, paras 15-16.

7 Prosecution Appeal Brief, paras 17, 29.

™ Prosecution Appeal Brief, para. 17, citing Kunarac et al. Appeal Judgement, paras 85-97; Tadic¢ Appeal Judgement,
paras 248, 271; Kordic and Cerkez Appeal Judgement, paras 93-100; Gali¢ Appeal Judgement, paras 142-146.

° Prosecution Appeal Brief, para. 17, citing Kunarac et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 91.

7 Prosecution Appeal Brief, paras 15, 18-24.

77 $ljivan&anin Respondent’s Brief, para. 44, citing Article 3 of the ICTR Statute and Article 2 of the Statute of the
Special Court for Sierra Leone.

7 sljivanéanin Respondent’s Brief, paras 40-41.

7 Sljivancanin Respondent’s Brief, para. 42, citing Article 6(c) of the Charter of the International Military Tribunal of
Nuremberg; Article II(1)(c) of Control Council Law No. 10; Article 5(c) of the Charter of the International Military
Tribunal for the Far East; Article 7(2)(a) of the Rome Statute of the International Criminal Court; and Article 5.1 of the
United Nations Transitional Administration in East Timor, Regulation No. 2000/15.

% Sljivancanin Respondent’s Brief, para. 43 (references omitted).
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25. In the section of the Trial Judgement addressing its jurisdiction over the crimes charged
under Article 5 of the Statute, the Trial Chamber recalled that a crime listed under that article can
only constitute a crime against humanity when committed in an armed conflict and must be part of a
widespread or systematic attack against a civilian population.®? It then specifically addressed the
jurisdictional requirement that crimes against humanity be “directed against any civilian
population”, and properly recalled that: (i) the civilian population must be the primary object of the
attack;™ (i1) factors relevant to determining whether the attack was so directed include the means
and method used in the course of the attack, the status of the victims, their number, the
discriminatory nature of the attack, the nature of the crimes committed in its course, and the
resistance to the assailants at the time and the extent to which the attacking force may be said to
have complied or attempted to comply with the precautionary requirements of the laws of war;®*

and (iii) that the civilian population need only be predominantly civilian.*

26. In the following section, the Trial Chamber then addressed what it identified as a “related
but distinct legal issue” that arose in the circumstances of the case before it, namely, “whether the
notion of crimes against humanity is intended to apply to crimes listed in Article 5 [of the Statute]
when the individual victims of such crimes are not civilians”.*® The Trial Chamber concluded that

the victims of crimes against humanity must be civilians:

[T]n order for a crime listed in Article 5 to constitute a crime against humanity, it is not sufficient
for that crime to be part of a widespread or systematic attack against the civilian population. The
victims of the crime must also be civilians. Accordingly, a crime listed in Article 5, despite being
part of a widespread or systematic attack against the civilian population, does not qualify as a
crime against humanity if the victims were non-civilians.

By so doing, in addition to the jurisdictional requirement that the crimes charged under Article 5 of
the Statute be directed against a civilian population, the Trial Chamber imposed a distinct

requirement, namely, that the individual victims of the underlying crimes be civilians.

217. The Trial Chamber was aware that the International Tribunal had not yet addressed the issue
of whether the individual victims of the underlying crimes under Article 5 of the Statute must be

civilians.®® To support its above conclusion, it sought to rely on the finding in the Blaskic Appeal

81 Sljivancanin Respondent’s Brief, para. 46. See also Sljivantanin Respondent’s Brief, paras 55-57.

82 Trial Judgement, para. 429.

% Trial Judgement, para. 440, quoting Kunarac et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 91.

% Trial Judgement, para. 440, quoting Kunarac et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 91.

% Trial Judgement, para. 442, citing Blaski¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 113 and citing Article 50(3) of Additional
Protocol I (“The presence within the civilian population of individuals who do not come within the definition of
civilians does not deprive the population of its civilian character”). See also Trial Judgement, paras 443, 458, 562.

8 Trial Judgement, para. 443.

%7 Trial Judgement, para. 463.

% Trial Judgement, para. 462: “The Chamber is aware of the fact that, to date, the Tribunal’s jurisprudence has not been
called upon to address the question whether the individual victims of crimes against humanity need to be civilians”.

11 T \\l\
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Judgement that “both the status of the victim as a civilian and the scale on which it is committed or
the level of organization involved characterize a crime against humanity”.® However, as explained
below, this finding cannot lend support to the conclusion that the underlying crimes under Article 5

of the Statute can only be committed against civilians.

28.  The Appeals Chamber in Blaskic first stated that the Trial Chamber “correctly recognised
that a crime against humanity applies to acts directed against any civilian population”.™® Tt then
addressed Tihomir Blagkic¢’s argument that he never ordered attacks directed against a civilian
population but that the casualties were the unfortunate consequence of an otherwise legitimate and
proportionate military operation.”’ In this context, the Appeals Chamber found that the Trial
Chamber erred when it stated that “the specificity of a crime against humanity results not from the
status of the victim but the scale and organisation in which it must be committed”.*? It further found
that “both the status of the victim as a civilian and the scale on which it is committed or the level of
organization involved characterize a crime against humanity”.*> The Appeals Chamber’s finding
was therefore concerned with the issue of whether legitimate military targets were attacked and was
not seized of the question of whether the victims of the underlying crimes under Article 5 of the
Statute must be civilians. Accordingly the Appeals Chamber’s finding is to be understood as only
reflecting the jurisdictional requirement of Article 5 of the Statute that crimes against humanity
must be committed as part of a widespread attack against a civilian population.** It cannot be
understood as implying that the underlying crimes under Article 5 of the Statute can only be

committed against civilians as the Trial Chamber did in the present case.

29. The Appeals Chamber recently confirmed that “[t]here is nothing in the text of Article 5 of
the Statute, or previous authorities of the Appeals Chamber that requires that individual victims of
crimes against humanity be civilians”.*> Further, it held that under customary international law,
persons hors de combat can also be victims of crimes against humanity, provided that all the other

necessary conditions are met.”°

30. This is not to say that under Article 5 of the Statute the status of the victims as civilians is

irrelevant. In fact, the status of the victims is one of the factors that can be assessed in determining

% Blaskic¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 107, relied upon at paragraph 462 of the Trial Judgement.
* Blaskic Appeal Judgement, para. 107.
°! Blaski¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 103.
*2 Blaskic¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 107, quoting Blaskic Trial Judgement, para. 208.
% Blaski¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 107.
> Blaski¢ Appeal Judgement, Section IV(A)(2).
» Marti¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 307. See also paras 303-306, 308. In Martic, the Appeals Chamber entered
convictions for crimes committed against persons hors de combat, considering that they were victims of a widespread
and systematic attack against the civilian population, and that all the elements of the offences were met (see Martic¢
Appeal Judgement, paras 318-319, 346, 355).
™M
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whether the jurisdictional requirement that the civilian population be the primary target of an attack
has been fulﬁlled,97 along with, inter alia, the means and method used in the course of the attack,
the number of victims, the discriminatory nature of the attack, the nature of the crimes committed in
1ts course, the resistance to the assailants at the time and the extent to which the attackin g force may
be said to have complied or attempted to comply with the precautionary requirements of the laws of

war.”®

31. Further, the fact that a population under the chapeau of Article 5 of the Statute must be
“civilian” does not imply that such population shall only be comprised of civilians. The status of the
victims will thus also be relevant to determining whether the population against which the attack is
directed is civilian. In Kordi¢ and Cerkez, the Appeals Chamber stated:

The civilian population comprises all persons who are civilians and the presence within the

civilian population of individuals who do not come within the definition of civilians does not
deprive the population of its civilian character.”

In Blaskic, the Appeals Chamber, relying on the ICRC Commentary to Article 50 of Additional
Protocol ' held that “in order to determine whether the presence of soldiers within a civilian
population deprives the population of its civilian character, the number of soldiers, as well as

whether they are on leave, must be examined”.'"!

32. Accordingly, whereas the civilian status of the victims, the number of civilians, and the
proportion of civilians within a civilian population are factors relevant to the determination of
whether the chapeau requirement of Article 5 of the Statute that an attack be directed against a
“civilian population” is fulfilled, there is no requirement nor is it an element of crimes against

humanity that the victims of the underlying crimes be “civilians”.

33. In light of the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber erred in law at
paragraphs 462 and 463 of the Trial Judgement in concluding that, for the purposes of Article 5 of
the Statute, the victims of the underlying crime must be civilians, and consequently erroneously

creating an additional requirement under Article 5 of the Statute.

% Marti¢ Appeal Judgement, paras 311, 313.

*7 Kunarac et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 92: “The Appeals Chamber is satisfied that the Trial Chamber correctly
defined and identified the “population” which was being attacked and that it correctly interpreted the phrase “directed
against” as requiring that the civilian population which is subjected to the attack must be the primary rather than an
incidental target of the attack”.

* Kunarac et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 91.

% Kordi¢ and Cerkez Appeal Judgement, para. 50. See also Gali¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 136.

% ICRC Commentary to Article 50 of Additional Protocol I, para. 1922: “[I]n wartime conditions it is inevitable that
individuals belonging to the category of combatants become intermingled with the civilian population, for example,
soldiers on leave visiting their families. However, provided that these are not regular units with fairly large numbers,
this does not in any way change the civilian character of a population”.

"% Blaskic Appeal Judgement, para. 115. See also Galic Appeal Judgement, para. 137.
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34. Having found that the Trial Chamber committed an error of law, the Appeals Chamber turns

to consider whether this error invalidates the Trial Judgement.

2. Whether the crimes committed in Ov¢ara qualify as crimes against humanity

35. Following the Prosecution’s decision not to pursue the second sub-ground of its first ground
of appeal,'® the Trial Chamber’s finding to the effect that the term “civilian” in Article 5 of the
Statute has to be interpreted in accordance with Article 50 of Additional Protocol I and therefore
does not include combatants or persons hors de combat,'®® remains unchallenged. This finding was
based, inter alia, on the Appeals Chamber’s well-established jurisprudence,'™ reiterated in the

105

Marti¢ Appeal Judgement, ™ that the notion of “civilian” under Article 5 of the Statute excludes

persons hors de combat. In Blaskic, the Appeals Chamber found:
Article 50 of Additional Protocol I to the Geneva Conventions contains a definition of civilians

and civilian polpulations, and the provisions in this article may largely be viewed as reflecting
customary law.'*

Read together, Article 50 of Additional Protocol I and Article 4A of the Third Geneva Convention
establish that members of the armed forces, and members of militias or volunteer corps forming
part of such armed forces, cannot claim civilian status.'®’

In Kordi¢ and Cerkez, the Appeals Chamber found that “Article 50 of Additional Protocol I
contains a definition of civilians and civilian populations, and the provisions in this article may
largely be viewed as reflecting customary law”.'® In Gali¢, the Appeals Chamber reiterated that
“[e]ven hors de combat, however, [combatants] would still be members of the armed forces of a
party to the conflict and therefore fall under the category of persons referred to in Article 4(A)(1) of
the Third Geneva Convention; as such, they are not civilians in the context of Article 50,
paragraph 1, of Additional Protocol I”.'® The notion of “civilian” under Article 5 of the Statute is
defined through the above provisions of the law of armed conflict.''” Whereas under Article 3 of the

Statute the situation of a victim at the time of the offence may be relevant to its staltus,111 the notion

"2 See supra para. 20.

193 Trial Judgement, para. 461.

"% Trial Judgement, paras 451-453, citing Blaski¢ Appeal Judgement, paras 110, 113-114; Kordi¢ and Cerkez Appeal
Judgement, para. 97; Gali¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 144, fn. 437.

' See Marti¢ Appeal Judgement, paras 292-295.

1% Blaski¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 110.

"7 Blaskic¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 113.

' Kordic and Cerkez Appeal Judgement, para. 97.

' Gali¢ Appeal Judgement, fn. 437.

"% See Kunarac et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 91: “To the extent that the alleged crimes against humanity were
committed in the course of an armed conflict, the laws of war provide a benchmark against which the Chamber may
assess the nature of the attack and the legality of the acts committed in its midst”. See also Kordic and Cerkez Appeal
Judgement, para. 96.

" Strugar Appeal Judgement, para. 178: “[I]n order to establish the existence of a violation of Common Article 3
under Article 3 of the Statute, a Trial Chamber must be satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt that the victim of the
alleged offence was not participating in acts of war which by their nature or purpose are intended to cause actual harm

14 TM
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of “civilian” under Article 5 of the Statute, as correctly noted by the Trial Chamber,''? is not

determined by the position of the victims at the time of the commission of the underlying crime.'"

36. Pursuant to this jurisprudence and in light of the facts of the case, the Trial Chamber found
that the victims were predominantly non-civilians.''* However, the Appeals Chamber has found
that the Trial Chamber erred in law in concluding that, for the purposes of Article 5 of the Statute,
the victims of the underlying crime must be civilians, and consequently erroneously creating an
additional requirement under Article 5 of the Statute. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber must
determine whether this error has the effect of invalidating the Trial Judgement. To that end and in
light of the finding in the Martic¢ Appeal Judgement that “[u]nder Article 5 of the Statute, a person
hors de combat may thus be the victim of an act amounting to a crime against humanity, provided
that all other necessary conditions are met, in particular that the act in question is part of a
widespread or systematic attack against any civilian population”,'”® the Appeals Chamber will

assess whether in the instant case all other necessary conditions to enter a conviction for crimes

against humanity had been met.

37. When assessing whether the jurisdictional requirements of Article 5 of the Statute were met,
the Trial Chamber found that there was a widespread and systematic attack against the civilian

population of Vukovar,'®

and then erroneously turned to examine whether the additional
requirement it created that the victims of the underlying crimes must be civilians was fulfilled.!!’

As noted above, it found that the victims were predominantly non-civilians''® and, consequently,

to the personnel or equipment of the enemy’s armed forces. Such an enquiry must be undertaken on a case-by-case
basis, having regard to the individual circumstances of the victim at the time of the alleged offence”. (footnote omitted).
"2 Trial Judgement, para. 455.

"> See Blaskic Appeal Judgement, para. 114, in which the Appeals Chamber overturned the Trial Chamber’s finding
that the specific sitmation of the victim at the time the crimes were committed must be taken into account in determining
his standing as a civilian. Relying on the ICRC Commentary to Article 43 of Additional Protocol I that “[a] civilian
who is incorporated in an armed organization [...] becomes a member of the military and a combatant throughout the
duration of the hostilities” (ICRC Commentary, p. 515, para. 1676), the Appeals Chamber concluded: “{T]he specific
situation of the victim at the time the crimes are committed may not be determinative of his civilian or non-civilian
status. If he is indeed a member of an armed organization, the fact that he is not armed or in combat at the time of the
commission of crimes, does not accord him civilian status”. See also Kordic and Cerkez Appeal Judgement para. 421:
“The Appeals Chamber recalls that during an armed conflict, until a soldier is demobilized, he is considered a
combatant whether or not he is in combat, or for the time being armed”; Marti¢ Appeal Judgement, paras 292-295.

14 Trial Judgement, para. 481. The Trial Chamber found that the evidence indicated that of the 194 persons identified
as among those alleged in the Indictment to have been murdered at Ov&ara in the evening and night hours of 20/21
November 1991, 181 were known to be active in the Croatian forces in Vukovar. The Trial Chamber concluded that the
effect of the evidence was that the majority of these men (and two women) were members or reserve members of ZNG
(87) and that there was also a considerable number of members of the HV (30) and the Croatian MUP (17); there were
some members of the Croatian protection force of Vukovar (9) and a few members of the Croatian paramilitary
formation HOS (Croatian’s Liberation Forces, Hrvatske Oslobodilacke Snage); regarding the cases of nine other
victims the Trial Chamber accepted evidence of their military involvement; there were also 13 persons in respect of
whom no known military involvement was established by the evidence (Trial Judgement, para. 479).

" Marti¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 313.

"'° Trial Judgement, para. 472.

"7 Trial Judgement, Section VII(B)(2)(b): “Status of the victims alleged in the Indictment”.

"® Trial Judgement, para. 481. /\
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that “the jurisdictional prerequisites of Article 5 of the Statute ha[d] not been established”.''® As a
result of its error of law, the Trial Chamber accordingly did not conduct the relevant enquiry
regarding the requirements under Article 5 of the Statute and, in particular, did not seek to establish
whether there was a nexus between the crimes committed in Ovéara and the widespread and
systematic attack against the civilian population of Vukovar. At the appeals hearing, the Parties
were invited to discuss the evidence on the trial record relating to: (i) the requirement of a
widespread or systematic attack against a civilian population, especially in relation to the events in
Vukovar; and (ii) the nexus between the acts of the accused and such an attack.!?® For the reasons
set out below, and in light of the evidence before the Trial Chamber,'?! the Appeals Chamber finds
that there was no such nexus and that the crimes committed in Ov¢&ara did not qualify as crimes

against humanity.

38. The Trial Chamber found that “at the time relevant to the Indictment, there was in fact, not
only a military operation against the Croat forces in and around Vukovar, but also a widespread and
systematic attack by the JNA and other Serb forces directed against the Croat and other non-Serb
civilian population in the wider Vukovar area”.'”” The Prosecution submits that there was a
widespread and systematic attack against the civilian population of Vukovar and a nexus between
the crimes committed in Ov¢ara and such an attack.'? It argues that since the inhumane acts, torture
and murder of the prisoners at Ov¢ara took place as part of that widespread and systematic attack
against the civilian population of Vukovar,'** the requirements for entering convictions under
Article 5 of the Statute were met and whether or not the individual victims were civilians was
“beside the point”.'* It states that the crimes committed against the prisoners took place as part of
the “sustained and relentless attack against Vukovar and its citizens” and was an “inexorable part”

of it.!?¢

39.  MIkSic responds that the victims in the present case were not civilians.!?” He contends that
the evidence at trial showed that the victims were subjected to a triage based on their belonging to

the Croatian forces or because they were suspected of having committed war crimes or criminal

"'® Trial Judgement, para. 482.

2% Addendum to the Scheduling Order for Appeals Hearing, 12 December 2008, Question 1, p. 1.

2! See supra Section II: “Standard of Review on Appeal”, para. 12.

122 Trial Judgement, para. 472.

123 AT, 238, referring to Trial Judgement, paras 17-59, 465-472.

1% Prosecution Appeal Brief, para. 25, citing Trial Judgement, para. 472. See also Prosecution Appeal Brief, para. 69.
' Prosecution Appeal Brief, para. 25, citing Kordi¢ and Cerkez Appeal Judgement, para. 480. See also Prosecution
Agmeal Brief, para. 22.

% Prosecution Brief in Reply, para. 3. See also AT. 238.

7 Mrksi¢ Respondent’s Brief, para. 13.

—
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28
acts.1

Further, MrkSi¢ argues that there cannot be a nexus between the crimes committed in
Ovcara and the widespread and systematic attack against the civilian population of Vukovar

because such an attack stopped on 18 November 1991.!%°

40. Sljivanéanin responds that the Prosecution’s argument that the crimes charged in the
Indictment are crimes against humanity, regardless of whether the persons harmed in the attack
were civilians, because they took place as part of a widespread and systematic attack against the
civilian population of Vukovar, is “unsustainable” because it would imply that the killing of
combatants — whether lawful or not — during an attack directed at a military objective could qualify
as a crime against humanity.'*® Further, Sljivanéanin argues that the requirement that the acts of an
accused must be part of a widespread or systematic attack against a civilian population implies that
such acts must be “by [their] nature or consequences [...] objectively part of the attack”,"*! must be
sufficiently connected to the attack,13 2 and cannot be isolated acts.”** In his view, the Trial

Chamber’s finding that the perpetrators of the crimes in Ov€ara “acted in the knowledge or belief

33134

that [...] the victims were prisoners of war, not civilians” " and “in the understanding that their acts

were directed against members of the Croatian forces”'>

implies that no reasonable trier of fact
could have concluded that the perpetrators must have understood that their acts were part of the
attack on the civilian population of Vukovar.'*® Sljivanéanin also argues that the crimes committed
in Ov¢ara on 20 November 1991 cannot be part of the widespread and systematic attack against the

civilian population of Vukovar because such an attack ended on 18 November 1991.'%

41. The Appeals Chamber recalls that once the requirement of a widespread or systematic attack
against a civilian population is fulfilled, there must be a nexus between the acts of the accused and

138 the

the attack itself. The Appeals Chamber considers that, as correctly noted by the Prosecution,
requirement that the acts of an accused must be part of the “attack™ against the civilian population
does not, however, require that they be committed in the midst of that attack: a crime which is

committed before or after the main attack against the civilian population or away from it could still,

28 Mrksi¢ Respondent’s Brief, paras 26-32, citing Trial Judgement, paras 477-480. See also Mrksi¢ Respondent’s Brief,
Pa:as 34-37, 40, 44-46, 50-51. See also AT. 245-246, citing Trial Judgement, paras 480-481.
% AT. 242-244, 246, citing Trial Judgement, paras 55, 465, 472, 474, 476.
%% Sljivanganin Respondent’s Brief, paras 86-88. See also Sljivantanin Respondent’s Brief, para. 121.
lv“ Sljivanéanin Respondent’s Brief, para. 93, quoting Kunarac et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 99 and fn. 117. See also
Slzjivanéanin Respondent’s Brief, paras 96, 99; AT. 261-262, 268-269.
13 Sljivanéanin Respondent’s Brief, para. 94.
'** Sljivan¢anin Respondent’s Brief, para. 95.
34 Trial Judgement, para. 480.
" Trial Judgement, para. 481.
"¢ Sljivancanin Respondent’s Brief, para. 100. See also AT. 269-272, citing Trial Judgement, paras 480-481.
"7 AT. 263-268, citing Trial Judgement, paras 130-144, 157, 189, 199, 422, 465, 466, 468, 470, 472.

138 AT. 301. e \\4
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k.!¥ Hence, the fact that the crimes committed in

if sufficiently connected, be part of that attac
Ovc¢ara took place after the widespread and systematic attack against the civilian population of
Vukovar cannot in itself be determinative of whether the nexus requirement was met. Such a nexus

consists of two elements:

(1) the commission of an act which, by its nature or consequences, is objectively part of the

attack; coupled with

(ii) knowledge on the part of the accused that there is an attack on the civilian population

and that his act is part thereof.'*

Thus, to convict an accused of crimes against humanity, it must be proven that his acts were related
to a widespread or systematic attack against a civilian population and that he knew that his acts
were so related. Such an assessment will be made on a case-by-case basis. For example, having
considered the context and circumstances in which an act was committed, an act may be so far
removed from the attack that no nexus can be established (so called “isolated act”) and hence

cannot qualify as a crime against humanity.'*'

42. In the present case, after reviewing the evidence before it, the Trial Chamber concluded that
the perpetrators of the crimes committed against the prisoners in Ov¢ara selected the individuals
based on their involvement in the Croatian armed forces. The Trial Chamber found:

While there may have been a small number of civilians among the 194 identified murder victims

charged in the Indictment, in the Chamber’s finding, the perpetrators of the offences against the

prisoners at Ovc€ara on 20/21 November 1991 charged in the Indictment, acted in the
understanding that their acts were directed against members of the Croatian forces.”'**

The Appeals Chamber concurs with the Trial Chamber’s assessment of the evidence in the trial

193 the victims of

record. The crimes in Ovcara were directed against a specific group of individuals,
the crimes were selected based on their perceived involvement in the Croatian armed forces,'* and
as such treated “differently from the civilian population”.'*> The Prosecution’s arguments that the
crimes occurred two days after the fall of Vukovar, that Ovcara was located within the geographical
scope of the attack against Vukovar, that the perpetrators of the crimes in Ov¢ara also participated

in the attack against the civilian population in Vukovar, and that the perpetrators of the crimes

" Kunarac et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 100.

0 Tadi¢ Appeal Judgement, paras 248, 251, 271; Kunarac et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 99. For the mens rea of
crimes against humanity, see Kunarac et al. Appeal Judgement, paras 102-103.

! Kunarac et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 100. See also Blaskic¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 101.

"> Trial Judgement, para. 481. See also Trial Judgement, para. 207.

' Trial Judgement, para. 474.

4 Trial Judgement, para. 475.

' Trial Judgement, para. 476. ~ W™

18
Case No.: IT-95-13/1-A 5 May 2009



3716

“harboured intense feeling of animosity towards persons they perceived as enemy forces,"*® do not
undermine the Trial Chamber’s findings, unchallenged by the Parties, that the perpetrators of the
crimes in Ovcara acted in the understanding that their acts were directed against members of the
Croatian armed forces. The fact that they acted in such a way precludes that they intended that their
acts form part of the attack against the civilian population of Vukovar and renders their acts so

removed from the attack that no nexus can be established.

43.  The Appeals Chamber finds that the requirement of a nexus between the acts of the accused
and the attack itself was not established and that, in the absence of the required nexus under Article
5 of the Statute between the crimes committed against the prisoners at Ovcara and the widespread
or systematic attack against the civilian population of Vukovar, the crimes committed cannot be
qualified as crimes against humanity. Thus, even though the Trial Chamber erred in law by adding a
requirement that the victims of the underlying crimes under Article 5 of the Statute be civilians, the
Appeals Chamber concurs with the Trial Chamber — albeit for different reasons — that the

“jurisdictional prerequisites of Article 5 of the Statute have not been established”.'*’

44, In light of the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber allows the Prosecution’s first ground of
appeal, insofar as it argues that the Trial Chamber erred in law in finding that, for the purposes of
Article 5 of the Statute, the victims of crimes against humanity must be civilians, thus excluding
persons hors de combat from being victims of crimes against humanity. The Appeals Chamber
dismisses the Prosecution’s first ground of appeal in all other respects and upholds the acquittals of

Sljivan¢anin and Mrksi¢ under Article 5 of the Statute.

B. Second Ground of Appeal: Sliivanéanin’s Responsibility for Aiding and Abetting Murder

1. Introduction

45. The Trial Chamber found that 194 people identified in the Schedule to the Trial Judgement
were taken from the Vukovar hospital to OvCara, where Serb forces mistreated them and later
executed them.'*® It concluded that on 20 November 1991, Sljivanéanin exercised command
authority (conferred on him by Mrksi¢) over the military police involved in the evacuation of
prisoners of war from the hospital and guarding them on the buses at the JNA barracks and at
Ovéara.'* The Trial Chamber further found that Sljivanéanin could not be held responsible, under

Article 7(1) of the Statute, for having ordered the commission of any of the crimes established in

' Prosecution Brief in Reply, paras 26, 39-40. See also AT. 238-241, 302.
" Trial Judgement, para. 482.

1% See Schedule to the Trial Judgement. ‘\'\}\
19 See Trial Judgement, paras 397, 400, 659, 667. (
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this case,™ or under Article 7(3) of the Statute for having failed to prevent the commission of

crimes, or to punish the perpetrators.’’!

The Trial Chamber found that once all JNA military police
withdrew from Ov¢ara pursuant to Mrksi¢’s order, Sljivan¢anin necessarily ceased to be responsible
for the security of the prisoners of war.">® It therefore concluded that Sljivanéanin was not
responsible for the murders committed by TOs and paramilitary troops after the JNA military police

) < 153
were withdrawn from Ov¢ara.

46. In its second ground of appeal, the Prosecution avers that “[t]he Trial Chamber erred in fact
and in law in paragraphs 674 and 715 [of the Trial Judgement] in failing to find that Veselin
Sljivancanin was responsible for aiding and abetting the murder of the 194 prisoners killed at the
grave site near Ovéara on the evening and night of 20/21 November 1991”.">* It submits that this
finding was reached as a result of erroneous conclusions of law and fact and consequently
challenges paragraphs 668, 669, 672, 673 and 691 of the Trial Judgement.!> It requests that the
Appeals Chamber enter a conviction against Sljivan¢anin under Article 3 of the Statute for aiding
and abetting the murder of 194 prisoners killed near Ov&ara on the evening and night of
20/21 November 1991'3¢ and, in the event its first ground of appeal succeeds, to enter a conviction
against Sljivan¢anin under Article 5 of the Statute for murder as a crime against humanity'®’ and

increase his sentence to a term of 30 years to life imprisonment.'>®

47, The Prosecution submits that §ljivanéanin’s acquittal is based on two errors: (a) the Trial
Chamber’s failure to find that §1jivanéanin knew, at the time of his visit to Ov¢ara, that the TOs and
paramilitaries would likely kill the prisoners;'> and (b) the Trial Chamber’s erroneous finding that
Sljivanéanin’s legal duty towards the prisoners ended upon the withdrawal of the last INA troops

w W Y O
from Ové&ara upon Mrksi¢’s orders.'®

48. Sljivanéanin responds that this ground of appeal should be dismissed because the

Prosecution failed to show any discernible error on the part of the Trial Chamber, is merely

"% Trial Judgement, para. 654.

1 Trjal Judgement, para. 676.

12 Trial Judgement, para. 673.

'* Trial Judgement, paras 674, 715.

'** Prosecution Notice of Appeal, para. 8.

"% Prosecution Notice of Appeal, para. 8; Prosecution Appeal Brief, para. 79.

1%¢ prosecution Notice of Appeal, para. 10.

17 Prosecution Notice of Appeal, para. 11.

1% Prosecution Notice of Appeal, para. 12; Prosecution Appeal Brief, para. 152.

1% Prosecution Notice of Appeal, para. 8(i); Prosecution Appeal Brief, para. 79(a), citing Trial Judgement, para. 672,
Prosecution Appeal Brief, para. 85. See also AT. 213.

' prosecution Notice of Appeal, para. 8(ii); Prosecution Appeal Brief, para. 79(b), citing Trial Judgement, paras 668,
673, 691; Prosecution Appeal Brief, para. 109, citing Trial Judgement, paras 668, 673, 691. The Prosecution points out
that “the Trial Chamber found that this withdrawal occurred no later than 2100 hours on 20 November 1991”.
Prosecution Appeal Brief, fn. 200, citing Trial Judgement, para. 294. See also AT. 214-15.
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repeating on appeal arguments that did not succeed at trial, and is unacceptably seeking to substitute

its own evaluation of the evidence for that of the Trial Chamber.'®!

49. At the outset, the Appeals Chamber recalls that to enter a conviction for aiding and abetting
murder by omission, at a minimum, all the basic elements of aiding and abetting must be
fulfilled.'® In this regard, the Appeals Chamber in Oric recalled that “omission proper may lead to
individual criminal responsibility under Article 7(1) of the Statute where there is a legal duty to
act”.'®® The actus reus of aiding and abetting by omission will thus be fulfilled when it is
established that the failure to discharge a legal duty assisted, encouraged or lent moral support to
the perpetration of the crime and had a substantial effect on the realisation of that crime.'®* The
Appeals Chamber recalls that aiding and abetting by omission implicitly requires that the accused
had the ability to act, such that there were means available to the accused to fulfil his duty.'®
Meanwhile, the required mens rea for aiding and abetting by omission is that “[t]he aider and
abettor must know that his omission assists in the commission of the crime of the principal
perpetrator and must be aware of the essential elements of the crime which was ultimately
committed by the principal”.'®® As the Appeals Chamber held in the Simic case,

it is not necessary that the aider and abettor knows either the precise crime that was intended or the

one that was, in the event, committed. If he is aware that one of a number of crimes will probably

be committed, and one of those crimes is in fact committed, he has intended to facilitate the
commission of that crime, and is guilty as an aider and abetter.'®’

Furthermore, the Appeals Chamber recalls that to overturn an acquittal on appeal, the Prosecution

must show that all reasonable doubt as to the accused’s guilt has been eliminated.'%®

50. While the Appeals Chamber recognises that the consideration of the elements of the actus

reus of a crime logically precedes the consideration of the mens rea, in the present case the Appeals

1! See Sljivanéanin Respondent’s Brief, paras 142-144, 280, 289. Sljivancanin further refers to his argument developed
in his Appeal Brief that aiding and abetting by omission is not a recognised mode of liability which he submits, if
accepted, would be of significance in upholding his acquittal on the murder of the prisoners of war at Qvéara:
§1‘L’iivanéanjn Respondent’s Brief, paras 133-135, 145-168.
' Ori¢ Appeal J udgement, para. 43.
' Ori¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 43, citing Brdanin Appeal Judgement, para. 274; Gali¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 175;
Ntagerura et al. Appeal Judgement, paras 334, 370; Blaski¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 663.
' Ori¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 43, citing Nahimana et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 482; Simi¢ Appeal Judgement,
ara. 85.

% Cf. Ntagerura et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 335.
' Ori¢ Appeal J udgement, para. 43 (footnotes omitted).
7 Simi¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 86, citing Blaski¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 50. See also Ndindabahizi Appeal
Judgement, para. 122.
'8 Seromba Appeal Judgement, para. 11; Rutaganda Appeal Judgement, para. 24; Bagilishema Appeal Judgement,
paras 13-14. See also Strugar Appeal Judgement, para. 14; Ori¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 12; Halilovi¢ Appeal
Judgement, para. 11; Limaj et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 13; Blagojevi¢ and Joki¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 9;
Brdanin Appeal Judgement, para. 14.

rT N
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Chamber will follow the order of the arguments as presented by the Prosecution and will therefore

turn first to its arguments regarding Sljivandanin’s mens rea for aiding and abetting murder.

2. Sljivancanin’s mens rea for aiding and abetting murder

51. The Prosecution submits that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that Sljivan¢anin lacked the
mens rea for aiding and abetting murder,'® as no reasonable Trial Chamber could have concluded
that he could have reasonably believed that the TOs and paramilitaries would not kill the prisoners
because of the JNA’s presence at Ov&ara.'” In support of its allegation, the Prosecution avers that
Sljivanéanin had specific knowledge of the murderous inclination of the TOs and paramilitaries

171

operating in Vukovar towards Croatian prisoners '~ due to his knowledge of: (i) crimes (including

murder) committed by the TOs and paramilitaries prior to 19 November 1991;'* (ii) crimes

73
1;1

committed at Velepromet on 19 November 199 (iii) crimes committed at the JNA barracks on

174
1

the morning of 20 November 199 and (iv) crimes committed at Ovc¢ara on the afternoon of

20 November 1991.'" According to the Prosecution, this “accumulated knowledge [was] sufficient

55176

in itself to establish [Sljivancanin’s] mens rea for aiding and abetting murder, even before

learning of the order to withdraw the JNA troops.

52. Further, the Prosecution argues that this knowledge of the probability of murder became
even greater upon learning that MrkSi¢ had ordered the JNA to withdraw from Ovdara on the

evening of 20 November 1991.""

In this regard, the Prosecution argues that the only reasonable
inference based on the totality of the evidence is that Sljivancanin learned of Mrk3i¢’s order to

withdraw upon his return to the command post at Negoslavci in the evenin g.178

53. Sljivanéanin responds that the Prosecution merely attempts to substitute its own
interpretation of the evidence for that of the Trial Chamber without showing a discernible error.!”
He submits that the issue relevant to his mens rea is not his prior knowledge of the TOs’ and

paramilitaries’ propensity to commit crimes but rather the prior conduct of the JNA towards the

' Prosecution Appeal Brief, para. 104. See also AT. 215.

1% Prosecution Appeal Brief, paras 85, 98-100, 104. See also AT. 292.

I Prosecution Appeal Brief, para. 89.

' Prosecution Appeal Brief, para. 86.

' See Prosecution Appeal Brief, paras 87-92; see also Prosecution Brief in Reply, paras 48-51. See also AT. 293-294,
'"* Prosecution Appeal Brief, paras 93, 94, citing Trial Judgement, paras 217, 220, 372, 374, 375, 666. See also
Prosecution Appeal Brief, paras 53-59.

> Prosecution Appeal Brief, paras 95-96, citing Trial Judgement, paras 234-235, 663, 667. See also Prosecution Brief
in Reply, paras 63-68.

'8 Prosecution Appeal Brief, para. 101. See also AT. 216-219.

""" Prosecution Appeal Brief, paras 101-103. See also Prosecution Brief in Reply, paras 60-62, 92; AT. 225.

7S AT. 219-223, 294-295. ~ M
' Sljivan¢anin Respondent’s Brief, para. 186. See also AT. 274. \
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. 80
prisoners of war.’

In this respect, he avers that the Croatian prisoners of war murdered at
Velepromet were not under the guard of the JNA,'®! and that once the JNA took over, they
prevented paramilitaries from committing crimes against the prisoners.'®? Similarly, he emphasizes
that neither the paramilitaries nor the TOs mistreated the prisoners of war on the buses under INA

v 3
control at Ov&ara.'®

54. Concerning his alleged knowledge of the crimes committed at the JNA barracks and at
Ovéara on 20 November 1991, Sljivanéanin denies that he was present at the JNA barracks when
the TOs and paramilitaries mistreated the prisoners,'®* or at Ovcara later that afternoon.'®® He
asserts that even if the Trial Chamber’s findings regarding his presence at the JNA barracks and
Ovcara were affirmed, they would still be insufficient to lead to the conclusion that he witnessed the
mistreatment as he could only have been there after the incidents outside the buses were over.'*® He
submits that based on the facts of the case, the only conclusion that could have been reached on the
basis of his previous knowledge of incidents of mistreatment, was that he must have been aware
that at least some of the TOs and paramilitaries were capable of killing. However, he submits that,
given the presence of the JNA, he could have reasonably believed that the TOs and paramilitaries

would not resort to killing.187

55. Finally, Sljivanganin contends that he did not know that Mrksi¢ had ordered the remaining

% nor did the Trial Chamber reach any conclusion that

JNA security to withdraw from Ov&ara’
would have allowed it to infer that he was informed of the withdrawal that night.'®® He points out
that whether he knew of MrkSi¢’s withdrawal order is irrelevant because his duty to protect the

prisoners at Ové&ara was at an end.'*

56. In reply, the Prosecution submits that Sljivan¢anin obscures the cumulative effect of all the
prior events on Sljivandanin’s knowledge by separating each strand of knowledge regarding the

TOs’ and paramilitaries’ criminal conduct and focusing on the conduct of the JNA as the only

' Sljivanéanin Respondent’s Brief, paras 183-184.

' Sljivan¢anin Respondent’s Brief, paras 174-175, 188-190, 192-198.

'8 Sljivanganin Respondent’s Brief, paras 190, 194. See also AT. 279.

' Sljivanéanin Respondent’s Brief, para. 205. See also AT. 280-281.

'8 Sljivancanin Respondent’s Brief, paras 176-177, citing Trial Judgement, para. 372. See also Sljivandanin
Resyondent’s Brief, para. 200, AT. 277.

185 Sljivan¢anin Respondent’s Brief para. 218. See also Sljivancanin Notice of Appeal, para. 7; AT. 277.

% Sljivanéanin Respondent’s Brief, paras 201-203, 217-228.

**” Sljivancanin Respondent’s Brief, paras 207, 228, citing Trial Judgement, para. 672. See also AT. 275-276, 278.282.
'* Sljivanganin Respondent’s Brief, paras 178, 208-210. See also AT. 277, 283-287.

'* Sljivancanin Respondent’s Brief, para. 179. See also Sljivancanin Respondent’s Brief, para. 215. ~ M
1% Sljivanganin Respondent’s Brief, para. 180. \
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relevant consideration on the issue of mens rea.'®! It futher counters that the INA’s presence did not

prevent the mistreatment of prisoners.192

(a) Sljivanéanin’s knowledge prior to the order to withdraw the JNA troops from Ovéara

57. The Trial Chamber found that it was only upon the final withdrawal of the military police of
the 80 mtbr of the JNA troops from Ov¢ara on the evening of 20 November 1991 that the killing of
the prisoners of war became a likely occurrence and, therefore, that it was possible that Sljivanéanin
did not foresee the likelihood of the murders prior to learning of the final withdrawal.'** In reaching
this conclusion, the Trial Chamber took into consideration its findings that Sljivan¢anin was aware
of instances of grave mistreatment, including killing, of prisoners of war by TOs and paramilitaries
in the preceding weeks,'”* and specifically of the mistreatment and killings of prisoners of war by
TOs and paramilitaries at Velepromet on 19 November 1991." Furthermore, with regard to the
prisoners of war under Sljivantanin’s responsibility who were transferred to Ovdara on
20 November 1991, the Trial Chamber considered Sljivandanin’s knowledge of the physical abuse

19 and found that he

suffered by the prisoners of war at the JNA barracks at the hands of the TOs
must have witnessed the mistreatment of the prisoners of war at Ov&ara in the afternoon of

20 November 1991.'%’

58.  The Trial Chamber therefore considered the impact of each of the incidents raised in the
Prosecution’s Appeal Brief regarding Sljivancanin’s knowledge of the security situation facing the
prisoners of war. The Prosecution does not show any errors in the factual findings of the Trial
Chamber on these events but rather relies upon these findings to impugn the conclusion drawn from
them and propound a different conclusion. The Prosecution relied on these findings to support the
conclusion that Sljivanéanin had sufficient accumulated knowledge to fulfil the mens rea
requirement while the Trial Chamber concluded that it was possible that Sljivananin’s knowledge
of the security situation facing the prisoners of war, based on his accumulated knowledge of these
incidents of mistreatment, did not lead to an awareness of the likelihood of killings as long as there

was a continued presence of INA troops.198

59. In reaching the conclusion that the accumulated knowledge of these previous incidents was

insufficient to establish that Sljivananin was aware that the prisoners of war would probably be

! Prosecution Brief in Reply, para. 47.

"2 Prosecution Brief in Reply, paras 48-52, 55, 58.
'3 Trial Judgement, para. 672.

' Trial Judgement, paras 664-665.

' Trial Judgement, para. 666.

9 Tria] Judgement, para. 375. ~N "M
"7 Trial Judgement, paras 663, 672.

%% Trial Judgement, paras 672, 691.
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killed, the Trial Chamber did not ignore that the protection by the JNA soldiers was afforded
“temporarily and insufficiently”.'®® Indeed, the failure of the JNA troops to provide sufficient
protection to the prisoners of war formed the basis for Sljivananin’s conviction for the torture.2*
Yet it found that: “although imperfectly, it is clear that the JNA military police present at the buses,
and later those who removed the TO members and paramilitaries from the barracks, were
preventing effect being given to [the wishes of TOs and paramilitaries to commit crimes of the
nature of the crimes described in the Indictment]”.zo1 It was not unreasonable for the Trial Chamber
to have concluded based on the context that, as long as the presence of the JNA troops continued,
the JNA troops might have continued to provide a sufficient intervening element to prevent the
mistreatment by TOs and paramilitaries from escalating from physical abuse to killing despite their
failure to prevent mistreatment altogether. Thus, it was not unreasonable for the Trial Chamber to
conclude that Sljivanéanin “could reasonably have believed in the circumstances that the TOs and

paramilitaries would be unlikely to resort to killing”.>*

60.  Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber finds that the Prosecution fails to show that it was
unreasonable for the Trial Chamber to find that it was unable to conclude that, at the time of his
visit to Ovéara, Sljivan¢anin was aware that the prisoners of war would probably be murdered**
with the result that he did not possess the requisite mens rea for aiding and abetting murder as long
as he was under the understanding that the JNA troops remained at Ovéara. The Prosecution fails to
demonstrate that the Trial Chamber made any errors of fact at paragraphs 672 and 691 of the Trial

Judgement which resulted in a miscarriage of justice.

(b) Sljivan¢anin’s knowledge following the order to withdraw the JNA troops from Ovcara

61. Turning to the Prosecution’s argument that Sljivanganin’s accumulated knowledge “became
even greater” during the evening of 20 November 1991 when he learned of the JNA’s
withdrawal,™™ the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber did not make a finding or draw
any inference as to when or whether Sljivanéanin became aware of the order to withdraw the JNA
troops on the night of 20 November 1991.%° The Trial Chamber found that “[t]here is no indication
in the evidence that Veselin Sljivancanin was at Negoslavci at the time the order was first given by

Mile Mrksic. He could have been informed by other means but this is merely conjecture”.?’® The

' Trial J udgement, para. 596.

2% Trial Judgement, paras 663-667, 672, 674, 715.
29! Trial Judgement, para. 594.

292 Trial Judgement, para. 672.

zg: See Trial Judgement, paras 672, 691.

Prosecution Appeal Brief, paras 101-103.

*% See Trial Judgement, paras 387-389, 672, 691. /\ \\/\
2% Trial Judgement, para. 661.
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Appeals Chamber recalls the following findings from the Trial Judgement: Sljivananin was not
involved in the transmission of Mrksi¢’s order to withdraw the JNA troops from Ov&ara®’ and did
not attend the briefing at the command post in Negoslavci on 20 November 1991;%® upon his return
to Negoslavci, Sljivan¢anin met with his deputy Major VukaSinovi¢ who informed him of the
problems with the TOs in Ové&ara;*” Sljivan¢anin then met with Captain Borisavljevi¢ who told
him about the meeting of the SAO “government”;*'° finally, Sljivanéanin met with Mrksi¢ and
Pani¢.”!" There is no direct evidence that Vukasinovi¢ or Borisavljevi¢ knew of the withdrawal at

212

the time they met with Sljivandanin or that they discussed it.” ~ Similarly, there is no direct

evidence that Sljivan¢anin was informed of the withdrawal in the course of his meeting with Mrksi¢

213 s 214

and Pani¢” -~ although they did discuss the “hospital issue”.

62. However, with regard to his meeting with Mile Mrksi¢ on the night of 20 November 1991,
gljivanéanin testified: “T went to see MrkSi¢ to tell him what I'd seen at the hospital, and what
happened at the hospital that day and to see what would be further tasks and duties”.*!> Given that
Sljivanéanin was inquiring about his next duties and had been delegated the responsibility for the
security of the prisoners of war by MrkSic, the only reasonable conclusion that can be drawn is that
Mrksi¢ must have told Sljivanéanin that he had withdrawn the INA protection from the prisoners of
war held at Ov&ara and thus also Sljivanéanin’s responsibility for the prisoners of war. The Appeals
Chamber therefore finds that Sljivanéanin learned of the withdrawal of the JNA troops in the course
of his meeting with MrkSic on the night of 20 November 1991. Given the Trial Chamber’s finding
that it was Sljivan¢anin’s knowledge of the presence of the JNA troops that precluded him from

concluding that the killing of the prisoners of war was a likely occurrence,*'®

the only reasonable
inference is that upon learning of the order to withdraw the troops, Sljivananin must have realised

that the killing of the prisoners of war at Ovéara had become a likely occurrence.

63. Similarly, knowing that the killing of prisoners of war was the likely outcome of their being
left in the custody of the TOs and paramilitaries, Sljivananin must have also realised that, given his
responsibility for the prisoners of war, if he failed to take action to ensure the continued protection
of prisoners of war he would be assisting the TOs and paramilitaries to carry out the murders. As a

result, the Appeals Chamber finds that upon learning of the order to withdraw the JNA troops from

27 Trial Judgement, para. 285.

28 Trial Judgement, para. 387.

2% See Trial Judgement, para. 388; Veselin Sljivancanin, T. 13663; LjubiSa VukaSinovid¢, T. 15046.

219 See Trial Judgement, para. 389; Veselin Sljivanéanin, T. 13663-13665.

2! See Trial Judgement, para. 389; Veselin Sljivancanin, T. 13665-13666, 13983-13990.

212 See Trial Judgement, paras 388-389; Veselin gljivanéanin, T. 13663-13665; Ljubisa VukaSinovic¢, T. 15046.

2" See Trial Judgement, para. 389; Veselin Sljivancanin, T. 13665-13666, 13983-13990.

2" Veselin Sljivandanin, T. 13665. See also Veselin Sljivanéanin, T. 13983-13988. ~ ™M
> Veselin Sljivancanin, T. 13983. \

218 Trial Judgement, para. 672.
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MrkSi€ at their meeting of the night of 20 November 1991, the only reasonable inference is that
Sljivanéanin must have been aware that the TOs and paramilitaries would likely kill the prisoners of
war and that if he failed to act, his omission would assist in the murder of the prisoners.
Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber finds that Sljivancanin formed the mens rea for aiding and
abetting murder. Consideration of whether the elements of the actus reus of aiding and abetting

murder were fulfilled will be addressed below.

3. Sljivandanin’s legal duty towards the prisoners

64.  The Trial Chamber acquitted Sljivancanin of the murder of the prisoners of war on the night
of 20 November 1991 at Ovcara on the basis that his responsibility for the welfare and security of
the prisoners of war ended with the withdrawal of the last JNA troops from Ov&ara.?!” The
Prosecution submits that the Trial Chamber erred in delineating the temporal scope of

Sljivanéanin’s legal duty.”'®

In this regard, it contends that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that
Sljivanéanin’s legal duty toward the prisoners of war ended upon the withdrawal of the JNA troops
from Ové&ara; it submits that Sljivan¢anin had a continuing legal duty under international
humanitarian law even after Mrksi¢ ordered the withdrawal of JNA troops.”" In support of this
argument, in its written submissions, the Prosecution avers that three sources of duty towards the
prisoners of war were applicable to him at the relevant time: (i) his duty under the laws and customs

229 (ii) his duty in his capacity as chief of the security organ;*

of war; and (iii) his duty under
Mrksi¢’s specific delegated authority.””* However, at the appeals hearing the Prosecution conceded
that Sljivan¢anin was not under a specific duty to protect the prisoners of war by reason of his
position as chief of the security organ®®® and further implied that Sljivanéanin’s specially delegated

authority from Mrksi¢ may also have come to an end upon Mrksi¢’s order to withdraw.?**

65. Sljivanéanin responds that he did not have continuing legal duties under the laws and
customs of war because the duty to protect and treat prisoners of war humanely becomes a legal
duty for an agent of the relevant state only when he is specifically invested with it by the Detaining

Power or State pursuant to Geneva Convention I11.*%° In this respect, he submits that Mrksi¢ did not

*'7 Trial Judgement, paras 672-673.

218 prosecution Appeal Brief, para. 109.

2% Prosecution Notice of Appeal, para. 8(ii); Prosecution Appeal Brief, paras 112, 117, 119. See also AT. 226, 228-236.
*% Prosecution Appeal Brief, paras 111-119, citing Trial Judgement, paras 153, 189, 620, 668-670, 673, 691: Exhibit
P396, “SFRY Regulations on the Application of the Rules of International Law of War in the Armed Forces, 1988”;
Articles 5 and 13 of Geneva Convention III; ICRC Commentaries, p. 74.

22! Prosecution Appeal Brief, paras 120-123, citing Trial Judgement, paras 62, 114, 118, 122, 125, 129, 397, 668, 669.
22 prosecution Appeal Brief, paras 124-129, citing Trial Judgement, paras 391-394, 396, 397, 400, 667-669, 672, 673,
691.

22 AT. 101-102, 153, 200, 230.

24 AT 231, M
22 See Sljivanéanin Respondent’s Brief, paras 234(a), 240-245, citing Articles 12 and 13 of Geneva Convention III.
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delegate to him any responsibility or duty to protect the prisoners at Ovéara.?*® In his Respondent’s
Brief he submits that if indeed he had a legal duty to protect the prisoners held in Ov&ara,??’ such a
duty ended with the withdrawal of the JNA troops as ruled by the Trial Chamber??; however, at the
appeals hearing, he argued that any duty pursuant to Mrksi¢’s delegation of authority came to an
end when the prisoners of war were diverted to Ovcara rather than proceeding to Sremska Mitrovica
and he was not informed of the change of plan.””® Furthermore, he posits that his functions as chief
of security did not include any specific duty in relation to the protection of prisoners of war in the
absence of a specific responsibility bestowed upon him.>*° Finally, he submits that the Prosecution
failed to show any discernible error in the Trial Chamber’s assessment of the temporal scope of his

alleged duty towards the prisoners.?!

66. In reply, the Prosecution submits that: (i) under Geneva Convention III military personnel
acting as agents of the State acquire individual responsibility for violations of international
humanitarian law without requiring a “specific investment”;*** (ii) Sljivananin mischaracterises the
Trial Chamber’s findings on the military police and security organs and provides no support for his
assertions concerning his functions as chief of security;*** and (iii) Sljivancanin erroneously seeks
to limit the Trial Chamber’s findings regarding his delegated authority to individual specified tasks

instead of overall responsibility for the evacuation from Vukovar hospital.>**

67. The Prosecution’s contention that there were three sources of duty underlying Sljivancanin’s

responsibility to protect the prisoners of war is reflected in the Trial Judgement’s finding that:

Sljivanganin was bound by the laws and customs of war, he was also entrusted, as security organ,
with the task of implementing some of those laws, as far as the security of prisoners of war in the
custody of the INA was concerned, and he was under specific orders of Mile Mrksi¢ for the
security of the prisoners.””’

>% See Sljivancanin Respondent’s Brief, paras 236, 268-273.

7 See Sljivantanin Respondent’s Brief, paras 245-246.

28 Sljivandanin Respondent’s Brief, para. 247.

229 AT. 288-289.

0 Sljivananin Respondent’s Brief, para. 235. See also Sljivan&anin Respondent’s Brief, paras 255-265, citing Trial
Judgement, paras 116, 119, 124, 125, 148, 272, 275, 281, 302; Exhibit P107, “Rules of Service of the Security Organs
in the Armed forces of SFRY, 1984”"; Exhibit D371, “Operational Diary of the 80™ mtbr/Motorized Brigade”, entry for
18 November 1991 at 14:20 and at 16:00 hours; Exhibit P582, “Instructions on the Methods and Means of Work of the
JNA Security Organs, 1986”; Exhibit D868, “Expert Report of Petar Vuga”, pp. 21-24; Jovan Susi¢, T. 14891. See also
AT. 153, 200.

2! Sljivandanin Respondent’s Brief, para. 276.

2 prosecution Brief in Reply, paras 71-72, 76-77.

2V33 Prosecution Brief in Reply, paras 78-80. As noted above, at the appeals hearing the Prosecution conceded that
Sljivancanin was not under a specific duty to protect the prisoners of war by reason of his position as chief of the
security organ: AT. 101-102, 153, 200, 230.

2 Prosecution Brief in Reply, paras 81-84.

3 Trial Judgement, para. 669. See also Trial Judgement, para. 668: “Veselin Sljivancanin was under a duty to protect
the prisoners of war taken from the Vukovar hospital. The duty to protect prisoners of war was imposed on him by the
laws and customs of war. It was also part of his remit as security organ of OG South. Further, the evidence indicates
that from the time of removal of the prisoners of war from the hospital until that night when the INA guards securing
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Although the Trial Chamber stated that there were three sources of duty applicable to Sljivan¢anin
with regard to the prisoners of war, when determining whether he was bound to protect the
prisoners of war after the order to withdraw the JNA troops, the Trial Chamber only referred to the
fact that the duty imposed on him by Mrksic¢’s delegation of responsibility was no longer binding on
him.>*® Having concluded that the delegated duty had been terminated, the Trial Chamber did not
proceed to consider whether the order also terminated the other sources of duty or whether they

continued to impose on him a responsibility for the protection of the prisoners of war.

68. The Prosecution does not seek to challenge the Trial Chamber’s finding regarding the
sources of duty applicable to Sljivananin with regard to the prisoners of war; rather it relies on it in
support of its contention that Sljivananin had a continuing legal duty to protect the prisoners of
war throughout the afternoon, evening and night of 20 to 21 November 1991.2*” The essence of the
Prosecution’s argument is in fact that such a duty did not come to an end after the order to withdraw
the JNA troops. Therefore, the Appeals Chamber need not re-examine the existence of the sources
of duty. Rather it will consider whether the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that Sljivancanin’s
duty to protect the prisoners of war came to an end upon Mrksi¢’s order to withdraw or whether any
of the sources of duty identified by the Trial Chamber imposed an ongoing responsibility on
Sljivanéanin to ensure the security of the prisoners of war after the order to withdraw the JNA

troops from Ovcara had been issued.

69. The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber did not make a finding as to whether the
armed conflict in the municipality of Vukovar at the material time was of an international or non-
international nature.>*® However, even in the context of an internal armed conflict, Geneva
Convention III applies where the parties to the conflict have agreed that the Convention shall
apply.”*® In this respect, the Appeals Chamber recalls the ECMM instructions to its monitors on the
implementation of the Zagreb Agreement which indicated that the Geneva Conventions were to be

240

applied to the prisoners of war.”" In an order issued on 18 November 1991, Lt. General Zivota

Pani¢ directed that JNA units in the Vukovar area, including OG South, were to observe all aspects

them were withdrawn, Veselin Sljivancanin was responsible for their security, a responsibility which included both
their protection and prevention of their escape. This was a responsibility with which he had been entrusted by Mile
MIkSi¢ in relation with the operation of removing war crime suspects from the hospital” (footnotes omitted).

236 Trial Judgement, para. 673.

7 See Prosecution Appeal Brief, paras 111-129.

%% Trial Judgement, paras 422, 457,

> Geneva Convention III, Article 2: “Although one of the Powers in conflict may not be a party to the present
Convention, the Powers who are parties thereto shall remain bound by it in their mutual relations. They shall
furthermore be bound by the Convention in relation to the said Power, if the latter accepts and applies the provisions
thereof”. See also Article 3: “The Parties to the conflict should further endeavour to bring into force, by means of
special agreements, all or part of the other provisions of the present Convention”.

% Trial Judgement, para. 144, citing Exhibit P315, “ECMM fax to tasking cell regarding Zagreb Agreement,
19 November 1991”.
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of Geneva Convention IIT.2*! Furthermore, Colonel Nebojsa Pavkovi¢ advised the ECMM monitors
of instructions from General RasSeta that Croat forces would not be evacuated with the rest of the
humanitarian convoy but remain as prisoners of war and the Geneva Conventions would apply.242
The Appeals Chamber considers that, while the Zagreb Agreement makes no mention of the
application of Geneva Convention III to the Croat forces at the Vukovar hospital,243 these
documents provide sufficient evidence to conclude that the JNA had agreed that the Croat forces

were to be considered prisoners of war and that Geneva Convention III was to apply.>**

70. Additionally, the Appeals Chamber recalls the finding in the Krnojelac Appeal Judgement
that “[tJhe Geneva Conventions are considered to be the expression of customary international
law”.*** In particular, it is well established that Common Article 3 of the Geneva Conventions,
which is applicable to both international and non-international armed conflicts, is part of customary

246 Common Article 3 enshrines the

international law and therefore binds all parties to a conflict.
prohibition against any violence against the life and person of those taking no active part in the
hostilities, including members of armed forces who have laid down their arms and those placed
hors de combat by sickness, wounds, detention, or any other cause. The Appeals Chamber
considers that Common Article 3 of the Geneva Conventions reflects the same spirit of the duty to
protect members of armed forces who have laid down their arms and are detained as the specific
protections afforded to prisoners of war in Geneva Convention III as a whole, particularly in its

Article 13,**” which provides that:

Any unlawful act or omission by the Detaining Power causing death or seriously endangering the
health of a prisoner of war in its custody is prohibited, and will be regarded as a serious breach of
the present Convention. [...]

241 Tria) Judgement, para. 581, citing Exhibit P415, “Order from 1 MD, 18 November 1991”.

22 Trial Judgement, para. 582, citing Exhibit D333, “ECMM Report of Evacuation of Vukovar, 19 November 1991

243 Exhibit P40, “Zagreb Agreement, 18 November 1991,

%44 See also Trial Judgement, paras 139, 189.

5 Krnojelac Appeal Judgement, para. 220. See also Celebici Appeal Judgement, paras 112-113: “It is indisputable that
the Geneva Conventions fall within this category of universal multilateral treaties which reflect rules accepted and
recognised by the international community as a whole. The Geneva Conventions enjoy nearly universal participation”
(footnote omitted); Report of the Secretary-General Pursuant to Paragraph 2 of Security Council Resolution 808 (1993),
S/25704, 3 May 1993, para. 35: “The part of conventional international humanitarian law which has beyond doubt
become part of international customary law is the law applicable in armed conflict as embodied in: the Geneva
Conventions of 12 August 1949 for the Protection of War Victims [...]".

8 Kunarac et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 68; Celebici Appeal Judgement, paras 138-139, 147; Tadic¢ Jurisdiction
Decision, paras 89, 98. See also Military and Paramilitary Activities in and against Nicaragua (Nicaragua v. United
States of America), Merits, Judgment, I.C.J. Reports 1986, para. 218: “Article 3 which is common to all four Geneva
Conventions of 12 August 1949 defines certain rules to be applied in the armed conflicts of a non-international
character. There is no doubt that, in the event of international armed conflicts, these rules also constitute a minimum
yardstick, in addition to the more elaborate rules which are also to apply to international conflicts; and they are rules
which, in the Court's opinion, reflect what the Court in 1949 called ‘elementary considerations of humanity’”.

7 Cf. ICRC Commentaries on Article 3 of Geneva Convention III which makes comparisons between Articles 3 and
13, pp. 39-40.
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Likewise, prisoners of war must at all times be protected, particularly against acts of violence or
intimidation and against insults and public curiosity.

71. The fundamental principle enshrined in Geneva Convention III, which is non-derogable, that
prisoners of war must be treated humanely and protected from physical and mental harm,?*® applies
from the time they fall into the power of the enemy until their final release and repatriation.”* It
thus entails the obligation of each agent in charge of the protection or custody of the prisoners of
war to ensure that their transfer to another agent will not diminish the protection the prisoners are
entitled to. This obligation is so well established that it is even reflected in Article 46 of Geneva

I, which applies to the transfer of prisoners of war to another location by the

251
L

Convention II
Detaining Power, and furthermore in paragraphs 2 and 3 of Article 12 of Geneva Convention II
which applies to the transfer of prisoners of war to another High Contracting Party. The Appeals
Chamber recalls that besides the JNA, the TO was one of the two constituent elements of the armed
forces of the former Yugoslavia, and they were both subordinated to the Supreme Defence
Council.* Thus, the military police of the 80 mtbr of the JNA should have satisfied itself of the
willingness and ability of the TOs to apply the principle enshrined in Geneva Convention III, before

transferring custody of the prisoners of war.

72. Although the duty to protect prisoners of war belongs in the first instance to the Detaining
Power, this is not to the exclusion of individual responsibility. The first paragraph of Article 12 of

Geneva Convention III places the responsibility for prisoners of war squarely on the Detaining
Power; however, it also states that this is “[i]rrespective of the individual responsibilities that may
exist”. The ICRC Commentaries clarify that “[a]ny breach of the law is bound to be committed by
one or more individuals and it is normally they who must answer for their acts”.>> The JNA

Regulations further explicitly state that “[e]very individual — a member of the military or a

% Article 13 of Geneva Convention III provides that “[p]risoners of war must at all times be humanely treated”. This
principle of humane treatment applies not only to physical integrity but also to mental integrity (see Article 13 of
Geneva Convention 111, para. 2 and commentary thereof, p. 141: “The concept of humane treatment implies in the first
place the absence of any kind of corporal punishment. [...] The protection extends to moral values, such as the moral
independence of the prisoner (protection against acts of intimidation) and his honour (protection against insults and
public curiosity)). It was enshrined in the same terms in Article 2 of the Convention relative to the Treatment of
Prisoners of War (Geneva, 27 July 1929). See also Article 4 of the Hague Regulations (Regulations Respecting the
Laws and Customs of War on Land annexed to Hague Convention IV of 18 October 1907). The Hague Regulations
undoubtedly form part of customary international law (see Kordic and Cerkez Appeal Judgement, para. 92).

29 See Article 5 of Geneva Convention I1I.

%0 See Article 46 of Geneva Convention 11, which provides that when transferring prisoners of war from one location
to another, “[t]he Detaining Power shall take adequate precautions [...] to ensure their safety during transfer”.

»! See Article 12 of Geneva Convention III, which provides: “Prisoners of war may only be transferred by the
Detaining Power to a Power which is a party to the Convention and after the Detaining Power has satisfied itself of the
willingness and ability of such transferee Power to apply the Convention. When prisoners of war are transferred under
such circumstances, responsibility for the application of the Convention rests on the Power accepting them while they
are in its custody”.

252 See Trial Judgement, paras 83-84.

23 JCRC Commentaries to Geneva Convention III, Article 12, p. 128.
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civilian — shall be personally accountable for violations of the laws of war if he/she commits a
violation or orders one to be committed”.”>* The Prosecution submits that “[t]hus, members of the
armed forces ‘acquire’ these international obligations with regard to prisoners of war. There is no

LS

further requirement of ‘specific investment’” of authority as argued by Sljivancanin.”> The Appeals

Chamber agrees with this submission.

73. The Appeals Chamber thus finds that Geneva Convention III invests all agents of a
Detaining Power into whose custody prisoners of war have come with the obligation to protect them
by reason of their position as agents of that Detaining Power. No more specific investment of
responsibility in an agent with regard to prisoners of war is necessary. The Appeals Chamber
considers that all state agents who find themselves with custody of prisoners of war owe them a
duty of protection regardless of whether the investment of responsibility was made through explicit
delegation such as through legislative enactment or a superior order, or as a result of the state agent
finding himself with de facto custody over prisoners of war such as where a prisoner of war

surrenders to that agent.

74.  The Appeals Chamber therefore considers that Sljivanéanin was under a duty to protect the
prisoners of war held at Ovcara and that his responsibility included the obligation not to allow the
transfer of custody of the prisoners of a war to anyone without first assuring himself that they would
not be harmed. MrkSi¢’s order to withdraw the JNA troops did not relieve him of his position as an
officer of the JNA. As such, Sljivananin remained an agent of the Detaining Power and thus
continued to be bound by Geneva Convention III not to transfer the prisoners of war to another

agent who would not guarantee their safety.

75. For the foregoing reasons, the Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber erred in
finding that Sljivanéanin’s duty to protect the prisoners of war pursuant to the laws and customs of
war came to an end upon Mrksi¢’s order to withdraw. Having found that Sljivan¢anin was under an
ongoing duty to protect the prisoners of war at Ov¢ara and had the requisite mens rea for aiding and
abetting the murder, the Appeals Chamber will consider whether Sljivan¢anin failed to act in a way

that substantially contributed to the murder of the prisoners of war.

4. Whether Sljivancanin’s failure to act substantially contributed to the murders

M
76. The Prosecution submits that the Trial Chamber did not consider whether Sljivan¢anin’s

failure to act, either before or after the JNA troops were withdrawn, substantially contributed to the

>* Exhibit P396, “Regulations on the Application of International Laws of War in the Armed Forces of the SFRY”,
Article 20.

5 Prosecution Brief in Reply, para. 72.
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murders of the prisoners of war at Ovéara.”® In support of this contention, the Prosecution submits
that the Trial Chamber failed to consider the additional steps that Sljivan¢anin could have taken on
the afternoon, evening and night of 20 November 1991, using his ample power and authority to
protect the prisoners.””’ Its submissions are divided into two categories: the steps that Sljivancanin
could have taken during the afternoon and the evening®® and those further steps he could have
taken during the night once he had learned that the INA troops were being withdrawn.”® The
Prosecution concludes that Sljivancanin’s failure to take measures pursuant to his duty to protect
the prisoners substantially contributed to the murders of the prisoners by the TOs and
paramilitaries.260

7. Sljivanganin responds that: (i) the Prosecution merely repeats on appeal arguments which
did not succeed at trial and has failed to show any error on the part of the Trial Chamber;*®" (ii) his
failure to protect the prisoners from mistreatment in the afternoon of 20 November 1991 could not
have contributed to the subsequent killings given that it was only after Mrksi¢’s withdrawal order
that the murders became probable and any added security that could have been provided would
have been undone following the withdrawal of the INA troops;262 (ii1) the Prosecution’s contention
that Sljivanéanin could have made the murders less likely is not the appropriate criterion;*® (iv) the
Trial Chamber’s finding that it could not be concluded that he encouraged or gave tacit approval for

264

the TOs and paramilitaries to commit murders was correct;” (v) he was not aware of MrkSi¢’s

withdrawal order or of its transmission*® and in any event he could not “incur criminal liability for
aiding and abetting by omission proper, for failing to challenge legal orders issued by his

Commander”;*®® and (vi) he was not aware that his alleged failure to act to protect the prisoners

% Prosecution Appeal Brief, para. 131.

7 Prosecution Appeal Brief, paras 132-134.

28 Prosecution Appeal Brief, para. 137. According to the Prosecution, during the afternoon and evening of
20 November 1991, Sljivan¢anin could have: (i) ordered the removal of the prisoners from Ov¢ara to a place of safety
away from the TOs and paramilitaries; (ii) excluded the TOs and paramilitaries from Ov¢ara; (iii) kept the status of the
prisoners under review and acted to ensure their safety in the event of reports as to security problems; (iv) reported the
vicious conduct of the TOs and paramilitaries during the afternoon to Mrk3i¢ and prevailed upon him to act to protect
them.

2VS ® Prosecution Appeal Brief, para. 138. According to the Prosecution, during the night of 20 November 1991,
Shjivan€anin could have: (i) ensured that the prisoners were not left in the custody of a hostile, lawless and volatile
group that had shown that it was unwilling to protect them; (ii) sought to persuade Mrksi¢ not to allow the TOs access
to, or to take control of, the prisoners; (iii) brought to Mrksi¢’s attention the grave risk of injury and death to the
prisoners if the JNA was withdrawn; (iv) reported the situation to General Vasiljevi¢ as head of the Security
Administration at the Federal Secretariat for National Defence.

2% prosecution Appeal Brief, paras 139-143, 148. See also Prosecution Brief in Reply, paras 89, 91-93.

261 Sljivancanin Respondent’s Brief, para. 280. ’Y }/\
282 §ljivanéanin Respondent’s Brief, para. 281. See also Sljivan&anin Respondent’s Brief, paras 287-298.

263 Sljivanéanin Respondent’s Brief, para. 282.

2¢* Sljivan¢anin Respondent’s Brief, paras 283, 299, 300, citing Trial Judgement, para. 671.

2% Sljivananin Respondent’s Brief, paras 284, 301-302.

266 SljivanGanin Respondent’s Brief, para. 284.
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would substantially contribute to their murders because he did not know at the time of his visit to

Ov¢ara that killings would probably be committed.?’

78. In reply, the Prosecution submits that (i) neither the fact that other JNA officers took
measures to stop the mistreatment of prisoners nor the fact that Sljivanéanin may have heard only
later about the inadequacy of the security at OvCara excuse his own failure to act to protect the
prisoners;*®® (ii) Sljivancanin could have foreseen that the mistreatment of the prisoners in the
afternoon of 20 November 1991 would progress into killing?® and therefore his knowledge of the

probability that murders could occur grew upon learning of Mrksi¢’s withdrawal order.>™

79. The Appeals Chamber has already found that it was reasonably open to the Trial Chamber to
conclude that Sljivan¢anin may not have foreseen that the prisoners of war would be killed at the

21 As a result, Sljivan&anin lacked the requisite mens rea with regard to

time of his visit to Ovcara.
aiding and abetting murder during the period prior to his learning of the order to withdraw the
troops and cannot be convicted for his actions or inaction during that period.””* Therefore, the
Appeals Chamber need not consider whether Sljivandanin’s failure to take further steps to protect
the prisoners of war in the afternoon and evening of 20 November 1991 substantially contributed to
the murders later that night. Notwithstanding this, the Appeals Chamber notes that while the Trial
Chamber may not have addressed the additional steps that Sljivandanin could have taken to protect
the prisoners of war enumerated by the Prosecution in its submissions,?”” it did consider a number
of actions that Sljivan¢anin could have taken but failed to in concluding that his failure to act had a
substantial effect on the commission of the crimes of torture and cruel treatment at Ov¢ara in the

afternoon of 20 November 1991 .27

80. With regard to the period following Mrksi¢’s order to withdraw the last INA troops from
Ovcara on the evening of 20 November 1991, the Appeals Chamber recalls that it has found that
Sljivanganin owed a continuing duty to the prisoners of war under international humanitarian law?">
and further that the only reasonable inference available on the evidence is that Sljivancanin learned

of the order to withdraw at his meeting with MrkSi¢ upon his return to Negoslavci on the night of

267 §ljivanéanin Respondent’s Brief, para. 285, citing Trial Judgement, para. 672; see also Sljivancanin Respondent’s
Brief, paras 304-305.
268 prosecution Brief in Reply, paras 87-88.
2% prosecution Brief in Reply, para. 89. T M
>0 Prosecution Brief in Reply, para. 92. See also Prosecution Brief in Reply, paras 60-62.
271 See supra para. 60.
*2 See Blaskic Appeal Judgement, para. 47.
27 Prosecution Appeal Brief, para. 137.
** Trial Judgement, para. 670.
> See supra para. 74.
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20 November 1991.”7¢ In light of these findings the Appeals Chamber turns to consider whether
Sljivanéanin’s failure to act upon learning of the order to withdraw the INA troops from Ov&ara

substantially contributed to the murder of the prisoners of war by the TOs and paramilitaries.

81. Bearing in mind that the basic elements of the mode of liability of aiding and abetting apply
regardless of whether this form of liability is charged as “omission”,””’ the Appeals Chamber recalls
that the actus reus of aiding and abetting consists of acts or omissions>’® which assist, encourage or
lend moral support to the perpetration of a specific crime, and which have a substantial effect upon
the perpetration of the crime.?”® There is no requirement of a cause-effect relationship between the
conduct of the aider and abettor and the commission of the crime or that such conduct served as a
condition precedent to the commission of the crime.”® The actus reus of aiding and abetting a
crime may occur before, during, or after the principal crime has been perpetrated, and the location
at which the actus reus takes place may be removed from the location of the principal
crime.”® Accordingly, in order to determine whether Sljivanéanin possessed the requisite actus reus
for aiding and abetting murder, the Appeals Chamber must be satisfied beyond reasonable doubt
that the Prosecution has demonstrated that Sljivan¢anin substantially contributed to their killing by

his inaction”®* and that, when account is taken of the errors committed by the Trial Chamber, all

reasonable doubt concerning Sljivandanin’s guilt has been eliminated.?®

(a) Sljivancanin’s ability to act

82. The Appeals Chamber further recalls that aiding and abetting by omission implicitly
requires that the accused had the ability to act but failed to do s0.”* In order to determine whether
Sljivanéanin had the ability to act but failed to do so, the Appeals Chamber must be satisfied
beyond reasonable doubt that the Prosecution has provided sufficient evidence concerning which

means were available to Sljivancanin to fulfil his continuing duty towards the prisoners of war.”®

7% See supra para. 62.

"7 Ori¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 43. See supra para. 49,

™ Nahimana et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 482; Ntagerura et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 370; Blaski¢ Appeal
Judgement, para. 47.

*® Nahimana et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 482; Blagojevi¢ and Joki¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 127; Ndindabahizi
Appeal Judgement, para. 117; Simic Appeal Judgement, para. 85; Ntagerura et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 370, fn.
740; Blaskic¢ Appeal Judgement, paras 45, 48; Vasiljevi¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 102; Celebici Appeal Judgement,
para. 352; Tadi¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 229.

% Blaski¢ Appeal Judgment, para. 48.

28! Blaski¢ Appeal Judgment, para. 48. 'T l
%82 Of Ntagerura et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 321. \’\
% Seromba Appeal Judgement, para. 11; Rutaganda Appeal Judgement, para. 24; Bagilishema Appeal Judgement,
paras 13-14. See also Strugar Appeal Judgement, para. 14; Ori¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 12; Halilovi¢ Appeal
Judgement, para. 11; Limaj et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 13; Blagojevic¢ and Joki¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 9;
Brdanin Appeal Judgement, para. 13.

2% Cf. Ntagerura et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 335. See also infra para. 154.

» cf Ntagerura et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 335. (Where the Appeals Chamber also held that the Prosecution had

not indicated which possibilities were open to Bagambiki to fulfil his duties under the Rwandan domestic law).
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To reach a determination in this regard, it is necessary to briefly touch upon the structure of the
INA troops concerned with the withdrawal order, in order to assess the scope of Sljivanéanin’s

authority over the relevant troops.

(1) Military police of the 80 mtbr of the JNA

83. The murder of the prisoners of war by the TO and paramilitaries took place after Mrksié
decided that the JNA should relinquish its custody of the prisoners of war by issuing an order to
withdraw the military police of 80 mtbr of the JNA from Ov&ara.”®® The 80 mtbr of the JNA (also
referred to as the Kragujevac Brigade) had one tank battalion, three infantry battalions, a rear, an
engineer’s battalion, a military police company and a light artillery anti-aircraft battalion.”®’ At the
time material to the Indictment the commander of the 80 mtbr was LtCol Milorad Vojnovi¢ and
Captain Dragi Vukosavljevié was the chief of the 80 mtbr’s security organ.”*® Captain Dragan
Vezmarovi¢ was the commander of the military police company of the 80 mtbr.?* While stationed
in the zone of responsibility of OG South, the 80 mtbr along with all its component units, and all
other units serving in this zone of responsibility came under the de jure and the full effective

command of Mrksi¢. 2

(i) Sljivandanin’s authority as security organ of OG South

84.  Throughout the time relevant to the Indictment, Sljivancanin was the chief of the security

h.**! His deputy was Major Ljubisa Vukasinovi¢.*** The

organ of the Gmtbr and also of OG Sout
Gmtbr’s main responsibility was to provide security to the political and military leadership of the
former Yugoslavia,293 and the security organs’ purpose was to perform counterintelligence
activities.”* Pursuant to the military hierarchy regulated by the Rules of Service of the Security
Organs in the Armed Forces of the SFRY, the security organs of the units subordinated to OG
South, including the 80 mtbr, were required to report to Sljivanéanin as the security organ of OG

South.?*

%0 Trial Judgement, para. 673.

%7 Trial Judgement, para. 74.

*%% Trial Judgement, para. 75.

2% Trial Judgement, para. 75.

>0 Trial Judgement, paras 70, 74, 77. —_—
! Trial Judgement, para. 62. | M
22 Trial Judgement, para. 62.

293 Trial Judgement, para. 61.

* Trial Judgement, para. 129.

%5 Trial Judgement, para. 129 citing Rule 18 of the Rules of Service of the Security Organs in the Armed Forces of
SFRY. See P107, “Rules of Service of the Security Organs in the Armed Forces of SFRY, 1984”.
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85. The Trial Chamber found that the protection of the prisoners of war “was also part of
[Sljivan¢anin’s] remit as security organ of OG South™*® It further expanded that “he was also

entrusted, as security organ, with the task of implementing some of [the laws and customs of war],

as far as the security of prisoners of war in the custody of the JNA was concerned [..]" %7

However, in its earlier findings on the command structure of the Serb forces involved in the
Vukovar operation, the Trial Chamber found that responsibility for guarding prisoners of war
belonged to the military police.”® It found that “the primary functions of security organs are in the
field of counterintelligence where they had the sole or primary responsibility, whereas in the field
of crime detection and prevention they participated together with the military police and other
bodies”.”®” In its discussion of the mandate of the security organ, the Trial Chamber made no
reference to the security organ having any particular responsibility for the protection of prisoners of
war.”” Indeed, the Rules of Service of the Security Organs in the Armed Forces of the SFRY in
force at the time material to the Indictment make no reference to prisoners of war™ while the
Instructions on the Methods and Means of Work of the INA Security Organs only refer to prisoners
of war with respect to them being possible sources of information for counterintelligence for the

security organ.’*

86. The control that the security organ could exercise over the military police was limited to
areas within the security organ’s specialisation and competence (in other words, the area of
counterintelligence).’”> Absent any special delegation by the commander, the security organ could
only exercise control over the military police with respect to its areas of competence and
specialisation. Therefore, absent a specific delegation by the commander, Sljivan¢anin had no
specific responsibility for prisoners of war, by virtue of his position as security organ of the OG

South. The Appeals Chamber observes that this is no longer contested by the Parties.***

%6 Trial Judgement, para. 668.

7 Trial Judgement, para. 669.

*% Trial Judgement, para. 114.

*% Trial Judgement, para. 115.

%% Trial Judgement, para. 115.

9! Exhibit P107, “Rules of Service of the Security Organs in the Armed Forces of SFRY, 1984”. This is highlighted in
Petar Vuga’s Expert Report which states “Rules of Service of Security Organ in OS do not provide for other tasks and
obligations of Security Organ OS in respect of the prisoners of war” (Exhibit D868, “Expert Report of Petar Vuga”,
Item 2.2, p. 12).

302 Exhibit P582, “Instructions on the Methods and Means of Work of the JNA Security Organs, 1986”. Similarly, the
Regulations on the Responsibilities of the Land Army Corps Command in Peacetime makes no reference to prisoners of
war in Article 29 which deals with the security organ: Exhibit P580, “Regulations on the Responsibilities of the Land
Army Corps Command in Peacetime, SFRY, 19907, p. 30.

%% Exhibit P107, “Rules of Service of the Security Organs in the Armed Forces of SFRY, 19847, Rule 23, see also Rule
7(d); Exhibit D435, “Service Regulations of the SFRY Armed Forces Military Police, 19857, Rule 13.

* AT. 101-102, 153, 200, 230.
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87. In light of the foregoing, Sljivan¢anin’s authority over the military police of 80 mtbr, was
limited by reason of the mandate of the security organ of the OG South. This is further borne out by
the Trial Chamber’s finding that:

[i]t is clear that the commander of the relevant military unit has command of the military police
and ultimately the commander’s orders, if he chooses to issue orders, are those which the military
police must obey. Subject to any such orders of the commander, however, by rule 13 the security
organ “controls the military police” and is resgonsiblc for both the combat readiness of the
military police and the performance of their tasks.*”

88. Moreover, as part of its findings concerning the subordination of security organs, the Trial
Chamber accepted that while Sljivanéanin could organise, direct, coordinate and supervise the work
of the security organs of the units subordinated to OG South, including 80 mtbr, he had no actual
powers of command over them as the security organ of OG South.**® In this regard, the Appeals
Chamber takes note of Article 16 of the Rules of Service of the Security Organs which states:

The security organ is directly subordinated to the commanding officer of the command, unit,

institution or staff of the armed forces in whose strength it is placed in the establishment, and it is

responsible to that officer for its work[...].*"
89. In his capacity as security organ, Sljivanéanin “could issue orders to the military police
within OG South but these were subject to any orders of the commanders of the unit to which the
military police were subordinated”.>*® However, this was considered to be immaterial when the
Trial Chamber assessed Sljivancanin’s role in the evacuation because at the relevant time he was
not functioning as the security organ and thus was not limited by the powers of that office.’® Hence
the Trial Chamber further found that Sljivanéanin was exercising the power and authority conferred
on him by Mrksi¢ to conduct the evacuation of the hospital and as such he was exercising de jure
authority with respect to the relevant JNA military police forces of OG South.*' Accordingly, an
order from MrkSi¢ terminating any specifically delegated duty for the security of the prisoners of
war,”!! would also have removed the power and authority that Sljivantanin had over the military

police of the 80 mtbr, in his capacity as security organ.

90. In light of the foregoing, it is clear that given the limitations on Sljivan¢anin’s authority over

the military police of the 80 mtbr of the JNA, his ability to act in order to fulfil his continuing duty

** Trial Judgement, para. 122. See also Trial Judgement, para. 125.

*% Trial Judgement, para. 129. The Appeals Chamber notes that Prosecution relied upon this finding in support of its
argument that the actual securing and transport of the prisoners of war was subject to Mrksi¢’s command. See AT. 100-

102.

397 Exhibit P107, “Rules of Service of the Security Organs in the Armed Forces of SFRY, 1984”.

*% Trial Judgement, para. 397. T ’\/)
*® Trial Judgement, para. 397. l

*'° Trial Judgement, para. 397.

' The Prosecution acknowledged that Sljivanganin’s specifically delegated duty “for the prisoners custody and
control” was terminated upon the withdrawal of the JNA from Ové&ara. AT. 231.
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to protect the prisoners of war pursuant to the laws and customs of war might have been limited as
well. The Appeals Chamber turns to assess whether ordering the military police not to withdraw,
contrary to Mrksi¢’s instruction, was indeed a possibility open to Sljivancanin to fulfil his duty
towards the prisoners of war, despite the above considerations regarding his power and authority

over the troops in question.

(iii) Sljivandanin’s de jure authority

91.  The Appeals Chamber notes the Trial Chamber’s finding that “Veselin Sljivananin had
from Mile MrkSi¢ temporary de jure authority to do what was necessary to fulfil the task [of the
hospital evacuation, the triage and selection of war crime suspects removed from the hospital on
20 November 1991, their transport and security, and the evacuation of civilians], and de jure
powers to give orders to the forces used for this task, including relevantly military police”.>'? In
reaching this finding, the Trial Chamber considered the testimony of Captain Vukosavljevi¢ to the
effect that a commander could pass his authority to a security organ for a specific purpose under
Article 6 of the Regulations on the Responsibility of the Land Army Corps Command in

- 313
Peacetime.

92. However, the Appeals Chamber further recalls that the Trial Chamber also found that the
security organ’s de jure authority over the military police did not encompass the power of ultimate
command over them, but rather an authority which “in certain circumstances [could] take the form
of a working arrangement by which the commander could legitimately leave the routine
management and control of the military police to the security organ in connection with a specific
task with which the security organ has been entrusted”.”'* As a result, Mrk3i¢’s order to withdraw
the JNA troops which ended Sljivandanin’s delegated responsibility>'> would also have removed
Sljivanéanin’s de jure authority over the military police. Further, the Appeals Chamber recalls that
even if that authority had not been terminated by Mrksic’s order, the Trial Chamber found that “the
security organ [had] the de jure ability to issue orders to the military police, subject always to the
overriding authority of the commander of the unit”.*'® Thus, in accordance with the Rules of

Service of the Security Organs, MrkSi¢’s order to withdraw the military police of 80 mtbr of the

*'2 Trial Judgement, para. 400.

*3 Trial Judgement, para. 399. The Appeals Chamber notes that it is clear from Article 6 of the Regulations on the
Responsibility of the Land Army Corps in Peacetime that Mrk3i¢ could delegate the responsibility to Sljivancanin: “The
commander may authorize certain officers from the command to command units and institutions of branches services,
but the commander shall continue to bear responsibility for the situation in these units, and for the work of the officers
to whom he transferred some of his rights” (Exhibit P580, “Regulations on the Responsibility of the Land Army Corps
in Peacetime, SFRY, 19907).

*' Trial Judgement, para. 122.

!5 Trial Judgement, para. 673. T ‘\"
*19 Trial Judgement, para. 125. See also Trial Judgement, para. 122.
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JNA from Ovéara would have prevailed over an order by Sljivanéanin instructing those same troops

to remain in place, or for reinforcements to be brought.

93. Having said this, the Appeals Chamber considers that even though Sljivanganin no longer
had de jure authority over the military police deployed at Ovcara, had he ordered the military police
not to withdraw, these troops may well have, in effect, obeyed his order to remain there,
considering he had been originally vested with the authority for the entire evacuation of the
Vukovar Hospital and entrusted with responsibility for protecting the prisoners of war. In particular,
Sljivanéanin could have informed the military police deployed at Ovéara that Mrksi¢’s order was in
breach of the overriding obligation under the laws and customs of war to protect the prisoners of

war, and thus constituted an illegal order.

we sy

94. Indeed, issuing an order contrary to Mrksi¢’s to the military police of the 80 mtbr was a
course of action that would have required Sljivan¢anin to go beyond the scope of his de jure
authority, which had been effectively removed by virtue of Mrksi¢ withdrawal order.’!’
Nonetheless, the illegality of Mrksi¢’s order required Sljivan&anin to do so. To further support this
conclusion, the Appeals Chamber recalls the analysis in the Celebici Trial Judgement which implies
that in the context of preventing the commission of a war crime, an officer may be expected to act

beyond the strict confines of his de jure authority:

Likewise, the finding in the High Command case that a commander may be held criminally liable
for failing to prevent the execution of an illegal order issued by his superiors, which has been
passed down to his subordinates independent of him, indicates that legal authority to direct the
actions of subordinates is not seen as an absolute requirement for the imposition of command
responsibility. Similarly, the finding in the Toyoda case, whereby the tribunal rejected the alleged
importance of what it called the "theoretical” division between operational and administrative
authority, may be seen as supporting the view that commanders are under an obligation to take
action to prevent the commission of war crimes by troops under their control despite a lack of
formal authority to do so. An officer with only operational and not administrative authority does
not have formal authority to take administrative action to uphold discipline, yet in the view of the
tribunal in the Toyoda case; "[t]he responsibility for discipline in the situation facing the battle
comm%r;der cannot, in the view of practical military men, be placed in any hands other than his
own.”

Although the Trial Chamber in Celebici discussed this in the context of superior responsibility, the
Appeals Chamber considers that the principle that an officer may be required, within the limits of
his capacity to act, to go beyond his de jure authority to counteract an illegal order is equally

applicable to the present case.

95. This principle is reflected in article 21 of the military regulations of the JNA, which states

not only that a military officer shall be liable for violations of the laws of war by his subordinates

*'7 See supra paras 90-92. T M

31 Celebici Trial J udgement, para. 373 (footnotes omitted). See also Celebici Appeal Judgement, para. 195.
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but also when “other units or individuals were planning the commission of such violations, and, at a
time when it was still possible to prevent their commission, failed to take measures to prevent such
violations”.*!® In fact, when asked by the Prosecution at trial about the scope of this provision,
Sljivan¢anin responded that it implied that “[a]n officer is duty bound to intervene right away, as
soon as he gets wind of any sort of suspicion at all”.**°

96. Being aware through Sljivanéanin of the illegality of Mrksi¢’s order, it is likely that the
military police at Ov&ara would have obeyed Sljivanéanin’s order to remain in place. After all, in
contrast to TOs and paramilitary forces who generally lacked military discipline and strong
leadership and who harboured feelings of extreme animosity towards their enemy, “the JNA was, in
the main, a disciplined military force with a strong leadership which had an understanding of the
legal responsibilities of the JNA towards the prisoners of war”.”?! Thus, the Appeals Chamber
considers that the possibility was open to Sljivan¢anin to inform the members of the military police
of the 80 mtbr present at Ovcara of the illegal nature of Mrk3i¢’s order and to try to compel them to

stay.

97. To succeed, the Prosecution, “must show that [Sljivananin’s] omission had a substantial
effect on the crime in the sense that the crimes would have been substantially less likely had
[Sljivancanin] acted”.*** In this regard, the Appeals Chamber considers that had Sljivancanin
compelled the military police of the 80 mtbr to stay at Ovcara, the murder of the prisoners of war
would have been substantially less likely, as the withdrawal of these troops “had an immediate and
direct effect on the commission of the murders”.*”® This conclusion is further borne out by the
following Trial Chamber’s findings. First, the Trial Chamber held that the presence of the JNA
guards at Ovcara that day had provided some restraint (albeit inconsistent and at times not effective)
against the TOs’ and paramilitary forces’ hatred and desire for revenge against the prisoners of war,
and established that “[t]he withdrawal of the JNA guards removed this one restraint”.’?*
Furthermore, the Trial Chamber concluded that it was only after the final withdrawal of the military
police of 80 mtbr from Ovcara, which enabled the TOs and paramilitaries to have unrestrained

access to the prisoners of war who had been left in their control, that murder became a likely

*!% Exhibit P396, “SFRY Regulations on the Application of the Rules of International Law of War in the Armed Forces,
19887, Article 21. See also AT. 235.

320 Veselin Sljivanéanin, T. 13758-13759: “Q. Let’s look at the core section or the core of Article 21. It says, in relation
to planning the commission of such violations: °... and at a time when it was still possible to prevent their commission.’
What that means, I'd suggest, is if a criminal act has commenced, and there is the responsibility of stopping that
criminal act continuing, Article 21 puts a duty upon such an officer to intervene. That's correct, isn't it? A. An officer is
duty-bound to intervene right away, as soon as he gets wind of any sort of suspicion at all”.

2! Trial Judgement, para. 620.

22 AT. 169.

303
" Trial Judgement, para. 620. ‘
*** Trial Judgement, para. 620. T \4
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occurrence.’> It follows that as long as the JNA troops were present, that might have kept the TOs
and paramilitaries at bay3 26 and prevented the mistreatment of the prisoners of war from escalating

into killing.*”’

98. Regarding other means available to Sljivan¢anin to fulfil his duty towards the prisoners of
war, at the appeals hearing the Prosecution acknowledged that: “what measures, what powers may
have been available to him, may have altered, may have changed somewhat, given that he was now
no longer — at [the] moment that the [withdrawal] order was given, he was now no longer acting
under Mrksic's specific delegated authority with all of its additional powers and authorities that he
was given™.’?® However, the Prosecution further submitted that at the very least, Sljivancanin
should have reported through his chain of command directly to General Vasiljevi¢ in the SSNO, the
likelihood that murder would occur if the JNA were to withdraw and the prisoners left in the sole
custody of this vengeful group, or could have persuaded Mrksi¢ to abort the order to withdraw the
JNA troops.”® The Appeals Chamber concurs with this submission. Had his attempts to persuade
Mrksi¢ not been successful, when Sljivancanin telephoned Belgrade in order to speak to General

Vasiljevi¢, he could have sought the General’s assistance on the matter.

99.  The Appeals Chamber has found that the possibility was open to Sljivanéanin to inform the
members of the military police of the 80 mtbr present at Ovcara of the illegal nature of Mrksi¢’s

order and to request them to stay.>! Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber finds that the requirement

325 Trial Judgement, para. 672.

2 See AT. 73, 87.

**7 The Appeals Chamber notes the Defence’s submission to the effect that: “[t]he military police of the 80" Brigade
was the buffer in whose presence the members of the TO could not jeopardize the lives of the prisoners on that
afternoon”. AT. 275.

8 AT. 234.

2 AT. 234-235.

** Trial Judgement, para. 389. In the Trial Chamber’s account Sljivanéanin: “spoke to General Vasiljevic, or a colonel
who was on duty in Belgrade, about documents collected from the [National Guards Corps] shelter”.

Btisa principle of international humanitarian law that subordinates are bound not to obey manifestly illegal orders or
orders that they knew were illegal. See Hostage Case (United States v. Wilhelm List et al., Trials of War Criminals, Vol.
XI, p. 1236): “[T]he general rule is that members of the armed forces are bound to obey only the lawful orders of their
commanding officers and they cannot escape criminal liability by obeying a command which violates international law
and outrages fundamental concepts of justice”. See also Erdemovi¢ 1996 Sentencing Judgement, para. 18 (“Although
the accused did not challenge the manifestly illegal order he was allegedly given, the Trial Chamber would point out
that according to the case-law referred to, in such an instance, the duty was to disobey rather than to obey.”), fn. 12
(“Trial of Rear-Admiral Nisuke Masuda and four others of the Imperial Japanese Navy, Jaluit Atoll Case, U.S. Military
Commission, U.S. Naval Air Base, Kwajalein Island, Kwajalein Atoll, Marshall Islands, 7-13 December 1945, Case
No. 6, LRT.W.C, Vol I, pp. 74-76, pp. 79-80. See also Trial of Wilkelm List and Others, U.S. Military Tribunal,
Nuremberg, 8 July 1947-19 February 1948, LR.T.W.C., Case No. 47, Vol. VIII, pp. 50-52 [...].); Mrda Sentencing
Judgement, para. 67 (“As to the related issue of superior orders, Article 7(4) of the Statute states that ‘[t]he fact that an
accused person acted pursuant to an order of a government or of a superior [...] may be considered in mitigation of
punishment if the Tribunal determines that justice so requires.” [...] [Tlhe orders were so manifestly unlawful that
Darko Mrda must have been well aware that they violated the most elementary laws of war and the basic dictates of
humanity. The fact that he obeyed such orders, as opposed to acting on his own initiative, does not merit mitigation of

punishment.”). T M
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that Sljivacanin had the ability to act but failed to do so, which is a component of the actus reus for

aiding and abetting by omission, has been fulfilled.

100. It further finds that had Sljivancanin been successful in securing the return of the military
police to Ovcara they would likely have been able to regain control of the hangar at Ov¢ara and of
the prisoners of war held therein. With the prisoners of war once again under the protection of the
military police, their killings would have been substantially less likely. The Appeals Chamber thus
finds that Sljivanéanin’s failure to act pursuant to his duty under the laws and customs of war

substantially contributed to the murder of the prisoners of war.
5. Conclusion

101. The Appeals Chamber recalls that it has found that the only reasonable inference available
on the evidence is that Sljivananin learned of the withdrawal order at his meeting with Mrkgi¢
upon his return to Negoslavci on the night of 20 November 1991. Moreover, the Appeals Chamber
concurs with the Prosecution’s submission that Sljivancanin knew that TOs and paramilitaries were
capable of killing, and that if no action was taken “there was a real likelihood that the violence
would escalate just as it had at Velepromet the night before and that the TOs and the paramilitaries
would succeed in fully satisfying their revenge and kill the prisoners [of war]”.**? Accordingly,
Sljivanéanin knew that following the withdrawal of the military police the killing of the prisoners of

war was probable and that his inaction assisted the TOs and paramilitaries.

102. The Appeals Chamber further found that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that
Sljivanéanin’s duty to protect the prisoners of war came to an end upon MrkSic’s order to withdraw
the military police of the 80 mtbr from Ovéara. Finally, it found that Sljivanéanin’s failure to act

pursuant to his duty substantially contributed to the killing of the prisoners of war.

103.  For the foregoing reasons, the Appeals Chamber finds, Judge Pocar and Judge Vaz
dissenting, that all the requirements for a conviction for aiding and abetting murder by omission
have been met, and is satisfied beyond reasonable doubt that the Prosecution has shown that, when
account is taken of the errors committed by the Trial Chamber, all reasonable doubt concerning
Sljivanéanin’s guilt has been eliminated. As a result, the Appeals Chamber, Judge Vaz dissenting,
quashes the Trial Chamber’s acquittal and finds, pursuant to Articles 3 and 7(1) of the Statute,
Judge Pocar and Judge Vaz dissenting, Sljivan¢anin guilty under Count 4 of the Indictment for

aiding and abetting the murder of 194 individuals identified in the Schedule to the Trial Judgement.

32 See AT. 218-219. s M
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IV. SLJIVANCANIN’S APPEAL

104.  On 28 August 2008, Sljivan¢anin filed an amended notice of appeal setting forth six grounds
of appeal against the Trial Judgement and requesting the Appeals Chamber to reverse the Trial

Judgement and find him not guilty under Count 7 of the Indictment (torture as a violation of the

333 or in the alternative reduce the sentence

334

laws and customs of war under Article 3 of the Statute),
of five years’ imprisonment imposed by the Trial Chamber.”" Under his first ground of appeal,
Sljivanéanin argues that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he was present at Ov¢ara on
20 November 1991.%* His second ground of appeal alleges that the Trial Chamber erred in law and
in fact in its reliance on aiding and abetting by omission.** Sljivanéanin’s third ground of appeal
posits that the Trial Chamber erred by finding that he was in charge of the evacuation of the
Vukovar hospital and thus that he owed a legal duty to the prisoners of war at Ov&ara.”’ In his
fourth ground of appeal, Sljivanéanin argues that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he must
have witnessed the mistreatment of the prisoners of war at Ov&ara.>*® Sljivanéanin’s fifth ground of
appeal posits that the Trial Chamber erred by finding that his omission substantially contributed to
the commission of the crimes and that he must have been aware that through his omission he
facilitated the commission of the crimes.’* Finally, in his sixth ground of appeal, which will be
discussed in the sentencing section,™*® he argues that the Trial Chamber erred by imposing an

excessive sentence.>*!

A. First Ground of Appeal: Sljivancanin’s Presence at Ovéara on 20 November 1991

105.  Sljivanéanin argues under his first ground of appeal that the Trial Chamber erred at
paragraphs 377 to 386 of the Trial Judgement in finding that he was present in Ové&ara on the

afternoon of 20 November 1991.*** He contends that the Trial Chamber erred in: (1) relying

exclusively on the testimony of Witness PO09 which is “vitiated in many respects”;*** (2) failing to

consider the evidence that he was elsewhere that afternoon;*** (3) failing to properly consider the

¢.345
é:

testimony of Witnesses P014, Vojnovi¢ and Panié;”™ and (4) failing to consider evidence to the

**3 Sljivanéanin Notice of Appeal, para. 36.

3 Sljivan¢anin Notice of Appeal, para. 38.

*% Sljivancanin Notice of Appeal, paras 7-12.

*% Sljivan¢anin Notice of Appeal, paras 13-16.

**7 Sljivancanin Notice of Appeal, paras 17-22.

>3 Sljivancanin Notice of Appeal, paras 23-27.

 Sljivanéanin Notice of Appeal, paras 28-30.

0 See infra Section VI: “Appeals Against Sentence”.

**! Sljivancanin Notice of Appeal, paras 31-35.

> Sljivanéanin Notice of Appeal, para. 7; Sljivanéanin’s Appeal Brief, paras 7, 19.
**3 Sljivan&anin Notice of Appeal, para. 7 (A). T M
*** Sljivan¢anin Notice of Appeal, para. 7 (B).
33 Sljivancanin Notice of Appeal, para. 7 (C).
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contrary by other witnesses.**® He submits that the Trial Chamber convicted him under Count 7 of
the Indictment based solely on his presence in Ov€ara on the afternoon of 20 November 1991 and
thus, should the Appeals Chamber accept that he was elsewhere, he cannot be found responsible for

having aided and abetted the torture of prisoners of war at the hangar at Ovéara that day.**’

106. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber properly assessed the evidence before it,

provided a reasoned opinion in support of its analysis, and that “Sljivancanin’s attempt to have the
Appeals Chamber [weigh] this evidence anew should be rejected”.**® It contends that Sljivanéanin

has not shown that no reasonable trier of fact could have found that he was present in Ov&ara on

20 November 1991, and that the Trial Chamber addressed not only Witness P009’s credibility and

reliability in substance but also weighed his testimony against the totality of the evidence.’*

Further, the Prosecution avers that Sljivanéanin partly repeats arguments already made at trial,**

substitutes its own interpretation of the evidence,®'

2

or merely asserts that the Trial Chamber

. . 35
ignored relevant evidence.

1. The Trial Chamber’s reliance on Witness PO09’s testimony

107.  Sljivancanin argues that the Trial Chamber solely relied on the evidence provided by
Witness P009°> whereas this evidence was “vitiated”.** He contends that the Trial Chamber:
(a) failed to consider the testimony of Witness Hajdar Dodaj; (b) erred in finding that Witness
P009’s identification of Sljivanéanin is strengthened by his “previous sightings”; and (c) failed to
consider Witness PO09’s credibility and his motivations to testify which impaired the reliability of

. . 35
his evidence.>>

(a) The Trial Chamber’s alleged failure to consider the evidence of Witness Hajdar Dodaj

108.  Sljivancanin argues that the Trial Chamber failed to weigh the testimony of Witness PO09
against that of Witness Hajdar Dodaj,”*® who was present in Ovcara at the same time and place as

Witness PO09 and testified that Sljivananin was not present.”” He contends that, had the Trial

3¢ Sljivan¢anin Notice of Appeal, para. 7 (D). See also AT. 126-127.

**7 Sljivan&anin Notice of Appeal, paras §8-12.

** Prosecution Respondent’s Brief, para. 9. See also Prosecution Respondent’s Brief, paras 12, 16.

** Prosecution Respondent’s Brief, para. 11.

3% Prosecution Respondent’s Brief, para. 14, citing Sljivanéanin Appeal Brief, paras 58-59, 139-151.

! Prosecution Respondent’s Brief, para. 14, citing Sljivan&anin Appeal Brief, paras 112-120, 160-165.

*2 Prosecution Respondent’s Brief, para. 15, citing Sljivanganin Appeal Brief, paras 55-56, 69, 75-86, 99-110, 152-156,
158, 160-164, 175, 180-181.

*>3 Sljivan¢anin Appeal Brief, paras 42, 50.

334 §ljivan(':am'n Appeal Brief, paras 50, 62.

% Sljivancanin Appeal Brief, para. 62.

¢ Sljivantanin Appeal Brief, paras 64, 127, 129-130. See also SljivanZanin Brief in Reply, para. 3; AT. 132-133, 207-
209.

7 Sljivancanin Appeal Brief, para. 65. See also Sljivancanin Appeal Brief, paras 77, 79.
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Chamber carefully considered Witness Hajdar Dodaj’s testimony, it would have been left with a
reasonable doubt as to Sljivandanin’s presence in Ov¢ara in the afternoon of 20 November 1991.>%
The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber considered Witness Hajdar Dodaj’s testimony in
relation to gljivanéanin’s presence, albeit not vis-g-vis Witness P009’s testimony, and thus
Sljivanéanin’s argument lacks merit.**

109. The Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber properly considered the evidence
proffered by Witness Hajdar Dodaj in reaching its finding that Sljivan¢anin was present in Ovcara
on the afternoon of 20 November 1991.%%° In particular, it took into account that he testified that he
did not see Sljivan¢anin in Ovéara that day.*®' Sljivantanin’s argument that the Trial Chamber
found Witness Hajdar Dodaj’s testimony “persuasive”, and hence should have relied on it not only
in relation to Witness Zlatko Zlogdleja’s testimony but also in relation to Witness P009’s
testimony, is misplaced.*®® The Trial Chamber was aware that a number of witnesses who were
brought to the barracks on the buses from the hospital, amongst them Hajdar Dodaj, had testified
that they did not see Sljivanéanin at the barracks on 20 November 1991.3%% However, the Trial
Chamber concluded that given that the prisoners on the buses had been threatened, verbally abused
and mistreated by TO members and paramilitaries milling around the buses, these “prisoners kept
on the buses were not in a good position to notice all persons that at some time appeared near the
buses™.*** The foregoing illustrates that the Trial Chamber properly considered Witness Hajdar
Dodaj’s evidence in relation to Sljivanéanin’s presence in Ovcara. However, it was perfectly within
the Trial Chamber’s discretion to rely on Witness P009’s testimony rather than on the testimony of
Witness Hajdar Dodaj. Further, Sljivan¢anin’s assertion that Witness Hajdar Dodaj was in a better
position than Witness PO09 to observe the situation in Ov&ara®® is unsubstantiated and contradicts
the evidence before the Trial Chamber. The only argument Sljivananin makes in this respect is that
Witness Hajdar Dodaj “stood right beside the buses”.*® Yet, as the Prosecution correctly notes,*®’
Witness PO09 came close enough to Sljivanganin to greet him.**® For these reasons, Sljivanganin’s

arguments are dismissed.

3% Sljivancanin Appeal Brief, para. 80.

> Prosecution Respondent’s Brief, paras 18-19. See also AT. 188-190.

% See Trial Judgement, paras 384, 386.

*! Trial Judgement, para. 384, fn. 1537, citing Hajdar Dodaj, T. 5664.

*2 Sljivancanin Appeal Brief, para. 74, citing Trial Judgement, para. 386, fn. 1537, See also Sljivan¢anin Brief in
Reply, paras 2-4.

363 Trial Judgement, para. 369.

** Trial Judgement, para. 369.

*%% Sljivan¢anin Appeal Brief, para. 78.

3% Sljivancanin Appeal Brief, para. 78.

*7 Prosecution Respondent’s Brief, paras 21-22. T M
*%* Trial Judgement, para. 377, fn. 1517, citing PO09, T. 6165, 6284.
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(b) The Trial Chamber’s finding that Witness PO09’s identification is strengthened by his

“previous sightings”

110. Sljivancanin argues that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that Witness P009’s
identification of Sljivan¢anin at Ovéara in the afternoon of 20 November 1991 is strengthened by
his “previous sightings”.369 This is so, he contends, because Witness P09 did not see Sljivandanin
at the Vukovar hospital on 19 November 1991°7° or at the JNA barracks on 20 November 1991.3”!
The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber’s findings were not unreasonable and hence that

Sljivanéanin’s arguments should be dismissed.>”?

111. The Appeals Chamber finds that Sljivantanin’s arguments do not show that “the Trial
Chamber failed to appropriately consider and weigh Witness P009’s testimony™.>”> Witness P009
testified that, on 20 November 1991, he saw a JNA officer at the JNA barracks, whom he later
identified as Sljivanéanin. Witness P09 testified that he recognised Sljivanéanin because even
though he had seen him in front of the hospital on the preceding day for just about a couple of
minutes, Sljivananin “made a ‘huge impression’ on him”.*™ Witness P009 realised that the officer
he had seen in front of the hospital and at other locations was Sljivancanin, a few days later when
he watched a news programme.’” The Trial Chamber noted that Sljivancanin’s testimony
376

confirmed that he was present in front of the hospital in the afternoon of 19 November 1991.
Sljivanéanin asserts that despite having accepted this testimony regarding the time of his presence
at the Vukovar hospital, the Trial Chamber “failed to draw the proper inference that [Witness P009]
could not therefore have seen him [there] on that day”.>”’” This argument must fail since “there is no
general rule of evidence which precludes acceptance in part of the statement of a witness if good
cause exists for this distinction”.*”® Concerning Witness P009’s “sighting” of Sljivancanin at the
JNA barracks on 20 November 1991, Witness P009 testified that he saw §ljivanéanin standing
about 15 metres from the buses containing prisoners removed from the hospital, talking to at least
two other JNA officers. After Witness PO09 noticed that someone he knew was on one of the buses,
he approached the JNA officers (including Sljivancanin) to ask for permission to get on that same
bus. He boarded the bus, talked to his acquaintance, then disembarked and approached the officers

again, to enquire whether something could be done to release that person; on both occasions he

>* Sljivanéanin Appeal Brief, paras 62, 82. See also AT. 126.

*70 Sljivanéanin Appeal Brief, paras 83-91.

*"! Sljivananin Appeal Brief, paras 92-115.

372 Prosecution Respondent’s Brief, para. 23.

°7 Sljivan¢anin Appeal Brief, para. 88.

3™ Trial Judgement, para. 367.

*” Trial Judgement, para. 367.

*7° Trial Judgement, para. 367 citing $ljivanéanin, T. 13585-13587. -
*77 Sljivancanin Appeal Brief, para. 89. }
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came very close to Sljivan¢anin.*” In this context, the Trial Chamber relied on the huge impression
Sljivanéanin made on Witness P009 and Sljivan¢anin’s distinctiveness (which allowed Witness
P009 to remember a number of details regarding Sljivan¢anin’s appearance).”*® The Trial Chamber

found that:

[tihe reliability of the identification of Veselin Sljivandanin is strengthened by his previous
sightings of the Accused and the big impression he had made on P009, which in the Chamber’s
assessment is entirely consistent with the manifestly distinctive physical build, bearing and manner
of the Accused.*®

It follows that it was within the Trial Chamber’s discretion to evaluate Witness P009’s “previous
sightings” of Sljivanéanin as it did, and to consider whether the witness, when his testimony was
taken as a whole, was reliable.*®* The Trial Judgement illustrates that the Trial Chamber carefully
considered the evidence provided by Witnesses Hadjar Dodaj, P030, P031, LtCol Panic, Major
Vukasinovié¢, Captain Susi¢, P014, Dragutin Berghofer, and LtCol Vojnovi€ in accepting Witness
P009’s evidence that he saw Sljivananin at Ov&ara on 20 November 1991.3%3 The Appeals
Chamber thus finds that Sljivanéanin fails to demonstrate that the Trial Chamber committed any
error of fact which occasioned a miscarriage of justice at paragraph 383 of the Trial Judgement.

Accordingly, Sljivantanin’s arguments are dismissed.

(c) The Trial Chamber’s alleged failure to consider Witness P009’s credibility and

motivations which impaired the reliability of his evidence

(i) Reliability of Witness PO09’s description of Sljiivancanin

112.  Sljivan&anin challenges the reliability of his description by Witness P009 as a “tall officer,

in camouflage uniform, wearing a Tito cap and moustaches”*%*

since such description corresponds
exactly to his appearance on 20 November 1991 in video recordings broadcasted widely in the
media for years, seen by Witness PO09 and other witnesses,*®> and therefore “[alny average viewer
could, on the basis of this video footage, give a ‘precise and a clear’ description of [his]

appearance” as Witness P009 did.”® He submits that identification evidence should leave no doubt

*7 Kunarac et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 228.

3 Trial Judgement, para. 368.

** Trial Judgement, para. 367.

3*1 Trial Judgement, para. 383.

3% Cf. Celebici Appeal Judgement, para. 498.

** See Trial Judgement, paras 369-383.

*** Sljivanéanin Appeal Brief, para. 119, citing P09, T. 6141.

%% Sljivanéanin Appeal Brief, para. 123. T (\7
*¢ Sljivanéanin Appeal Brief, para. 124.
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as to its reliability and that in order to exclude any doubt Witness PO09 should have been able to

give additional details in support of his description, which he did not.**’

113.  The Prosecution responds that Witness P009’s description of Sljivantanin is reliable: the
Trial Chamber reasonably found that the huge impression Sljivanéanin made on him enhanced his

% and that his description is

ability to remember a number of details about his appearance,
consistent with the equivalent description, provided by other witnesses, which Sljivanéanin himself
finds reliable.”® Further, it responds that such argument, if accepted, would imply that “any
accused with sufficient notoriety to appear in the media could never be identified by any witness

exposed to the media”.**

114.  The Trial Chamber found that “[t]he distinctiveness of [Sljivan¢anin] apparently enhanced
P009’s ability to remember a number of details of his appearance, such as his camouflage uniform,
Tito hat and a moustache, which tally with the description of Veselin Sljivan¢anin given by other
witnesses and films recording him at that time”.**' Witness P009’s description of Sljivancanin was
also corroborated by other witnesses as Sljivan¢anin himself admits.*** The fact that Witness PO09
and other witnesses had seen Sljivandanin on video footage cannot in itself undermine the Trial
Chamber’s assessment of the reliability of their description of Sljivanéanin’s appearance or the

credibility of their testimony. Accordingly, Sljivan¢anin’s arguments are dismissed.

(i1) Witness PO09’s credibility

115.  Sljivancanin argues that the Trial Chamber “erred by failing to consider the motivations
[Wlitness PO09 could have had in testifying”.>*® He submits that Witness P09 had “strong reasons
to contend that Veselin Sljivan¢anin was an active participant in the events which took place at
Ovdara in the afternoon of 20 November 199173 including that Witness P009 “personally and
directly participated in some of the events which occurred before and during the time covered by
the Indictment”.** Sljivanéanin further submits that Witness PO09’s contention that he was in
Ovcara that day to help those in the buses cannot be verified as those who could testify to that effect

6
d,39

are dea and his account of what happened in Ovéara that day differs completely from other

*%7 Sljivanganin Appeal Brief, para. 125.

*% Prosecution Respondent’s Brief, para. 45.

*% Prosecution Respondent’s Brief, paras 46-47.

** Prosecution Respondent’s Brief, para. 48.

*! Trial Judgement, para. 367, citing P009, T. 6122-6123.

%2 §ljivancanin Appeal Brief, para. 119,

** Sljivanéanin Appeal Brief, para. 145.

** Sljivanéanin Appeal Brief, para. 144. See also Sljivan&anin Brief in Reply, para. 32.

3 Sljivan&anin Appeal Brief, para. 135. See also Sljivantanin Appeal Brief, para. 141, in which Sljivan¢anin argues
that Witness PO0O9 was “deeply involved in events covered by the Indictment”.

39 §ljivan6anin Appeal Brief, para. 136. See also Sljivancanin Brief in Reply, para. 32(d). ‘-T M

49
Case No.: IT-95-13/1-A 5 May 2009



3685

Prosecution’s witnesses testimony and some of the Trial Chamber’s findings.*’ The Prosecution

responds that “there is no evidence that [Witness PO09] was a perpetrator of any of the crimes

described in the Indictment”.>*®

116. The Appeals Chamber finds that Sljivandanin only reiterates arguments made in his Final
Trial Brief.”® Among those arguments previously advanced are the following: that Witness P009’s

400

testimony amounts to a “very suitable story both for himself and for his status™,”" that “those who

could confirm his story about forcible recruitment [and his] accidental appearance at all the places
where he was present on 19 and 20.11.1991 are all dead”,*"! and that it “completely differs from the
testimony of all the other witnesses who are testifying about that same period”.*”> The Appeals
Chamber recalls that an appellant cannot hope to see his appeal succeed by simply repeating or

1,403 unless he can demonstrate that the Trial

referring to arguments that did not succeed at tria
Chamber’s rejection of them constituted such an error as to warrant the intervention of the Appeals
Chamber.** Sljivancanin fails to do so in the present case. Accordingly, Sljivanéanin’s arguments

are dismissed.

2. The Trial Chamber’s alleged failure to consider evidence that he was not in Ov&ara

117.  Sljivanéanin argues that the Trial Chamber failed to consider evidence that he was in a

1.405

location other than Ovcara on 20 November 199 He argues that the Trial Chamber failed to

compare the following evidence when it weighed his testimony:**®

(1) that he was interviewed by
Sky News at around 13:00-14:00 hours;407 (i1) that his testirnony,408 that of Prosecution’s
witnesses*”” and the fact that he was in charge of the evacuation* demonstrate that he was at the

Vukovar hospital when the convoy with the wounded, sick and medical staff departed to Sremska

*7 §ljivanéanin Appeal Brief, para. 137.

% Prosecution Respondent’s Brief, para. 54.

% Sljivan¢anin Final Trial Brief, paras 690-707.

“% Sljivan¢anin Final Trial Brief, para. 700.

“U Sljivan¢anin Final Trial Brief, para. 697.

“2 Sljivancanin Final Trial Bricf, para. 693.

% See Nahimana et al. Appeal Judgment, para. 395; Kajelijeli Appeal Judgement, para. 6.

% Kajelijeli Appeal Judgement, para. 6, referring to Niyitegeka Appeal Judgement, para. 9. See also Blaskic Appeal
Judgement, para. 13; Rutaganda Appeal Judgement, para. 18.

“%5 Sljivancanin Appeal Brief, paras 56, 148. See also AT. 127.

“% Sljivancanin Appeal Brief, paras 148, 153.

*7 Sljivancanin Appeal Brief, para. 151, citing Trial Judgement, para. 214.

“® Sljivanéanin Appeal Brief, para. 149, citing T.13568.

409 Sljivancanin Appeal Brief, para. 151, citing Trinej Bucko, T. 2932-2933; Mara Bucko, T. 2797-2798; P012, T. 3663.
See also AT. 137-138.

*19 Sljivancanin Appeal Bricf, para. 152. T M
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Mitrovica; and (iii) that the Trial Chamber found that the convoy left the hospital at around 14:00-
14:30 hours.*"!

118. The Prosecution responds that SljivanGanin’s arguments lack merit and should be
dismissed.*'? It further responds that the Trial Judgement considered the evidence relied upon by
Sljivan¢anin and adds that, considering the proximity of the two locations, Sljivantanin could well
have been at the Vukovar hospital when the convoy left at about 14:00-14:30 hours and then at
Ov¢ara at about 14:30-15:00 hours.*"

119. The Appeals Chamber finds that the fact that Sljivanéanin was interviewed by Sky News
prior to the convoy leaving the hospital is irrelevant. The Appeals Chamber further finds that
Sljivan¢anin’s arguments that the evidence before the Trial Chamber demonstrates that he was at
the hospital when the convoy left do not show that the Trial Chamber erred in accepting the
testimony of Witness PO09 that he saw §ljivanéanjn at Ovcara on 20 November 1991, or that the
Trial Chamber erred in finding that Sljivanéanin “was at Ovéara at about 1430 or 1500 hours” **
First, §ljivanéanin’s arguments do not demonstrate that the Trial Chamber failed to consider other
relevant evidence when it weighed his testimony.415 Indeed, as §ljivanéanin submits, the Trial
Chamber had found that the convoy left the hospital at around 14:00-14:30 hours.*'® It further found
that: (i) Sljivancanin was directing the process of the evacuation of other people from the hospital,
that is, the women and children, elderly and hospital staff and their families; (ii) Sljivancanin talked
to an ICRC representative, following which both were interviewed by the Sky News team; (iii) he
organised a press conference at which he spoke to journalists about the ongoing events; and
(iv) “[h]e was present at the hospital when the convoy with civilians left, that is at about 1400 or
1430 hours”.*'” Second, as part of the evidence he purports to rely upon in his Appeal Brief,
Sljivananin refers to Exhibit P341, an ECMM report on the evacuation of the Vukovar hospital
covering from 19 to 22 November, which he alleges states, regarding the departure of the convoy
on 20 November 1991: “16:00: lived [sic] hospital”.*’® However, the reference “16:00: [left]
hospital” does not concern the convoy but the ECMM monitors.*!? Sljivan&anin’s argument is thus
misleading. Further, Sljivancanin’s arguments do not demonstrate that he could not have left the

Vukovar hospital at 14:00-14:30 hours and arrived at Ovéara at about 14:30-15:00 hours. In light of

*! Sljivanéanin Appeal Brief, para. 150, citing Trial Judgement, para. 213.

2 Prosecution Respondent’s Brief, para. 58.

** Prosecution Respondent’s Brief, paras 59-60. See also AT. 183-184.
“!* Trial Judgement, para. 383.

‘1% See Sljivancanin Appeal Brief, para. 148.

416 See Sljivan¢anin Appeal Brief, para. 150; Trial Judgement, para. 213.
7 Trial Judgement, para. 376.

“1% Sljivancanin Appeal Brief, para. 150.
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the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber finds that Sljivanganin fails to show that the Trial Chamber
committed any error of fact which occasioned a miscarriage of justice at paragraph 383 of the Trial

Judgement. Accordingly, Sljivan¢anin’s arguments are dismissed.

3. The Trial Chamber’s alleged failure to properly consider the testimony of Witnesses P014,

Vojnovié and Panié

120.  Sljivan¢anin argues that the Trial Chamber failed to properly consider the testimony of

Witnesses P014, Vojnovié and Pani¢,*?°

who testified they did not see him at Ovcara in the
afternoon of 20 November 1991.%*! Specifically, he argues that the Trial Chamber’s finding that
Witness PO14 saw Witnesses Pani¢ and Vojnovi¢ discussing with each other contradicts its finding
that Witness PO14 was not present when Witness PO09 said he saw Sljivandanin that afternoon.*??
He therefore submits that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that Witness P014’s testimony did not

call into question that of Witness P009.**

121.  The Prosecution responds that Sljivan¢anin merely repeats arguments he made at trial,*?*
that the Trial Chamber properly evaluated the testimony of Witnesses P014, Vojnovi¢ and Pani¢,**

and that their testimony did not undermine Witness P009’s sighting of Sljivan¢anin at Ov&ara.**

122.  The Appeals Chamber notes that Sljivan¢anin argued at trial that Witnesses P014, Vojnovic
and Pani¢, who were all present in Ov&ara when Witness P0O09 saw Sljivanéanin, testified they did
not see him, and thus that the Trial Chamber could not conclude otherwise.**’ Hence, he already
argued at trial that the Trial Chamber should assess their testimony against that of Witness P009.
However, he does not use the same arguments he raised at trial but rather attempts to show some
contradiction in the Trial Chamber’s findings, and in particular that the Trial Chamber could not
reasonably find that Witness PO14 was not present when Witness PO09 saw Sljivandanin. In this
respect, the Appeals Chamber recalls the following findings by the Trial Chamber concerning the

chronology of events up until the time when Witness P009 testified he saw Sljivancanin:

- The buses arrived in Ov¢ara between 13:30 and 14:30 hours;428

*!* Exhibit P341, “Report on the Evacuation of the Vukovar Hospital, 19 to 22 November 1991, by Dr. Schou, ECMM”,
P 1. See Trial Judgement, para. 212. 5
?% Sljivananin Appeal Brief, paras 58, 155. See also Sljivancanin Brief in Reply, paras 36-37.
“2! Sljivancanin Appeal Brief, paras 156-158. See also AT. 130-131.
“22 Sljivandanin Appeal Brief, para. 159, citing Trial Judgement, para. 381.
*3 Sljivan¢anin Appeal Brief, para. 160.
4% Prosecution Respondent’s Brief, para. 14, fn. 27.
*2% Prosecution Respondent’s Brief, para. 62, citing Trial Judgement, paras 254, 256-262, 378, 380-381, 383.
28 Prosecution Respondent’s Brief, paras 65-66.
“7 §ljivanéanin Final Trial Brief, paras 702-707. —_
“28 Trial Judgement, para. 234. |

52
Case No.: IT-95-13/1-A 5 May 2009



3682

- Sljivanéanin was seen at Ovcara around 14:30-15:00 hours when the buses were still being
unloaded;429
- Witness Vojnovic testified that he arrived in Ovéara at around 14:00-14:30 hours when the

prisoners were passing through the gauntlet in front of the hangar, and remained there until

at least 17:00 hours;43 0

- Witness Pani¢ testified that he arrived in Ovcara at about 15:00 hours after the buses were
unloaded, stayed for 15 to 20 minutes in front of the hangar, and talked to Witness

Vojnovi(f;43 ! Witness Panic testified that he did not see §ljivanéanin at Ovc’:ara;432 and

- Witness PO14 testified he was in Ov¢ara when the prisoners were passing through the
gauntlet in front of the hangar, stayed there for 15-20 minutes until the buses were unloaded,

only came back at around 17:00 hours, and testified he did not see Sljivanéanin.***

123. It follows that the buses were completely unloaded around 15:00 hours. Accordingly,
Witness PO14 must have been in Ov&ara from about 14:40 until 15:00 hours. Witness PO09 testified
that he saw the buses being unloaded and the prisoners of war being placed in the hangar (on this
basis the Trial Chamber then inferred that he must have arrived at Ovéara towards the end of the
process of placing the prisoners of war in the hangar), then went behind the hangar for about
15 minutes, after which he saw §ljivan(:anin.434 As a result, Witness PO09 must have seen
§ljivanéanin around 15:00-15:30 hours, at which time Witness PO14 had left or was leaving Ovc¢ara.
Hence, a reasonable trier of fact could have concluded, as the Trial Chamber did, that Witness PO14

was absent when Witness P009 saw Sljivancanin,**

124.  Sljivanéanin, however, argues that Witness PO14 was actually in Ovéara “even after” the

4
buses were unloaded,**®

which would contradict the Trial Chamber’s finding. In support of his
argument, he relies on Witness’s P014’s accepted testimony that he saw Witnesses Vojnovié and
Pani¢ discuss,*”” which could only imply, considering Witness Pani¢’s testimony that he arrived
after the buses were unloaded, that this discussion occurred after 15:00 hours, and hence that

Witness PO14 was still in Ovéara after 15:00 hours when Witness PO09 saw Sljivan¢anin. While

“ Trial Judgement, paras 257, 383.

9 Trial Judgement, para. 378.

! Trjal Judgement, para. 258.

“2 Trial Judgement, para. 380.

“* Trial Judgement, paras 254, 268, 381.

“* Trial Judgement, para. 377.

> Trial Judgement, para. 381.

4v36 Sljivan¢anin Appeal Brief, para. 159. The relevant portions of paragraph 159 are redacted in the public version of
Sljivancanin’s Appeal Brief. However, the Appeals Chamber considers that these portions do not reveal the identity of
the witness in question and do not disclose any sensitive information.
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such an argument could indeed undermine the Trial Chamber’s conclusion that Witness PO14 was
“absent from the place at the time when P009 says he saw Sljivancanin”,*® it ignores the fact that
the Trial Chamber did not accept this part of Witness Panic¢’s testimony. Rather, the Trial Chamber
found that, regarding the time at which Witness Pani¢ arrived at Ovcara, “[sJome evidence would

suggest [...] that LtCol Pani¢’s visit was earlier than he indicated in his evidence”,* and that he
“may have seen more of the mistreatment of the prisoners of war outside the hangar than he
acknowledged in his evidence in which event his evidence in this respect would not have been
entirely frank, no doubt out of self interest”.*** The Trial Chamber thus considered that Witness
Panic¢ could have been in Ovcara before 15:00 hours and did not exclude the possibility that he had
a discussion with Witness Vojnovi€ on the right hand side of the gauntlet, while the buses were still

d.*! Accordingly, Sljivan¢anin fails to demonstrate that the Trial Chamber’s finding

being unloade
that Witness PO14 was not present when Witness P009 saw Sljivancanin is unreasonable, and also
fails to demonstrate that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that Witness P014’s testimony did not

call into question that of Witness P009.

125.  The Appeals Chamber further underlines that while there may indeed be inconsistencies
within or amongst witnesses’ testimonies before a Trial Chamber, such inconsistencies do not per
se require a reasonable Trial Chamber to reject the evidence as being unreasonable.*** In the present
case, the Trial Chamber noted that the “[f]actual differences in this evidence are obvious” and that
“[n]ot all of them can be resolved”.**> The Trial Chamber did not ignore the inconsistencies before
it; rather its conclusion that Witness P009 saw Sljivandanin in Ovéara was based on the totality of
the evidence before it, including the testimony of Witnesses Vojnovié,*** Pani¢,* and P014.*° In

light of the foregoing, Sljivan&anin’s arguments are dismissed.

4. The Trial Chamber’s failure to consider contrary evidence

126.  Sljivan¢anin contends that the Trial Chamber did not consider the testimonies of several
witnesses present at Ovéara at the relevant time.**’ He argues that: (i) several prisoners of war

testified that he was not in Ovcara but the Trial Chamber only considered the testimony of two of

7 Trial Judgement, para. 254.
8 Trial Judgement, para. 381.
“ Trial Judgement, para. 261.
0 Trial Judgement, para. 262.
“! Trial Judgement, para. 254.
2 Niyitegeka Appeal Judgement, para. 95, citing Kupreskic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 31.
* Trial Judgement, para. 259.
*4 Trial Judgement, para. 378.
*“3 Trial Judgement, para. 380.
*S Trial Judgement, para. 381.

“7 §ljivancanin Appeal Brief, paras 60, 161. T \%) 2

54
Case No.: IT-95-13/1-A 5 May 2009



3680

them, whereas the others (Witnesses P031, PO11, Cakalic’, Karlovi¢) were also present at the
relevant time and provided detailed and reliable testimony;*® (ii) the Trial Chamber ignored the
evidence of Witness P022, a JNA soldier who participated in the beatings, and who knew
Sljivanganin but did not mention seeing him when indicating which JNA officers were in front of
the hangar;**° and (iii) the Trial Chamber ignored the testimony of Witness PO17 who was in front

of the hangar when the buses were unloaded but did not see Sljivan&anin.**

127. The Prosecution responds that a Trial Chamber does not have to refer to the testimony of
every witness on the record, and that Sljivandanin fails to demonstrate why no reasonable trier of
fact could have reached the conclusion that he was in Ové&ara based on the totality of the
evidence.*! It argues that the fact that the witnesses Sljivantanin refers to testified that they did not

see him at Ov€ara does not undermine the Trial Chamber’s reliance on Witness P009’s sightings.*>

128.  With regard to the testimony of prisoners of war present at Ovéara on 20 November 1991, it
is correct, as Sljivan¢anin argues, that the Trial Judgement only expressly mentions the testimony of
Witnesses P030 and Berghofer as not necessarily contradicting that of Witness P009, after
considering that, “in the circumstances, they were in no position to notice the presence of all the

453

JNA officers outside the hangar”.*>> However, the Appeals Chamber recalls that while a Trial

Chamber is required to consider inconsistencies and any explanations offered in respect of them
when weighing the probative value of evidence,** it does not need to individually address them in

the Trial Judgement.**

Thus, the fact that the Trial Chamber did not expressly mention at paragraph
382 of the Trial Judgement the evidence proffered by Witnesses P031, P01 1, Cakali¢ and Karlovi¢
that they did not see §ljivanéanin while in Ovcara, does not in and of itself demonstrate that the
Trial Chamber ignored their testimony. The same reasoning applies to the evidence proffered by
Witnesses PO17 and P022. Moreover, with respect to Witness P022, the Appeals Chamber notes
that the Trial Chamber expressly stated that it had reservations about his testimony and was not
persuaded to rely on it alone*™® “in so far as he identifies others as participants in relation to the
events at OvCara, unless this identification is confirmed by independent evidence which the

Chamber accepts”,*”’ and further concluded after close scrutiny that it would treat other aspects of

** Sijivancanin Appeal Brief, paras 162-165. See also AT. 126, 128-130, 134-136.

9 Sljivan¢anin Appeal Brief, para. 166, citing Trial Judgement, para. 353. See also AT. 210.
450 §ljivanévanin Appeal Brief, para. 167. The Appeals Chamber notes that paragraph 167 is redacted in the public
version of SljivanCanin’s Appeal Brief. However, the Appeals Chamber considers that this paragraph does not reveal
the identity of the witness in question and does not disclose any sensitive information.

“1 prosecution Respondent’s Brief, para. 68.

2 prosecution Respondent’s Brief, para. 73.

** Trial Judgement, para. 382.

454 Niyitegeka Appeal Judgement, para. 96.

> Muhimana Appeal Judgement, para. 58.

6 Trial Judgement, para. 102,

“7 Trial Judgement, para. 348. T l\"
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the evidence of Witness P022 with great care.*® In any case, the fact that the Trial Chamber did
mention in the body of the Trial Judgement the evidence proffered by the prisoners of war*> and by
Witnesses P017 and P022* in relation to the events at Ov&ara that day, demonstrates that it did not
ignore their testimony. Accordingly, Sljivan¢anin’s arguments that the Trial Chamber failed to

consider evidence that he was not in Ov¢ara in the afternoon of 20 November 1991 are dismissed.
5. Conclusion

129. In light of the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber finds that Sljivancanin has not demonstrated
that the Trial Chamber committed any error of law or fact at paragraphs 377 to 386 of the Trial
Judgement. Therefore, Sljivanéanin has not shown that it was unreasonable for the Trial Chamber
to conclude that he was present in Ovcara in the afternoon of 20 November 1991. Accordingly,

Sljivan&anin’s first ground of appeal is dismissed in its entirety.

B. Second Ground of Appeal: Sljivanéanin’s Conviction under Aiding and Abetting

130.  Sljivan¢anin argues that the Trial Chamber erred in law and in fact in convicting him under
Count 7 of the Indictment for aiding and abetting by omission the torture of the prisoners of war at
Ovcara. He contends that: (1) aiding and abetting by omission is not a mode of liability included in

the International Tribunal’s jurisdiction;461

(2) the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he was put on
notice that the Prosecution was relying on this mode of liability;*** and (3) the Trial Chamber erred
in defining the essential elements of this mode of liability, and failed to consider certain
elements.*” Should the Appeals Chamber find that aiding and abetting by omission does not fall
under the International Tribunal’s jurisdiction, Sljivan¢anin requests the Appeals Chamber to
reverse his conviction.*** In the alternative, Sljivanéanin requests the Appeals Chamber to either
quash the conviction® or order a re-trial based on his lack of notice that the Prosecution relied on
this mode of liability.*® Should it find that he was put on notice that the Prosecution’s case relied
on aiding and abetting by omission, he requests the Appeals Chamber to identify the correct

elements of aiding and abetting by omission and apply them to the facts of his case.*?’

% Trial Judgement, para. 348. See also Trial Judgement, paras 346-347, 349.

* See inter alia Trial Judgement, paras 186, 232, 237, 242-244, 297, 597.

460 §ee, respectively, Trial Judgement, paras 240-241, 600; paras 287-288, 294, 342-364, 529.

*! Sljivancanin Notice of Appeal, para. 13(A); §ljivancanin Appeal Brief, paras 176-177. See also AT. 139.
402 Sljivanéam’n Notice of Appeal, para. 13(B); Sljivancanin Appeal Brief, paras 222-238.

*%* Sljivan¢anin Notice of Appeal, para. 13(C); Sljivancanin Appeal Brief, paras 239-249.

** Sljivananin Notice of Appeal, paras 14, 36; Sljivantanin Appeal Brief, paras 250, 509.

465 Sljivan€anin Appeal Brief, paras 221, 510; Sliivanéanin Supplemental Brief in Reply, para. 57.

*% Sljivancanin Notice of Appeal, paras 15, 37; Sljivancanin Appeal Brief, paras 251, 510.

*7 Sljivancanin Notice of Appeal, para. 16; Sljivancanin Appeal Brief, para. 252.
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131.  The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber correctly convicted Sljivancanin for aiding
and abetting by omission the torture of the prisoners of war at Ovéara.*® It submits that the
jurisprudence of both this International Tribunal and the ICTR supports the Trial Chamber’s finding
that aiding and abetting by omission is a recognised mode of liability under Article 7(1) of the
Statute.*® It also contends that the Trial Chamber was correct in finding that Sljivancanin was on

7% and that Sljivan¢anin fails to establish any prejudice in this

notice of this mode of liability
regard.*”! The Prosecution further submits that the Trial Chamber correctly identified the requisite

elements of this mode of liability and properly applied them to the facts.*’?

1. Aiding and abetting by omission under the International Tribunal’s jurisdiction

132.  Sljivanéanin submits that the Trial Chamber erred in convicting him pursuant to Article 7(1)
of the Statute under the mode of liability of aiding and abetting by omission, and that his conviction
should therefore be quashed.*”* He contends that his conviction for aiding and abetting by omission
is “a first” before the International Tribunal*’* and that the Appeals Chamber has never enumerated
in detail the requirements for conviction by omission,*” nor has it indicated whether omission may
form the basis for individual criminal responsibility under this mode of liability.*’® In his view,
aiding and abetting by omission is not included in the Statute of the International Tribunal and was
not recognised as a norm of customary international law in November 1991, and hence his

conviction under this mode of liability is in breach of the principle of legality.*”’

133. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber was correct in finding that aiding and
abetting by omission falls within the jurisdiction of the International Tribunal.*’® It argues that the
jurisprudence of the International Tribunal and the ICTR supports the Trial Chamber’s finding that

aiding and abetting by omission is encompassed under Article 7(1) of the Statute.*”

%% Prosecution Supplemental Respondent’s Brief, paras 2, 4.

499 Prosecution Supplemental Respondent’s Brief, paras 6, 15, 22.

™ Prosecution Respondent’s Brief, paras 77-79.

“7! prosecution Respondent’s Brief, paras 80-82.

2 prosecution Supplemental Respondent’s Brief, para. 23. See also AT. 168.

*7 Sljivancanin Appeal Brief, paras 177-178, 221; Sljivancanin Supplemental Brief in Reply, para. 57.

*7* §ljivan¢anin Appeal Brief, paras 176, 198; Sljivancanin Supplemental Brief in Reply, paras 12, 19.

> Sljivananin Appeal Brief, paras 176, 192.

476 Sljivandanin Appeal Brief, paras 176, 192-196; Sljivancanin Supplemental Brief in Reply, paras 12-19.

“77 Sljivan¢anin Appeal Brief, paras 199-221. See also AT. 139-145, 203-207. At the appeals hearing, Sljivan¢anin
highlighted the distinction between omission by a principal perpetrator, omission by a superior under Article 7(3) of the
Statute and aiding and abetting by encouragement and moral support which he submits do fall within the jurisdiction of
the International Tribunal but are different from aiding and abetting by omission.

*78 Prosecution Supplemental Respondent’s Brief, paras 6, 10.

“? Prosecution Supplemental Respondent’s Brief, paras 4-10, 15-17.
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134, The Appeals Chamber recalls that while individual criminal responsibility generally requires
the commission of a positive act, this is not an absolute requirement.*® In particular, the Appeals
Chamber has previously found that “the omission to act where there is a legal duty to act can lead to
individual criminal responsibility under Article 7(1) of the Statute”.**! Moreover, the Appeals
Chamber has consistently found that, in the circumstances of a given case, the actus reus of aiding

and abetting may be perpetrated through an omission.**?

135.  Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber properly considered aiding
and abetting by omission as a recognised mode of liability under the International Tribunal’s

jurisdiction.*?

2. Whether Sljivanéanin was put on notice that the Prosecution relied on aiding and abetting by

omission

136.  Sljivan¢anin submits that he was not put on notice that the Prosecution sought to rely on
aiding and abetting by omission, contrary to his right to be informed of the case against him under
Article 21(4)(a) of the Statute.*®* He argues that this mode of liability was not mentioned in the
Indictment, and was first raised by the Prosecution in its Final Trial Brief.*®® He contends that, to
the extent that “omission” is mentioned in the Indictment, it is generalised*®® and relates to either
culpable omission under Article 7(1) of the Statute which, in any event, was not alleged,” or to his
alleged superior responsibility under Article 7(3) of the Statute.*? Sljivan¢anin further submits that
the Trial Chamber erred by analysing this mode of liability** instead of declining to consider it on
the basis of insufficient notice to the defence, as the Appeals Chamber did in the Brdanin case.**°
He argues that he was prejudiced by this lack of notice, since, had he known that the Prosecution
intended to rely on this mode of liability, he would have challenged the jurisdiction of this

International Tribunal to apply it, and engaged Prosecution witnesses differently.*"!

% Blaskic¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 663.

B Ori¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 43. See also Brdanin Appeal Judgement, para. 274; Gali¢ Appeal Judgement,
para. 175; Simi¢ Appeal Judgement, fn. 259; Blaski¢ Appeal Judgement, paras 47-48, 663, fn. 1385; Tadi¢ Appeal
Judgement, para. 188; Ntagerura et al. Appeal Judgement, paras 334, 370.

82 Blaskic¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 47. See also Nahimana et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 482; Ntagerura et al. Appeal
Judgement, para. 370.

*3 Trial Judgement, paras 553, 662.

“* Sljivancanin Appeal Brief, paras 222-223.

“%* Sljivanéanin Appeal Brief, paras 226, 235.

#% Sljivancanin Brief in Reply, para. 40.

*7 Sljivandanin Appeal Brief, paras 232-233.

*%% Sljivan&anin Brief in Reply, para. 39.

“* Sljivananin Brief in Reply, paras 41-42.

“0 Sljivancanin Appeal Brief, paras 228-231, citing Brdanin Appeal Judgement, paras 274-275; Sljivan¢anin Brief in

Reply, paras 41-42.

! Sljivanéanin Appeal Brief, paras 234-236; $ljivancanin Brief in Reply, paras 45-46.
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137.  The Prosecution contends that, although aiding and abetting by omission was not a principal
theory of liability in its case,*” Sljivanganin was sufficiently put on notice of it since the Indictment
contained all relevant particulars, including the material facts underpinning the charges, the duty
applicable to Sljivandanin, the material facts concerning the breach of that duty, and the legal
consequences of this breach.*” It also argues that Sljivanganin was on further notice throughout the
trial by virtue of its related filings.*** The Prosecution submits that Sljivanéanin’s reliance on the
Brdanin case is misplaced, since in the present case, and unlike in Brdanin, the Trial Chamber
identified the mode of liability under which §ljivanéanin was convicted, and its elements, and found
that he had notice of it.*” Finally, the Prosecution contends that Sljivancanin fails to demonstrate
the prejudice accrued to him, since he did not object to the alleged lack of notice until this late stage
of the proceedings**® and has not shown how he would have actually engaged witnesses differently

at trial.*’

138. The Appeals Chamber recalls that, in considering whether an appellant received clear and

498

timely notice, the indictment must be considered as a whole.”" Although it is preferable that each

individual count precisely and expressly indicates the particular nature of the responsibility

alleged,*”

even if this is not the case, an accused might have received clear and timely notice of the
form of responsibility pleaded by virtue of other paragraphs of the indictment.’” In the Gacumbitsi
case, when seized of the question of whether the indictment gave the appellant sufficiently clear and
timely notice that he was being charged with aiding and abetting murder, the Appeals Chamber
found that reference to aiding and abetting in the preamble to the relevant count — namely a quote
of Article 6(1) of the ICTR Statute stating that by his acts the accussed had planned, instigated,
ordered, committed, or otherwise aided and abetted the planning, preparation or execution of the

crime charged — taken in combination with the allegations of material facts sufficient to support a

2 prosecution Respondent’s Brief, para. 79.

3 Prosecution Respondent’s Brief, paras 77, 79.

“** Prosecution Respondent’s Brief, para. 77, fns 246-248, referring to its Pre Trial Brief, Opening Statement and Final
Trial Brief.

*% Prosecution Respondent’s Brief, para. 78.

4% Prosecution Respondent’s Brief, para. 80.

“7 prosecution Respondent’s Brief, para. 81.

% Gacumbitsi Appeal Judgement, para. 123.

*° The Appeals Chamber recalls that the Prosecution has repeatedly been discouraged from the practice of simply
restating Article 7(1) of the Statute in its indictments unless it intends to rely on all of the modes of liability contained
therein; when the Prosecution is intending to rely on all modes of responsibility in Article 7(1) of the Statute, then the
material facts relevant to each of those modes must be pleaded in the indictment (Simic Appeal Judgement, para. 21,
citing Semanza Appeal Judgement, para. 357; Ntakirutimana Appeal J udgement, para. 473; Blaskic¢ Appeal Judgement,
para. 228; Krnojelac Appeal Judgement, para. 138; Kvocka et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 29).

" Gacumbitsi Appeal Judgement, para. 122, citing Semanza Appeal Judgement, para. 259; Ntakirutimana Appeal
Judgement, para. 473; Aleksovski Appeal Judgement, fn. 319.

5 Th
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conviction under that mode of liability, was sufficient to put the appellant on notice that he was

charged with aiding and abetting murder.>"!

139. In the present case, the Appeals Chamber notes that, according to paragraph 4 of the
Indictment, Sljivancanin was charged under Article 7(1) of the Statute with “otherwise aiding and
abetting” the crimes charged thereof. The Indictment alleges, inter alia, that Sljivancanin
“permitted” the JNA soldiers under his command to deliver the detainees to other Serb forces who
physically committed the crimes charged®®® and that, while still in charge of the evacuation
operation, he was “personally present at the Ov&ara farm on 20 November 1991 when the criminal
acts charged in this indictment were being committed”.>®* The Indictment further states that “at all
times relevant to this indictment [...] Sljivandanin was required to abide by the laws and customs
governing the conduct of armed conflicts”.>® It is also alleged that Sljivancanin was subject to
specific laws and regulations which set out the chain of command and obliged JNA officers and

their subordinates to observe the laws of war.>>

140.  In addition, under the general paragraph setting out the charges under Counts 5 to 8 of the
Indictment, it is alleged that Sljivancanin “otherwise aided and abetted” the imprisonment at the
Ov¢ara farm of approximately 300 detainees, who were subjected to various forms of abuse,
including beatings at the front of the farm building’®® and that “by these acts and omissions”
Sljivanéanin committed, inter alia, torture as a violation of the laws and customs of war under
Article 3 and Articles 7(1) and 7(3) of the Statute.>"’

141.  The Appeals Chamber finds that the paragraphs of the Indictment referenced above plead
with sufficient particularity the nature of the charges against Sljivancanin with regard to aiding and
abetting by omission the mistreatment of prisoners of war at Ovcara, and that accordingly
Sljivan¢anin had sufficient notice that this was one of the modes of liability that the Prosecution

intended to rely on.

142, In addition, with regard to the issue of prejudice, the Appeals Chamber notes that where an

appellant raises a defect in his indictment for the first time on appeal, he bears the burden of

% Gacumbitsi Appeal Judgement, para. 123.

*2 Indictment, para. 11(g).

503 Indictment, para. 11(h).

% Indictment, para. 22. The Indictment also alleges that, in his capacity as a superior in the JNA, Sljivancanin had de
Jacto and de jure control over Serb forces, members of the TO and paramilitary units that were directly involved in,
inter alia, the transfer of detainees to Ov&ara farm, where they were mistreated (see Indictment, paras 17, 18).

%% Indictment, para. 20.

*% Indictment, para. 46, , M
07 Indictment, para. 48, Count 7 (emphasis added).
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d

showing that his ability to prepare his defence was materially impaire and that generalised

allegations of prejudice will not suffice.”®” This principle is of course subject to the inherent

jurisdiction of the Appeals Chamber to do justice in the case.’'°

143.  In the present case, Sljivan¢anin provides little detail as to how his defence was materially
impaired, with the exception of a general submission that, had he known the Prosecution intended
to rely on this mode of liability, he would have applied a different approach to his case, as he would
have: (i) filed a motion challenging the jurisdiction of this International Tribunal to consider this
mode of liability on the basis that it does not form part of customary international law; and
(i1) engaged Prosecution witnesses differently, by questioning certain witnesses about the roles and
duties of Mrksic as the Commander of OG South, and asking those witnesses who were present at

Ov¢ara at the relevant time about their own roles and responsibilities.”!!

144. The Appeals Chamber finds that Sljivan&anin fails to provide specific information to show
that his defence was materially impaired by the alleged lacked of notice. For example, he raised the
challenge to the International Tribunal’s jurisdiction over this mode of liability in his appeal and as
such has still had the benefit of a determination on the issue. Furthermore, he has not indicated the
particular witnesses he would have engaged differently, the specific questions which he could have
asked them, or precisely how his approach to the case would have differed from the approach which

he in fact adopted. In light of the foregoing, Sljivan¢anin’s arguments are dismissed.

3. Whether the Trial Chamber erred in defining the elements of aiding and abetting by omission

145.  Sljivan¢anin contends that the Trial Chamber erred in law in identifying the basic elements

12 He argues that the elements of aiding and abetting which

of aiding and abetting by omission.
were identified by the Trial Chamber in this case are not appropriate for this “unique” form of
omission lability.’"* In particular, he submits that the Trial Chamber failed to take into
consideration that: (i) the duty to act must be mandated by a rule of criminal law;"'* (i1) there must

be a “capacity to act™;>" (iii) there must be at a minimum an elevated degree of “concrete

% Nahimana et al. Appeal Judgement, paras 327, 368. See also Muvunyi Appeal Judgement, para. 123; Gacumbitsi

Appeal Judgement, para. 51; Niyitegeka Appeal Judgement, para. 200.

% Nahimana et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 368.

10 Nahimana et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 327, citing Ntagerura et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 31; Niyitegeka
APBeaJ Judgement, para. 200.

3! Sljivan¢anin Appeal Brief, paras 234-236; Sljivancanin Brief in Reply, paras 45-46.

312 SljivanGanin Appeal Brief, paras 242-243, 252.

*3 Sljivan¢anin Appeal Brief, paras 244, 247.

>* Sljivancanin Appeal Brief, paras 245, 247(a); Sljivan&anin Supplemental Brief in Reply, paras 41, 42. T

*13 §ljivancanin Appeal Brief, paras 245, 247(b). See also Sljivancanin Supplemental Brief in Reply, para. 43.
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inﬂuence”;516 and (iv) the knowledge that the conduct will facilitate the commission of a crime

cannot be “mere knowledge”.517 The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber correctly set out
the elements of aiding and abetting by omission and that they comport with the elements previously

identified by the Appeals Chamber for aiding and abetting.”'®

(a) Preliminary issue

1% the Appeals Chamber has never set out the elements for a

520
1.

146.  As Sljivandanin argues,

conviction for omission in detai In the Ori¢ case, the Appeals Chamber considered the Trial

316 §ljivan¢anin Appeal Brief, para. 245, citing Oric¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 41; Blaski¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 664.
See also Sljivan¢anin Appeal Brief, para. 247(d); Sljivanéanin Supplemental Brief in Reply, paras 46-50.

*'7 Sljivanéanin Appeal Brief, paras 245, 247(e); Sljivanéanin Supplemental Brief in Reply, paras 34-39. Sljivananin
also contends under his second ground of appeal that, should the Appeals Chamber find that the Trial Chamber
correctly identified the elements of aiding and abetting by omission, it erred in applying them to the facts of the case
(Sljivan¢anin Appeal Brief, para. 249). However, he does not attempt to support this argument under his second ground
of appeal. The only specific arguments he makes in this respect are found under his fifth ground of appeal: see infra
Section IV(E): “Whether the Elements of Aiding and Abetting the Torture of the Prisoners of War in Ov&ara were
Fulfilled”. See Sljivancanin Appeal Brief, paras 211-212, 214.

%1% Prosecution Supplemental Respondent’s Brief, para. 23.

519 Sljivan&anin Appeal Brief, para. 192.

%2 Ori¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 43, citing Simi¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 85, fn. 259; Blaskic¢ Appeal Judgement,
para. 47. The Appeals Chamber notes that paragraph 554 of the Trial Judgement in the case at hand states that, in the
Blaskic Appeal Judgement, the Appeals Chamber found that although not expressly stated, Tihomir Blagki¢ was
apparently convicted for having aided and abetted by omission the inhuman treatment of detainees occasioned by their
use as human shields. The Trial Chamber in the present case reached this conclusion by reasoning that given that the
indictment against Tihomir Blaski¢ charged him with all the forms of responsibility under Article 7(1) of the Statute,
and that all of these, save for aiding and abetting, were specifically rejected or clearly not considered, the Appeals
Chamber must have entered a conviction for aiding and abetting as it was the only remaining mode of liability. This
understanding of the Blaski¢ Appeal Judgement is incorrect. The Appeals Chamber would like to emphasize for the
sake of clarity that the Blaskic Appeals Chamber did not convict Tihomir Blaki¢ for aiding and abeiting by omission
the inhuman treatment of detainees. The Blaski¢ Appeals Chamber affirmed Tihomir Blagki¢’s conviction under
Count 19 of the indictment pursuant to Article 7(1) of the Statute for the inhuman treatment of detainees occasioned by
their use as human shields (a grave breach as recognised by Article 2(b) of the Statute). In reaching this decision the
Blaski¢ Appeals Chamber: recalled that the indictment against him pleaded that by his acts and omissions, he had
committed a grave breach as recognized by Articles 2(b), 7(1) and 7(3) (inhuman treatment) of the Statute of the
International Tribunal; set out the legal definition of inhuman treatment under Article 2 of the Statute; found that the
Trial Chamber’s finding that he knew of the use of the detainees as human shields was one that a reasonable trier of fact
could have made; and found that his failure to prevent the continued use of the detainees as human shields, leaving the
protected persons exposed to danger of which he was aware, constituted an intentional omission on his part. The Blaski¢
Appeals Chamber found that the elements constituting the crime of inhuman treatment had been met as there was an
omission to care for protected persons which was deliberate and not accidental, which caused serious mental harm, and
constituted a serious attack on human dignity. In the absence of proof that Tihomir Blaski¢ positively ordered the use of
human shields, the Appeals Chamber concluded that his criminal responsibility was properly expressed as an omission
pursuant to Article 7(1) as charged in the indictment and found him guilty under Article 7(1) of the Statute for the
inhuman treatment of detainees occasioned by their use as human shields. Indeed, as the Trial Chamber in the present
case noted, the Blaski¢ Appeals Chamber left open the possibility that in the circumstances of a given case, an omission
may constitute the actus reus of aiding and abetting. This statement has 1o be read in context with the facts of that case.
In his appeal, Tihomir Blaski¢ had argued that the Trial Chamber erroneously applied a strict liability standard to find
him guilty as an aider and abettor. After concluding that the Trial Chamber had correctly set out the mens rea and actus
reus requirements, the Blaskic Appeals Chamber found that the Trial Chamber was correct in part and erred in part in
setting out the legal requirements of aiding and abetting. It was in the context of analyzing the Trial Chamber’s
articulation of the actus reus of aiding and abetting (which the Trial Chamber considered might be perpetrated through
an omission, provided this failure to act had a decisive effect on the commission of the crime and that it was coupled
with the requisite mens rea) that the Blaski¢ Appeals Chamber stated that in the circumstances of a given case, an
omission may constitute the actus reus of aiding and abetting. Furthermore, the Blaski¢ Appeals Chamber noted that the
Trial Chamber did not hold Tihomir Blaski¢ responsible for aiding and abetting the crimes at issue; considered that this
form of participation had been insufficiently litigated on appeal; concluded that this form of participation was not fairly
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Chamber’s findings in order to determine whether Atif KrdZié, Naser Ori¢’s subordinate, had been
found responsible for aiding and abetting by omission.”*! It concluded that no such finding had been
entered as the issue of whether Naser Ori¢’s subordinate had incurred criminal responsibility had
not been resolved by the Trial Chamber.>** In this context, with regard to the mode of liability of
aiding and abetting by omission, the Appeals Chamber held that:

at a minimum, the offender’s conduct would have to meet the basic elements of aiding and

abetting. Thus, his omission must be directed to assist, encourage or lend moral support to the

perpetration of a crime and have a substantial effect upon the perpetration of the crime (actus

reus). The aider and abettor must know that his omission assists in the commission of the crime of

the principal perpetrator and must be aware of the essential elements of the crime which was
ultimately committed by the principal (mens rea).’*

Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber in Ori¢ acknowledged that the basic elements of aiding and
abetting apply notwithstanding whether this form of liability is charged as “omission”. The mens
rea and actus reus requirements for aiding and abetting by omission are the same as for aiding and
abetting by a positive act.’** The critical issue to be determined is whether, on the particular facts of
a given case, it is established that the failure to discharge a legal duty assisted, encouraged or lent
moral support to the perpetration of the crime, and had a substantial effect on it. In particular, the
question as to whether an omission constitutes “substantial assistance” to the perpetration of a crime

requires a fact based enquiry.’>

147.  The Appeals Chamber now turns to Sljivancanin’s submissions that the Trial Chamber did

not properly identify certain elements of aiding and abetting by omission in the present case.

(b) The nature of the legal duty

148.  Sljivan¢anin submits that the duty to act, which forms the basis of omission liability, must
stem from a rule of criminal law and cannot be a general duty.>*® He contends that this issue is of
particular significance to his case, in light of his submission that he was under no specific duty

mandated by criminal law to protect the prisoners of war at Ov&ara on 20 November 1991.5%7

encompassed by the indictment; and declined to consider this form of participation any further. See Blaski¢ Appeal

Judgement, paras 43-52, 660, 665, 666, 668, 670, Disposition, p. 258.

321 See Ori¢ Appeal Judgement, paras 43-46.

52 See Ori¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 47.

°3 Ori¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 43, citing Nahimana et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 482; Simi¢ Appeal Judgement,

paras 85, 86; Seromba Appeal Judgement, para. 56; Blagojevic and Joki¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 127; Aleksovski

APpcal Judgement, para. 162.

2 Ori¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 43; Blaskic Appeal Judgement, para. 47 (“The Appeals Chamber leaves open the

g)zcs)ssibility that in the circumstances of a given case, an omission may constitute the actus reus of aiding and abetting”).
" See Blagojevi¢ and Joki¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 134 (“The Appeals Chamber observes that the question of

whether a given act constitutes substantial assistance to a crime requires a fact-based inquiry”). See also Muvunyi

Aé)geal Judgement, para. 80. 5

528 Sljivancanin Appeal Brief, paras 245, 247(a); Sljivan¢anin Supplemental Brief in Reply, para. 41.

527 Sljivancanin Supplemental Brief in Reply, para. 42.

63
Case No.: IT-95-13/1-A 5 May 2009

TM



3671

149.  The Prosecution responds that the question remains open as to whether the duty to act must
be based on criminal law, or may be based on a general duty.528 However, it argues that in the
context of the present case it is not necessary for the Appeals Chamber to decide on this issue, since
the Trial Chamber’s findings make clear that Sljivanéanin’s duty to act stemmed from criminal law,
in the sense that a breach of that duty gave rise to individual criminal responsibility under Article
7(1) of the Statute.’® It submits that the Trial Chamber’s finding is consistent with the
jurisprudence of the International Tribunal, which has recognised that the breach of a duty to act

imposed by the laws and customs of war is criminalised under international and domestic law.”*

150. The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber was satisfied that the duty to protect the

. . TP 531
prisoners of war was imposed on Sljivancanin by the laws and customs of war.

In particular, the
Trial Chamber referred to Article 13 of Geneva Convention III which provides, infer alia, that any
unlawful omission by the Detaining Power which causes death or seriously endangers the health of

d,>** and to the JNA’s own regulations on the application of the laws of

a prisoner of war is prohibite
war, pursuant to which each individual was responsible for applying the regulations, including the
humane treatment of prisoners of war.” In addition, the Trial Chamber considered that
Sljivanéanin’s duty to protect prisoners of war was part of his remit as security organ of OG South,
and by virtue of the authority delegated to him by Mrksi¢ with regard to the removal of war crime

suspects from the hospital.”** According to the Trial Chamber:

[i]t follows that his omission, when visiting Ovéara, or immediately after, to take necessary
measures to prevent the continuing commission of crimes against the prisoners of war protected by
the laws and customs of war, amounts to a breach of his legal duty. As discussed earlier, a failure
to dischargcsa3 a legal duty of this kind may incur criminal responsibility pursuant to Article 7(1) of
the Statute.

151. The Appeals Chamber recalls that it has previously recognised that the breach of a duty to
act imposed by the laws and customs of war gives rise to individual criminal responsibility.>*® The
Appeals Chamber further recalls that Sljivancanin’s duty to protect the prisoners of war was

537

imposed by the laws and customs of war.””’ Thus, the Appeals Chamber considers that

Sljivanéanin’s breach of such duty gives rise to his individual criminal responsibility. Therefore, it

528 prosecution Supplemental Respondent’s Brief, paras 25-26.
32 Prosecution Supplemental Respondent’s Brief, para. 27. See also AT. 168.
3 Prosecution Supplemental Respondent’s Brief, para. 27, citing Blaski¢ Appeal Judgement, fn. 1384.
3 Tral Judgement, paras 668-669.
332 See Trial Judgement, para. 668, fn. 2157, citing Article 13 of Geneva Convention I1I; Blaskic¢ Appeal Judgement,
?ara. 663, fn. 1384.
* See Trial Judgement, para. 668 fn. 2157, citing Exhibit P396, “Regulations on the Application of International Laws
of War in the Armed Forces of the SFRY, 1988”.
>** Trial Judgement, para. 668.
> Trial Judgement, para. 669.
% Blaskic¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 663, fn. 1384. -~
%7 See supra Section ITL(B)( 3). l

Case No.: IT-95-13/1-A 5 May 2009



3670

is not necessary for the Appeals Chamber to further address whether the duty to act, which forms

part of the basis of aiding and abetting by omission, must stem from a rule of criminal law.
152.  In light of the foregoing, Sljivan¢anin’s argument is dismissed.

(c) The capacity to act

153.  Sljivandanin submits that the Trial Chamber failed to consider his material ability to take the
necessary and reasonable measures to fulfil his duty to protect the prisoners of war at Ovéara.”*® He
argues that regardless of any authority allegedly conferred on him by Mrksi¢, and even if he was
present at Ovcara, he could not issue orders directly to the Chief of Staff of OG South, or particular
commanders of the 80 mtbr, which would have been necessary to protect the prisoners.”>® The
Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber was correct in finding that Sljivancanin had the
material ability to act,>* and that this conclusion is supported by the Trial Chamber’s other findings
that the JNA had the capacity to control the TOs and paramilitaries, and that Sljivanéanin in
particular was authorised to use as many military police as necessary to secure the prisoners and

. 541
ensure their safe passage.

154.  The Appeals Chamber considers that aiding and abetting by omission necessarily requires
that the accused had the ability to act, or in other words, that there were means available to the
accused to fulfil this duty.”** In the present case, the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber
addressed in detail the possibilities which were open to Sljivanganin to discharge his duty.”*
Consequently, Sljivan¢anin’s argument that he could not issue orders to the Chief of Staff of OG
South, or the commander of the 80 mtbr without first addressing their Brigade Commander, who
was present,”* does not support his contention that the Trial Chamber failed to take into
consideration his material ability to take the necessary and reasonable measures to fulfil his duty to

protect the prisoners of war at Ov¢&ara. Accordingly, Sljivananin’s argument is dismissed.

(d) The requirement of “concrete influence”

155.  Relying on the Appeals Chamber Judgements in Ori¢ and Blaskic, Sljivan¢anin submits

that, at a minimum, aiding and abetting by omission requires an elevated degree of “concrete

>3 SljivanGanin Appeal Brief, para. 245, 247(b); Sljivancanin Supplemental Brief in Reply, para. 43.

539 §ljivancanin Supplemental Brief in Reply, para. 45.

** Prosecution Supplemental Respondent’s Brief, para. 28, citing Trial Judgement, paras 667, 670. See also AT. 168.
! prosecution Supplemental Respondent’s Brief, para. 28, citing Trial Judgement, paras 396, 400. See also AT. 168.
2 of Ntagerura et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 335.

543 Trial Judgement, paras 667, 670.
** Sljivancanin Supplemental Brief in Reply, para. 45. See infra para. 201. TM
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influence”.>* He argues that this provides an objective standard for establishing whether his
omission had a “substantial effect” on the mistreatment of prisoners>*® and that the contribution
must be considered from the perspective of the perpetrators of the crime, not the omission itself.>*’
Sljivanéanin also appears to propose that the failure to act must have a “decisive effect” on the
commission of the crime,”*® but fails to elaborate this point. The Prosecution responds that there is
no indication that the “concrete influence” standard is in fact any higher than “substantial effect”

,549 and that Sljivancanin’s reliance on the Oric case is misplaced, since

which is the correct standard
in that case the Appeals Chamber used the term “concrete influence” in the context of its finding
that aiding and abetting by omission requires more than a simple correlation between the omission
and the crimes.””° The Prosecution submits that to prove that an omission had a substantial effect on
the crime, it must be shown that the crime would have been substantially less likely to have

occurred had the accused acted.>!

156. The Appeals Chamber recalls that, in the Oric¢ case, it found that the actus reus for
“commission by omission requires an elevated degree of ‘concrete influence’”,>* as distinct from
the actus reus for aiding and abetting by omission, the latter requiring that the omission had a
“substantial effect” upon the perpetration of the crime.>> The Appeals Chamber finds no merit in
Sljivanéanin’s attempt to conflate the substantial contribution requirement with the notion of an
elevated degree of influence,”** and notes that Sljivanéanin himself does not provide any further
support for his submission on this issue, beyond the vague statement that an “objective criteria” for

555

assessing “substantial contribution” is warranted on the particular facts of his case.” Accordingly,

Sljivan€anin’s argument is dismissed.

> Sljivan&anin Appeal Brief, para. 245, citing Oric¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 41, Blaski¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 664.

See also Sljivanéanin Supplemental Brief in Reply, paras 46-50; AT. 145-146.

346 Sljivandanin Supplemental Brief in Reply, paras 46-47.

M7 AT. 147.

58 SljivanGanin Appeal Brief, para. 247(d).

** Prosecution Supplemental Respondent’s Brief, para. 29.

% Ibid.

ST AT. 169.

2 Ori¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 41, citing Blaski¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 664.

>3 Ori¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 43, citing Nahimana et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 482; Simic Appeal Judgement,
ara. 85.

& The Appeals Chamber emphasizes that the reference to the term “concrete influence” in the Oric case (Oric Appeal

Judgement, para. 41) must be read in the context of the Blaski¢ Appeals Chamber’s qualification to the effect that the

degree of “concrete influence” of a superior over the crime in which his subordinates participate (namely, the time

when the superior’s omission takes place vis-g-vis the occurrence of the crime), is a possible “distinguishing factor

between the modes of responsibility expressed in Articles 7(1) and 7(3) of the Statute” since if the superior’s omission

to prevent a crime occurs when “the crime has already become more concrete or currently occurs, his responsibility

would also fall under Article 7(1) of the Statute” (Blaski¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 664). —

* Sljivancanin Supplemental Brief in Reply, paras 47, 48. ] \\/\
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(e) The mens rea of aiding and abetting by omission

157.  Sljivandanin submits that “aiding and abetting requires an intentional act on the part of the
[a]ccused, which can only be matched by a culpable omission, a concept that goes beyond the basic
elements of aiding and abetting as defined by the Appeals Chamber”.>>® He argues that since the

2557
to

omission would have to be “specifically directed to assist, encourage or lend moral support
the perpetration of the crime, “only the wilful failure to discharge a duty, which implies the
culpable intent of the accused, can lead to individual criminal responsibility, pursuant to Article
7(1) of the Statute”.”® In this regard, Sljivantanin submits that “mere knowledge” that the conduct
facilitates the commission of the crime is insufficient to establish aiding and abetting by omission>>
and that the applicable mens rea standard must include, at a minimum, proof beyond reasonable
doubt that he consciously decided not to act, which amounts to consent.”®® He argues that failure on
the part of the Trial Chamber to establish that his omission was intentional and deliberate amounts

to a finding of strict liability.”®"

158.  The Prosecution responds that Slivan&anin attempts to elevate the mental element of aiding
and abetting to a kind of special intent, which has already been specifically rejected by the Appeals
Chamber.”®® It submits that the correct test is knowledge in the sense of “awareness of a
probability” that the crime will be committed and that the acts or omissions will assist or facilitate
in the commission of the crime,563 and that, in any event, the facts as found by the Trial Chamber

would fulfil his proposed criteria.’®*

159. The Appeals Chamber considers that Sljivantanin misapprehends the mens rea standard
applicable to aiding and abetting. The fact that an “omission must be directed to assist, encourage or

lend moral support to the perpetration of a crime” forms part of the actus reus not the mens rea of

565

aiding and abetting.™ In addition, the Appeals Chamber has confirmed that “specific direction” is

5% Sljivanéanin Appeal Brief, para. 212.

%7 Sljivananin Appeal Brief, para. 211, citing Ori¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 43. See also Nahimana et al. Appeal

Judgement, para. 482.

%% Sljivan¢anin Appeal Brief, para. 214.

> Sljivancanin Appeal Brief, para, 245.

5% See Sljivancanin Supplemental Brief in Reply, para. 53. Sljivancanin further contends that the Trial Chamber should

have applied the following additional criteria: (i) that he had knowledge of his ability to act; (i1) that he was aware of

the essential elements of the crime ultimately committed by the principal; and (iii) that he had knowledge that taking

action would obstruct the commission of the crime (see Sljivancanin Appeal Brief, para. 247(¢)).

%61 §ljivandanin Supplemental Brief in Reply, para. 52.

%62 Prosecution Supplemental Respondent’s Brief, para. 13, citing Blaski¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 49. See also

Prosecution Supplemental Respondent’s Brief, paras 12, 14.

% Prosecution Supplemental Respondent’s Brief, para. 31. See also AT. 169, citing Ndindabahizi Appeal Judgement,
ara. 122.

S Prosecution Supplemental Respondent’s Brief, para. 33. See also AT. 172.

% Ori¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 43. ; n4
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not an essential ingredient of the actus reus of aiding and abetting.566 It reiterates its finding that the
required mens rea for aiding and abetting by omission is that: (1) the aider and abettor must know
that his omission assists in the commission of the crime of the principal perpetrator; and (2) he must
be aware of the essential elements of the crime which was ultimately committed by the principal.>®’
While it is not necessary that the aider and abettor know the precise crime that was intended and
was 1n fact committed, if he is aware that one of a number of crimes will probably be committed,
and one of those crimes is committed, he has intended to facilitate the commission of that crime,
and is guilty as an aider and abetter.’®® The Appeals Chamber further recalls that it has previously
rejected an elevated mens rea requirement for aiding and abetting, namely, the proposition that the
aider and abettor needs to have intended to provide assistance, or as a minimum, accepted that such
assistance would be a possible and foreseeable consequence of his conduct.’® Accordingly,

Sljivancanin’s arguments are dismissed.
4. Conclusion

160.  In light of the foregoing, Sljivan&anin’s second ground of appeal is dismissed in its entirety.

C. Third Ground of Appeal: Sliivanéanin’s Legal Duty to Protect the Prisoners of War at

Ovcara by Virtue of his Responsibility for the Evacuation of the Vukovar Hospital

161. The Trial Chamber convicted Sljivancanin for aiding and abetting the torture of over
200 prisoners of war held at Ovéara on 20 November 1991.57° In reaching this conclusion, the Trial
Chamber found that Sljivancanin was under a duty to protect the prisoners of war by reason of his
responsibility for the evacuation of the Vukovar hospital, and his failure to prevent the commission

of crimes against the prisoners of war amounted to a breach of that duty.’”!

162.  Sljivanéanin argues that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that Mrksi¢ put him in charge of
the evacuation of the Vukovar hospital and thereby entrusted him with a legal duty to protect the
prisoners of war at Ov¢ara.”’? He avers that the Trial Chamber committed the following errors:

(1) the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he testified that Mrksi¢ ordered him to ensure the

° Blagojevi¢ and Joki¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 189; see also Blagojevic¢ and Jokic¢ Appeal Judgement para. 188.

%7 See supra para. 146.

*® Simi¢' Appeal Judgement, para. 86, citing Blaski¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 50. See also Nahimana et al. Appeal
Judgement, para. 482; Ndindabahizi Appeal Judgement, para. 122; FurundZija Trial Judgement, para. 246.

*® Blaski¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 49, citing Vasiljevic Appeal Judgement, para. 102. See also Blagojevic and Joki¢
A&)peal Judgement, para. 222.

°7 Trial Judgement, paras 674, 689, 715.

Trial Judgement, para. 669. See also Trial Judgement, paras 391, 668, 670.

*7 Sljivancanin Notice of Appeal, para. 17; Sljivancanin Appeal Brief, paras 257-259, citing Trial Judgement, para.

400. See also AT. 148-150, 200-201. (T M

57t
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transport of the prisoners of war from the hospital to the prison in Sremska Mitrovica;"” (2) the
Trial Chamber erred in finding that, on 19 November 1991, Mrksié¢ announced that he had entrusted
him with the evacuation of the hospital and authorised him to use the military police for that
purpose;”’* (3) the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he was in charge of the evacuation of the
Vukovar hospital whereas it was Colonel Pavkovi¢’s responsibility;”’”> (4) the Trial Chamber erred
by inferring that he was involved in the transfer of the prisoners of war from the JNA barracks to
Ovdéara;”™® and (5) the Trial Chamber erred, by mischaracterising the testimony of Witness Vujié
and relying on the testimony of other eye-witnesses not familiar with the JNA structure, in finding

that he was in charge of the evacuation of the Vukovar hospital.””’

He posits that if he was not in
charge of the evacuation of the Vukovar hospital and did not have a legal duty to protect the
prisoners of war at Ovcara, there can be no culpable omission on his part, and thus requests that the

Appeals Chamber enter a verdict of not guilty under Count 7 of the Indictment.’”®

163.  The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber’s finding that Sljivan¢anin was entrusted
by MIksi¢ with evacuating the Vukovar hospital and securing the prisoners of war during their
transfer was the only reasonable conclusion which could have been drawn from the evidence.”” It
avers that §ljivanéanin artificially deconstructs the evidence, misstates some of it, and fails to show

how the alleged errors invalidate the Trial Judgement.**

1. Whether Sljivancanin testified that Mrksi¢ told him to ensure the transport of the prisoners of

war to Sremska Mitrovica

164.  Sljivancanin challenges the Trial Chamber’s finding that he testified that “Mile Mrk3i¢ told
him to ensure the transport of war crime suspects from the hospital to the prison in Sremska
Mitrovica”.”®! He submits that: (a) he did not testify that he had been tasked with the transport of
prisoners of war to Sremska Mitrovica and thus that the Trial Chamber incorrectly characterised his
role in the evacuation;” and (b) his security officers corroborated his description of the scope of

his tasks in relation to the evacuation.’®>

B8 Sljlvancamn Notice of Appeal, para. 17(a).
Sl]lvancamn Notice of Appeal, para. 17(b).
375 § Slj1vancan1n Notice of Appeal, para. 17(c).
Sljlvancamn Notice of Appeal, para. 17(d).
577§ Sljivancanin Notice of Appeal, para. 17(¢).
578 Sljlvancamn Notice of Appeal, paras 21-22.
 Prosecution Respondent’s Brief, para. 86, citing Trial Judgement, paras 390-396, 400-401, 659. See also AT. 175-
181.
280 Prosecution Respondent’s Brief, para. 87.
58l Slpvancamn Appeal Brief, para. 284, citing Trial Judgement, para. 391.
Sljlvancamn Appeal Brief, paras 261-263, 285-287.
Sljlvancanm Appeal Brief, para. 288(a), citing Mladen Karan, T. 15554-15556; Bor&e Karanfilov, T. 15423-15424;
Ljubisa Vukasinovi¢, T. 15007. Sljivan&anin also argues under the present sub-ground of appeal that the Trial Chambe;_T M
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(a) The Trial Chamber’s characterisation of Sljivan&anin’s testimony

165. In his testimony, Sljivanéanin testified twice about the tasks with regard to the Vukovar

hospital that Mrksi¢ delegated to him:

[Mrksic] gave me the following task: that I must ensure full security to have all of those who are
suspected of having committed war crimes taken out of the hospital first so that they would be
transported to the prison in Sremska Mitrovica. As for the transport of these persons, I should
report to the assistant for logistics; that he had already been ordered to assign buses for that.’®*

As soon as the 18" of November, at that meeting, MrkSic said that all crime suspects, or all those
who had surrendered as crime suspects, were to be taken to Sremska Mitrovica, to the prison in
Sremska Mitrovica, whereas the civilians could be taken to two different places - either to the Red
Cross headquarters in Sid or to a place along the Croatian border where it was agreed that they
would be received. There were also those who wanted to remain in Vukovar and it was said that
those people should be allowed to do so undisturbed and unharassed.’®

It is correct, as noted by the Prosecution,>® that Sljivan¢anin mentioned the transport of the
prisoners to Sremska Mitrovica in both of these instances. However, as Sljivan&anin counters,”®’
mere knowledge of the destination does not necessarily imply that he was in charge of their
transport. Thus, Sljivancanin’s testimony on its own is ambiguous: while his statements do not
foreclose that possibility, in neither case did he explicitly say that he was responsible for the

transportation of the prisoners of war.

166.  Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber accepts Sljivantanin’s argument that the Trial Chamber
erred in finding that he testified that “Mrksi¢ told him to ensure the transport of war crime suspects
from the hospital to the prison in Sremska Mitrovica”.>%® However, while the Trial Chamber could
not rely on Sljivan¢anin’s testimony on its own to conclude that Mrksi¢ delegated to him the
authority for the evacuation of the Vukovar hospital, the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial
Chamber also relied on other evidence. Thus, the Appeals Chamber will assess the impact of the
Trial Chamber’s error after it has addressed Sljivancanin’s challenges to this evidence under his

other sub-grounds of appeal.

could not rely, in support of its finding that Mrksi¢ appointed him to evacuate the hospital, on his presence at the
hospital (Sljivancanin Appeal Brief, para. 288(b)) and the fact that he held a meeting with the hospital staff whilst the
prisoners were taken out of the hospital (Sljivan¢anin Appeal Brief, para. 288(c)). However, the Appeals Chamber notes
that while these findings may not, on their own, have been sufficient to establish that Sljivanganin was in charge of the
evacuation, the Trial Chamber did not rely on them alone but rather on a number of findings which are discussed in this
§8r40und of appeal. Accordingly, these arguments are dismissed.

Veselin Sljivan¢anin, T. 13597.
%% Veselin Sljivancanin, T. 13621.
3% prosecution Respondent’s Brief, paras 88-91.

*%7 Sljivanganin Brief in Reply, paras 51-52.

*% Trial Judgement, para. 390. I h
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(b) Whether Sljivandanin’s security officers corroborated his description of the scope of his

tasks in relation to the evacuation

167.  In support of his contention that he was not appointed by Mrk3i¢ to be in charge of the
whole evacuation of the Vukovar hospital but was merely given discrete tasks, Sljivan¢anin submits
that his security officers corroborated his description of the scope of his tasks in relation to the
evacuation.’® Contrary to his submissions, however, the testimonies of some of his officers support
rather than contradict the finding that he was responsible for the evacuation and transport of the
prisoners of war from the Vukovar hospital. As the Trial Chamber found,”® on the evening of
19 November 1991, Sljivan¢anin held a briefing for his subordinates at which he delegated various
tasks to them to effectuate the evacuation of the Vukovar hospital.®' The delegation of tasks
included putting Major Vukasinovi¢ in charge of the organisation of buses and the transport of the
selected prisoners from the hospital to the JNA barracks and then on to Sremska Mitrovica.>*? As a
result, it was not unreasonable for the Trial Chamber to conclude that Mrksi¢ conferred on
Sljivanéanin the authority not only to ensure the security and the triage of the prisoners of war at the
Vukovar hospital, but also entrusted him with the evacuation of the prisoners of war more broadly

understood, including their transportation. Accordingly, Sljivan¢anin’s argument is dismissed.

2. Whether Mrksic announced that Sljivancanin was in charge of the evacuation of the Vukovar

hospital at the 18:00 hours regular briefing on 19 November 1991

168.  Sljivan¢anin argues that the Trial Chamber erred in finding, at paragraphs 192 and 396 of
the Trial Judgement, that Mrksi¢ announced at the 18:00 hours regular OG South briefing on
19 November 1991 that he had entrusted SljivanGanin with the evacuation of the hospital and
authorised him to use the military police for that purpose.””® In support of this contention, he
submits that the Trial Chamber erred by: (a) failing to consider that Witnesses Paunovi¢, Susi¢,
Trifunovi¢, LeSanovi¢ and GlusCevié, who were present at the briefing, did not confirm that Mrksi¢

594

made such a statement;”" (b) finding that the statement given by Witness Pani¢ to Prosecution

investigators accurately reflected the tenor of Mrksic’s statement at the briefing;**® and (c) finding

589 §ljivanéanin Appeal Brief, para. 288(a), citing Mladen Karan, T. 15554-15556; Borce Karanfilov, T. 15423-15424;
LjubiSa Vukasinovi¢, T. 15007.

5% Trial Judgement, para. 192.

! See Mladen Karan, T. 15632-15633; Bore Karanfilov, T. 15453-15454.

2 Trial Judgement, para. 192. See also Ljubisa Vukasinovi¢, T. 15007-15008; Mladen Karan, T. 15555-15556, 15633.
%93 Sljivan&anin Notice of Appeal, para. 17(b); Sljivandanin Appeal Brief, paras 264, 290-332.

2 Sljivananin Appeal Brief, paras 265, 290-300; Sljivanéanin Brief in Reply, paras 56-57.

** Sljivan¢anin Appeal Brief, paras 266, 301-319, citing Trial Judgement, para. 396; Stjivanéanin Brief in Reply, paras
58-61. Sljivancanin also argues that the fact that the Trial Chamber found that Witness Pani¢ reported to Mrksi€ rather
than SljivanCanin on a number of issues related to the evacuation of the prisoners of war shows that Sljivancanin was
not in charge of the evacuation (Sljivancanin Appeal Brief, paras 316-318). However, the fact that Pani¢ reported tq\‘_ M
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that Mrksic’s direction during the briefing to Captain Paunovi¢ to provide his military police to
secure the buses reinforced its conclusion that Mrksi¢ authorised Sljivandanin to use the military

police for securing the prisoners.>”®

169.  The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber properly considered the evidence of the
participants in the 18:00 hours briefing on 19 November 1991 and that their testimonies do not
support Sljivancanin’s contention.>’ Regarding Witness Pani¢’s account of the briefing, the
Prosecution submits that: (i) the Trial Chamber did not err in relying on his testimony;>*® (ii) the
Trial Chamber did not err in its reasoning for why it accepted his written statement and his reasons
for qualifying it during his testimony;> (iii) his reports to MrkSi¢ on 20 November 1991 do not
undermine that Sljivan¢anin was in charge of the evacuation of the hospital and the security of the
prisoners;* and (iv) Mrksi¢’s overall commanding role of the evacuation does not negate
Sljivanéanin’s responsibility.*! Finally, the Prosecution avers that the Trial Chamber did not err in
finding that Mrksic¢’s specific direction to Captain Paunovié reinforced its finding that MrkSi¢

authorised Sljivan¢anin to use military police to secure the prisoners of war.?’?

(a) The Trial Chamber’s alleged failure to consider testimonies which do not support its

finding

170. With regard to Sljivan&anin’s argument that the Trial Chamber failed to consider the
relevant testimony of witnesses who were present at the 18:00 hours briefing on 19 November 1991
in determining that Mrksi¢ delegated responsibility for the evacuation to Sljivandanin,®’ the
Appeals Chamber notes that while the Trial Chamber chose to rely on the evidence of Witness
Panic in reaching its conclusion, it did state that it also took into account that “no other INA witness
who was at the briefing gave evidence about Mile Mrksi¢ making such a statement at the
briefing”.®®* Further, the Appeals Chamber notes that while Witnesses Gluscevié, Vojnovic,
Trifunovi¢ and Susi¢ did not testify that MrkSic assigned responsibility for the evacuation of the
Vukovar hospital to Sljivancanin, they did not foreclose the possibility. For example, Witness

Trifunovid testified:

MIk3i¢ on certain issues does not preclude Sljivancanin from having been delegated responsibility for the evacuation
and transport of the prisoners of war. His argument is thus dismissed.

¢ Sljivananin Appeal Brief, paras 267, 320-331, citing Trial Judgement, paras 192, 396, 401, fns 1563, 1581.

*7 Prosecution Respondent’s Brief, paras 98-101, citing Trial Judgement, paras 127, 153, 192-193, 260, 263, 314, 317,
396, 401.

%8 prosecution Respondent’s Brief, para. 104.

%% Prosecution Respondent’s Brief, paras 104-110.

%0 prosecution Respondent’s Brief, paras 111-112.

%! prosecution Respondent’s Brief, paras 113-114.

602 Prosecution Respondent’s Brief, paras 116-120.

** Sljivanéanin Appeal Brief, paras 265, 290-300; §ljivancanin Brief in Reply, paras 56-57.

* Trial Judgement, para. 396. \r l\{
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I don't know whether [Sljivanéanin] received any kind of duties or assignments in relation to the
evacuation. I think that it is clear that those organs and — are actually supposed to be used in this
manner. That is all.

He did not have the right, as I said, to command units of the military police. If there was any
command and carrying out of orders, this was probably with the approval or agreement of the
commander, and it was probably a result of the authority that he enjoyed.*”

The Trial Chamber thus did not fail to consider their testimonies, including the fact that they did not
testify that Mrksi¢ announced that SljivanGanin was in charge of the evacuation of the Vukovar
hospital; rather, it chose to rely upon Witness Pani¢’s account of the briefing. Sljivancanin thus fails
to demonstrate that the Trial Chamber ignored relevant evidence, nor does he show why no
reasonable trier of fact, based on the evidence, could have reached the same conclusion as the Trial

Chamber did.® Accordingly, Sljivancanin’s argument is dismissed.

(b) Witness Panié’s change of position in his evidence

171.  The Appeals Chamber now turns to Sljivan¢anin’s argument that the Trial Chamber erred in
relying on Witness Pani¢’s written statement to the Prosecution over his viva voce evidence.?”’ In
his written statement, Witness Pani¢’ stated that Mrksi¢ ordered Sljivancanin to be in charge of the
evacuation of the Vukovar hospital and authorised him to use military police to ensure the safe
passage of the prisoners of war. However, in his viva voce evidence, he stated that Colonel
Pavkovi€ was in charge of the overall evacuation of the Vukovar hospital and that Sljivancanin was
in charge of the separation of prisoners of war from civilians at the hospital.*®® The Trial Chamber
accepted the change in Witness Pani¢’s evidence as an attempt to “accommodate what he described
as documents, with which he had been familiarised, and which he said helped him realise that in his
statement he ascribed to Veselin Sljivancanin certain powers which he did not have at the relevant
time”.” Sljivancanin alleges that the Trial Chamber erred by finding that Witness Pani¢ changed
his position based on his review of military regulations when in fact Pani¢ qualified his prior
statement on the basis of “documents and written statements [...] which relate to the events of

20 November 19917.510

172. The Appeals Chamber notes that it is not altogether clear from Witness Pani¢’s testimony

which documents he was referring to as the basis for changing his evidence. He made reference to

%% Radoje Trifunovic, T. 8187-8188.

606 Cf. Brdanin Appeal Judgement, para. 24. See also Strugar Appeal J udgement, paras 24, 74.

607 SljivanCanin Appeal Brief, paras 266, 301-319, citing Trial Judgement, para. 396; Sljivan¢anin Brief in Reply, paras

58-61.

608 Sljivancanin Appeal Brief, paras 266, 303.

% Trial Judgement, para. 396.

*!® Sljivancanin Appeal Brief, para. 309. See also Sljivancanin Appeal Brief, para. 308. 'T (\/,
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the regulations,”"! but also referred to a document produced by the command of the 1% Military
District and the Cabinet of the Federal Secretary for All People's Defence which discussed the

¢ 612
C

involvement of Colonel Pavkovic.”” When cross-examined by the Prosecution concerning this

document, Witness Pani¢ testified as follows:

Q. And you're saying this document appoints Colonel Pavkovi¢ to command the evacuation? I'm
aware of the document where he is sent to the Guards Motorised Brigade, but again, do you
possess any document from the JNA command tasking or ordering Colonel Pavkovi¢ to be in
charge or in command of that evacuation? No one in this Court has ever seen such a document.
Do you have one in your possession?

A. I don't have one in my possession, but I did see the document talking about the involvement of
Pavkovi¢, who would [be] negotiating, receiving, and taking those people away. After all, he's
right there in those recordings, but that's a bit of a special topic, isn't it? The answer is I don't have
the document on me right now.

Q. The issue of his command, sir. You've already indicated that the paragraph in your statement

is correct, that you were present when Colonel Mrksi¢ appointed Major Sljivan&anin to be in
charge of that evacuation. You don't have any document in your possession from Colonel Mrksi¢
indicating that Colonel Pavkovi¢ was in charge of the evacuation; isn't that correct?

A. No, no such document.®"?

The Appeals Chamber takes into consideration Sljivancanin’s argument that “[r]efreshing one’s
memory on events that took place in a distant past with the presentation relevant authentic
documents [...] can improve the credibility of a witness”.%* However, the Appeals Chamber notes
that, if §ljivanéanin considered that the nature of the documents which Witness Pani¢ reviewed in
preparing his testimony was essential to the Trial Chamber’s acceptance of Witness Pani¢’s viva
voce evidence over his written statement, §ljivanéanin should have made clear at trial which
exhibits he was relying upon. He did not. In his Brief in Reply, Sljivanéanin stresses that “the

Prosecution is wrong when it claims that [his Defence] did not state the documents that were shown

to Pani¢ during the preparation of his testimony”®!®

and submits that “[i]n his testimony, Pani¢
confirmed that around ten documents (including ECMM reports) were shown to him by the
Defence during his preparation”.®'® Nevertheless, the Appeals Chamber observes that it is apparent
from the trial transcripts that neither the Prosecution nor the Trial Chamber was informed exactly

which documents were relied upon by the Defence when proofing this witness.®’” When asked by

°!!' Miodrag Pani¢, T. 14297.

2 Miodrag Pani¢, T. 14495-14496.

%> Miodrag Pani¢, T. 14495-14496.

61 Sljivancanin Appeal Brief, para. 312.

o1s §ljivanéanin Brief in Reply, para. 58.

616 Sljivan¢anin Brief in Reply, para. 59, citing Exhibits 320-333, 335.

7 After Witness Panic responded that Colonel Pavkovié conducted all the negotiations, agreements and discussions
concerning the evacuation when examined by the Defence, Counsel for the Prosecution raised an objection as there was
no reference to Colonel Pavkovi¢’s involvement in the evacuation in the summary of proofing notes provided to the
Prosecution by the Defence (Miodrag Panic, T. 14297-14299). The Defence replied that it was not their duty to provide
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the Defence who was in charge of the evacuation of the Vukovar hospital, Witness Pani¢ responded

“[]et us start from the regulations. Colonel Pavkovié conducted all the negotiations, agreements,

s 618 9

discussions”.”® Moreover, having reviewed the evidence®® on the basis of which Sljivan€anin

620

£ 64

claims that Witness Pani¢ “concluded that Col. Pavkovié was in charge of the evacuation”,”” the
Appeals Chamber considers that this evidence does not support the contention that “it was in fact
Colonel Pavkovi¢ who was in charge of the evacuation” as opposed to Sljivancanin.®*! Further, the
Appeals Chamber finds that Sljivan¢anin fails to demonstrate how, if at all, the nature of the
documents that Witness Panic reviewed before he testified would have affected the Trial Chamber’s
preference for Witness Pani¢’s written statement over his viva voce evidence. Accordingly,

Sljivan€anin’s argument is dismissed.

(¢) Mrk3i¢’s direction to Captain Paunovi¢ to make the military police available to

Sljivancanin

173.  The Trial Chamber stated that its finding that Sljivantanin was authorised to use the military
police was “further reinforced at the meeting by Mile Mrksi¢’s specific direction to Captain
Paunovi¢ who was present, to provide his military police to secure the buses”.’?* In reaching this
conclusion, the Trial Chamber relied solely on Witness Panié¢’s evidence.5?> Sljivanéanin challenges
this finding, arguing that the Trial Chamber erred in relying exclusively on Witness Pani¢’s prior
written statement,*** particularly given that, according to Sljivan¢anin, Witness Paunovi¢, who was
commander of the military police, testified that he was not re-subordinated to anyone in ensuring
the security of the buses.®” The Appeals Chamber recalls that it has already found that it was
reasonable for the Trial Chamber to rely on Witness Panic’s prior statement. Further, the Appeals

Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber considered Captain Paunovi¢’s evidence that Sljivan&anin

such kind of information (Miodrag Pani¢, T. 14298). See also Miodrag Pani¢ T. 14298-14303 (exchange between
Counsel and the Presiding Judge of the Trial Chamber on this issue).

%18 Miodrag Pani¢, T. 14297.

*!” See Exhibit P320, “ECMM Report of Humanitarian Convoy from Vukovar Hospital, 22 November 1991”: Exhibit
P321, “ECMM Report of Vukovar Relief Mission, 20-22 November 1991”; Exhibit P322, “ECMM Report, Ky-V-10,
Daily Summary, 20 November 1991”; Exhibit P323, “ECMM Report, Ky-V-5, EC Team talks to Dr. Bosanac”; Exhibit
D324,“ECMM Report, Ky-I-16, Report on Referendum, 13 October 1991”; Exhibit D325, “Activities of the European
Monitoring Mission in the Area of TLOK, 19 October 1991”; Exhibit D326, “ECMM Report, Ky-1-14, Report on visit
to ILOK, 19 October 1991”; Exhibit D327, “Report 832-85/115 from the 1% Military District Command,
19 October 1991”; Exhibit D328, “Report 832-85/95 from the 1% Military District Command, 30 September 1991”;
Exhibit D329, “Report 832-85/114 from 1* Military District Command, 18 October 1991”; Exhibit D332, “Report 832-
86/145 from 1" Military District Command, 23 November 1991”; Exhibit D333, “ECMM Report of Evacuation of
Vukovar, 19 November 19917; Exhibit D335, “Video of Borsinger and Pavkovi¢”.

620 Sljivancanin Brief in Reply, para. 59.

62! Sljivancanin Appeal Brief, para. 266.

%22 Trial Judgement, para. 396.

%23 See Trial Judgement, fn. 1563.

®* Sljivancanin Appeal Brief, para. 320, citing Trial Judgement, para. 396, fn. 1563.

°® Sljivancanin Appeal Brief, para. 324, citing Radoje Paunovi¢, T. 14167.
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never issued an order to him, but did not accept the reliability of his evidence because it

contradicted that of Sljivancanin.5?® Accordingly, Sljivandanin’s argument is dismissed.

3. Whether the Trial Chamber erred in finding that Sliivancanin rather than Colonel Pavkovi¢ was

in charge of the evacuation of the Vukovar hospital

174.  Sljivan¢anin submits that if the Trial Chamber had not failed to consider certain JNA and
ECMM documents, it could not have concluded beyond reasonable doubt that he was responsible
for the evacuation of the Vukovar hospital but rather would have concluded that it was Colonel
Pavkovi¢’s responsibility.®”” The Prosecution responds that Sljivananin has failed to show a
discernible error and that the Trial Chamber properly considered the JNA and ECMM exhibits in its

discussion of both Sljivan¢anin and Colonel Pavkovi¢’s roles during the operation.®?®

175.  The Appeals Chamber notes that, in the course of its discussion and findings on the events
of 18 to 20 November 1991 and the roles and responsibilities of both Sljivananin and Colonel
Pavkovi¢, the Trial Chamber referred to and considered all of the INA®*® and ECMM®* exhibits
listed by Sljivan¢anin in this sub-ground of appeal with the exception of Exhibit D125. Exhibit
D125 is an excerpt of a video of the negotiations at Mitnica, used at trial to show Colonel
Pavkovi¢’s involvement in the negotiations.®*' While the Trial Chamber did not specifically refer to
this exhibit, it did note Colonel Pavkovi¢’s participation in the Mitnica surrender negotiations®*>

and discussed his role in the operations throughout the Trial Judgement.®** Sljivanéanin thus fails to

%2 Trial Judgement, para. 401.

*7 Sljivanéanin Appeal Brief, paras 270-272, 333-343, citing JNA documents (Exhibits P401, “War Diary of the
Guards of the Motorized Brigade™; P404, “Order on engagement of officers from SSNO from Guards Motorized
Brigade, 29 September 1991”; P419, “Order 439-1 from Mrksi¢, 20 November 19917; P421, “Regular combat report
no. 457-1, signed by Mrksi¢, 20 November 1991”) and ECMM documents (Exhibits D125, “Excerpt of video of
negotiations at Mitnica”; P316, “ECMM Report of talks with Cunningham”; P320, “ECMM Report of Humanitarian
Convoy from Vukovar Hospital”; P321, “ECMM Report of Vukovar Relief Mission™; D333, “ECMM Report of
Evacuation of Vukovar”; D335, “Video of Borsinger and Pavkovi¢”; D336, “Transcript of Exhibit D335”; P344,
“Notebook of Witness Kypr November-December 1991 ). See also Sljivanéanin Brief in Reply, paras 66-70.

%28 Prosecution Respondent’s Brief, paras 122-128.

2 Exhibit P401, “War Diary of the Guards of the Motorized Brigade” (see Trial Judgement, fns 138-139, 239, 241,
248, 264, 364, 486, 493, 521, 576, 1291); Exhibit P419, “Order 439-1 from Mrksi¢, 20 November 19917 (see Trial
Judgement, paras 197, 295, fns 260, 290); Exhibit P421, “Regular combat report no. 457-1, signed by Mrksié, 20
November 1991” (see Trial Judgement, fns 290-291, 712, 1625).

**® Exhibit P316, “ECMM Report of talks with Cunningham” (see Trial Judgement, fns 453, 455, 459, 460, 1987,
1988); Exhibit P320, “ECMM Report of Humanitarian Convoy from Vukovar Hospital” (see Trial Judgement, fns 164,
797, 807, 829); Exhibit P321, “ECMM Report of Vukovar Relief Mission” (see Trial Judgement, fn. 817); Exhibit
D333, “ECMM Report of Evacuation of Vukovar” (see Trial Judgement, fns 458, 462, 479, 803, 1988, 2010); Exhibit
D335, “Video of Borsinger and Pavkovi¢” (see Trial Judgement, fn. 804); Exhibit D336, “Transcript of Exhibit D335”
(see Trial Judgement, fns 803, 804); Exhibit P344, “Notebook of Witness Kypr November-December 1991” (see Trial
Judgement, fns 432, 434, 435, 437, 439, 440, 453, 454, 457, 459, 464-466, 570, 576, 1987); Exhibit P401, “War Diary
of the Guards of the Motorized Brigade” (see Trial Judgement, fns 138-139, 239, 241, 248, 264, 364, 486, 493, 521,
576, 1291); Exhibit P404, “Order on engagement of officers from SSNO from Guards Motorized Brigade,
29 September 1991” (see Trial Judgement, fns 192, 225).

®!'Van Lynden, T. 3215.

%32 Trial Judgement, para. 146. A
¥ See Trial Judgement, paras 62, 139, 146, 151, 209, 366, 476, 575, 578, 582, 586, 602. |
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demonstrate that the Trial Chamber failed to consider the above-mentioned exhibits, nor does he
show why no reasonable trier of fact, based on the evidence, could have reached the same
conclusion as the Trial Chamber did concerning Colonel Pavkovié’s role.®** Accordingly,

Sljivanéanin’s argument is dismissed.

4. Whether Sljivandanin was involved in the transfer of the prisoners of war from the INA

barracks to Ovcéara

176.  Sljivan¢anin submits that the Trial Chamber erred by inferring at paragraph 659 of the Trial

Judgement that he was involved in the transfer of the prisoners of war from the JNA barracks to

635 He submits he was not involved in the transfer, which demonstrates that he was not

636

Ovcara.
responsible for the entire evacuation of Ovcara.”” He further argues that the fact that he was not
involved in the transfer demonstrates that, even if he was in charge of the evacuation of Ov¢ara, his
responsibility came to an end when he was “kept out of the loop™ of plans regarding the destination

637

of the prisoners of war.””’ The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber’s findings were

sound.®*®

177. The Trial Chamber’s inference that Sljivanianin was involved in the transfer of the
prisoners of war from the JNA barracks to Ov&ara was based on: (i) Sljivanéanin’s visit to the JNA
barracks while the buses with the prisoners were there;** (ii) his continuing control of the prisoners
at the barracks, in that prisoners listed by him were removed from the buses and returned to the
hospital;** (iii) the responsibility and authority conferred on him by Mrksi¢ to direct the process of
the selection and transport of the prisoners of war from the hospital;**! (iv) the authority expressly
given to him by Mrksi¢ to use such military police of OG South as he required;**? (v) the fact that
military police of 2 MP/gmtbr guarded the prisoners until they reached Ovcara where military
police of 80 mtbr, who had been ordered urgently to Ovcara, were ready to secure the prisoners on

their arrival;** (vi) the personal involvement of Sljivancanin’s deputy Major Vukasinovi€ in the
transportation of the prisoners to Ov&ara;*** and (vii) Sljivanéanin’s presence at OvcCara within

about an hour of the arrival there of the prisoners of war.®*’ The Appeals Chamber considers that

34 Brdanin Appeal Judgement, para. 24. See also Strugar Appeal Judgement, paras 24, 74.

%% Sljivanéanin Appeal Brief, paras 276-278, 344-365; Sljivancanin Brief in Reply, paras 71-80. See also AT. 149-150.

%3 Sljivanéanin Appeal Brief, para. 278.

%7 Sljivantanin Appeal Brief, para. 363. See also AT. 201.

%% prosecution Respondent’s Brief, paras 129-144.

839 Trial Judgement, para. 659. See also Trial Judgement, paras 219, 223,

9 Trial Judgement, para. 659. See also Trial Judgement, paras 221, 224.

**! Trial Judgement, para. 659. See also Trial Judgement, paras 217, 221, 224, 400.

*2 Trial Judgement, para. 659. See also Trial Judgement, paras 125, 397, 400,

43 Trial Judgement, para. 659.

*** Trial Judgement, para. 659. See also Trial Judgement, paras 192, 198, 208, 255.

* Trial Judgement, paras 659. See also Trial Judgement, para. 372. __.,\ M
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Sljivan¢anin’s arguments®*® fail to show that, in reaching its conclusion, the Trial Chamber failed to

consider the totality of the evidence, or that it failed to properly assess this evidence.*’

178. Moreover, even though the Trial Chamber found that “[t]he order to send the buses with the

prisoners of war from the JNA barracks in Vukovar to Ovcara [...] also facilitated the commission
of the crimes committed at Ovéara that day”,**® the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial
Chamber’s finding that Sljivananin was responsible for the evacuation and transport of the
prisoners of war from the Vukovar hospital to Sremska Mitrovica is not based solely on the finding
that he was involved in the transfer of the prisoners of war from the JNA barracks to Ovéara.®*
Additionally, the Appeals Chamber rejects Sljivan¢anin’s submission that his not being informed of
the change of destination for the prisoners of war would have terminated his duty to protect the
prisoners of war. Accordingly, Sljivanéanin fails to show that had the Trial Chamber not drawn the
inference that Sljivananin was involved in the transfer of the prisoners of war from the JNA
barracks to Ov¢ara, it would not have found that Sljivan¢anin had an ongoing responsibility for the
entire evacuation of the prisoners of war from Vukovar hospital.®* Accordingly, Sljivan¢anin’s

argument is dismissed.

5. Whether Sljivancanin directed the evacuation operation at the Vukovar hospital

179.  Sljivanéanin challenges the Trial Chamber’s findings at paragraph 401 of the Trial
Judgement that a number of witnesses observed him directing the evacuation operation at the
Vukovar hospital on 20 November 1991. He posits that a number of the eye-witnesses lack
reliability because they were “ignorant of the JNA organization”,”! and points to Witness
Trifunovi¢’s testimony that Sljivancanin appearing before the media with ICRC representatives
may have created the impression that he had more responsibility than he actually did.’*
Sljivanéanin further argues that the Trial Chamber mischaracterised the testimony of Witness
Vuji¢.* Sljivanganin avers that instead of relying on these witnesses, the Trial Chamber should
have relied on the testimony of Witnesses Paunovi¢ and Sugi¢ who testified that they did not

receive orders from him.%>*

9 Sljivancanin Appeal Brief, paras 347-365.

%7 Sljivanéanin Appeal Brief, paras 276-277.

848 Trial Judgement, para. 659.

49 See Trial Judgement, paras 390-401.

9 Cf. Marti¢ Appeal Judgement, paras 16-17; Strugar Appeal Judgement, para. 19; Brdanin Appeal Judgement, paras
21-22; Kordic and Cerkez Appeal Judgement, para. 19; Furundzija Appeal Judgement, para. 37.

%! Sljivancanin Appeal Brief, para. 367.

%2 Sljivancanin Appeal Brief, para. 367; Radoje Trifunovi¢, T. 8349-8350. See also Sljivandanin Brief in Reply,

ara. §83.
5 Sljivanéanin Appeal Brief, paras 368-372. See also Sljivanéanin Brief in Reply, para. 84.
854 Sljivancanin Appeal Brief, paras 373-378. See also Sljivan&anin Brief in Reply, paras 85-91. "‘\ M
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180. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber properly considered the testimonies of
eye-witnesses which were consistent and corroborative of the Trial Chamber’s conclusion.%>® It
further submits that Witness Trifunovi¢’s testimony does not negate these accounts, given that he
was not at the hospital on 20 November 1991,656 and the fact that Mrk$i¢ was in overall command

does not preclude Sljivanéanin from having been responsible for the evacuation.®’

(a) The testimony of eye-witnesses present at the Vukovar hospital

181.  While the Appeals Chamber recognises that civilians may not have a comprehensive
understanding of the JNA hierarchy and organisation, it considers that this would not necessarily
negate their ability to generally observe who appeared to be in charge and directing the evacuation
of the hospital. Further, the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber did not rely exclusively
on these witnesses to reach its conclusion that Sljivananin was in charge of the evacuation of
Vukovar hospital. As discussed above,®® it also relied on testimony regarding JNA briefings and
meetings at which the operation and responsibilities were discussed. As such, the testimonies of
eye-witnesses from the Vukovar hospital serve as corroborative evidence rather than the sole
foundation for the finding of the Trial Chamber that Sljivancanin was in charge of the evacuation
and security of the Vukovar hospital. Additionally, the Appeals Chamber does not consider that
Witness Trifunovi¢’s affirmation that Sljivandanin’s appearance before the media gave the
impression that Sljivan¢anin had greater importance than he actually had negates the testimony of
the eye-witnesses who observed him giving instructions at the hospital. The Appeals Chamber thus
finds that Sljivan¢anin fails to show a discernible error in the Trial Chamber’s reliance on eye-

witnesses from the Vukovar hospital. Accordingly, Sljivan¢anin’s argument is dismissed.

(b) The Trial Chamber’s assessment of Witness Vujié’s testimony

182.  With regard to Sljivanéanin’s submissions that the Trial Chamber mischaracterised Colonel
Vu;ji¢’s testimony, the Appeals Chamber considers that the Trial Chamber’s discussion of Witness

> clearly and accurately reflected his testimony.®® Contrary to Sljivananin’s

Vuji¢’s evidence®
submission, the Trial Chamber did not find that Witness Vuji¢ had testified that Sljivancanin had
ordered two military police officers to accompany Witness Vuji¢, but rather inferred it from

Witness Vuji€’s testimony. The Trial Chamber summarised Witness Vuji¢’s testimony as follows:

655 Prosecutlon Respondent’s Brief, paras 145-153.

Prosecutlon Respondent’s Brief, para. 149.
Prosecutlon Respondent’s Brief, paras 154-155.
*% See supra paras 167, 170.

% Trjal Judgement, para. 401.

%0 Bogdan Vuji¢, T. 4534-4535, 4799. { M
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Colonel Vuji€ stated that the military police guarding the hospital in the morning of 20 November
1991 were under Veselin §ljivan(“:anin’s command. He insisted in cross-examination that Veselin
Stjivanganin was both the security organ present at the hospital and the commander of the military
police unit. Colonel Vuji¢ stated that he asked Veselin Sljivancanin to assign two soldiers to
accompany Vuji¢ when touring the hospital. Subsequently, a military police commander brought
two military police officers. It appears that Veselin Sljivan€anin issued an order for two officers of

the military police to accompany Colonel Vuji¢.*"!

Further, while Witness Vuji¢ was not part of OG South, he was a member of the INA®®? and would
have had some insight when observing who appeared to be directing the operation even though he
may not have known the details of the operation. As a result, it was not unreasonable for the Trial
Chamber to accept Witness Vuji¢’s testimony that his impression was that Sljivan¢anin was both

663

commander of the military police and security organ.®” Accordingly, SljivanGanin’s argument is

dismissed.

(c) The testimony of Witnesses Paunovi¢ and Susi¢ that they received orders from Mrksic

183.  With regard to Sljivandanin’s argument that the Trial Chamber should have relied on
Witnesses Paunovi¢ and Susi¢’s testimonies that they never received orders from Sljivanganin, but
rather received them from Mrksic,*** the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber considered
Witness Paunovic’s evidence but did not accept it because it contradicted Sljivancanin’s own

> and finds that Sljivanéanin does not demonstrate why this reasoning should be

testimony66
overturned. Further, the Appeals Chamber recalls that the Trial Chamber discussed Witness Sugic’s
testimony thoroughly, including the reasons why Witness Susic reported to Mrk3ic.®®® However, the
Appeals Chamber does not consider that the fact that Witness Susic¢ received orders exclusively
from Mrksi¢ shows that Sljivandanin was not in charge of the evacuation of the hospital.?’

Accordingly, Sljivan&anin’s argument is dismissed.
6. Conclusion

184.  The Appeals Chamber recalls that while it found that the Trial Chamber mischaracterised
Sljivanéanin’s testimony as to whether Mrksi¢ told him to ensure the transport of the prisoners of

war to Sremska Mitrovica,®® the Trial Chamber did not rely on his testimony alone for its

%! Tral Judgement, para. 401 (footnotes omitted).

%2 Bogdan Vuji¢, T. 4478-4480.

% Sljivanéanin Appeal Brief, para. 372.

%* Sljivanianin Appeal Brief, paras 289, 373-377.

%55 Trial Judgement, para. 401.

% Trial Judgement, paras 298-300.

667 Similarly, the Appeals Chamber does not consider that the fact that Witnesses Vuji¢ and Gluséevic did not testify
that they received orders from Sljivanéanin shows that Sljivanéanin was not in charge of the evacuation (see

Slgjivanéanin Appeal Brief, para. 289).
65 See supra para. 166. ! l‘?
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conclusion that Mrksic delegated to him the authority for the evacuation of the Vukovar hospital.*®’
In particular, the Appeals Chamber dismissed Sljivantanin’s arguments that: (i) it was unreasonable
for the Trial Chamber to have concluded that Mrksi¢ announced at the 18:00 hours regular OG
South briefing on 19 November 1991 that he had entrusted Sljivandanin with the evacuation of the
Vukovar hospital and authorised him to use the military police for that purpose;®’™® (ii) the Trial
Chamber ignored the JNA and ECMM exhibits which Sljivanéanin alleged demonstrated that
Colonel Pavkovié not Sljivacanin was in charge of the evacuation;®’! (iii) the Trial Chamber erred
by inferring that Sljivancanin was involved in the transfer of the prisoners of war from the JNA

? and (iv) the Trial Chamber erred in relying on the testimonies of eye-

barracks to Ovéara;®’
witnesses and Witness Vuji¢ who were present at the Vukovar hospital on 20 November 1991, in
reaching the conclusion that Sljivanganin’s behaviour at the Vukovar hospital supported its finding

that he was responsible for the evacuation of the prisoners of war.®’>

185.  Inlight of the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber finds that it was reasonably open to the Trial
Chamber to conclude, on the basis of the totality of the evidence before it, that Sljivan¢anin was
under a duty to protect the prisoners of war from the Vukovar hospital by reason of the
responsibility delegated to him by Mrksi¢. Accordingly, Sljivancanin’s third ground of appeal is

dismissed in its entirety.

D. Fourth Ground of Appeal: Whether Sliivan¢anin Witnessed the Mistreatment of the

Prisoners of War at Ovéara

186.  Sljivancanin relies on the evidence of Witness PO09 and that of other witnesses to challenge

the Trial Chamber’s finding that he must have witnessed the mistreatment of the prisoners of war in

Ov¢ara.?

He further contends that the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that he failed to take
necessary measures to stop the mistreatment of the prisoners of war®” and requests the Appeals
Chamber to reverse the Trial Chamber’s finding and enter a verdict of not guilty for Count 7 of the

Indictment.5’¢

187.  The Prosecution responds that the evidence before the Trial Chamber demonstrates that the

677

finding challenged by Sljivancanin was not unreasonable.®’” It further contends that even if he did

% See supra para. 167.
70 See supra paras 170-173.
! See supra para. 175.
72 See supra para. 177.
673 See supra paras 181-182.
674 Sljlvancanm Notice of Appeal, para. 23; Sljlvancamn Appeal Brief, paras 394-402.
Sljlvancamn Notice of Appeal, paras 24-25; Sljlvancamn Appeal Brief, paras 389-390, 406-407.
%76 Sljivan&anin Notice of Appeal, paras 26-27; Sljivan¢anin Appeal Brief, paras 406-409.
*"" Prosecution Respondent’s Brief, paras 158, 177. See also AT, 182-194. T l\,(
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not actually witness the mistreatment, the situation in Ovéara as well as Sljivancanin’s knowledge
of the serious threat posed by the TOs and paramilitaries who had free access to the prisoners, can

only lead to the conclusion that he knew that the prisoners would probably be mistreated.®’®

1. Witness P0O09’s testimony

188.  Sljivancanin submits that the only evidence of his presence at Ov&ara was the testimony of
Witness P009, and that this testimony supports his assertion that he only arrived after the buses had
left and all the prisoners had already entered the hangar.®”® He contends that, had the Trial Chamber
considered the entire testimony of Witness PO09 and its own findings regarding Witness P009’s
sequence of events, it could not have concluded beyond reasonable doubt that Sljivandanin
witnessed the mistreatment in front of the hangar at Ov&ara.5® Sljivanéanin also submits that the
Trial Chamber should have considered that, in accordance with the testimony of Witness P009,
Sljivanéanin could only have arrived at Ovcara after the buses had left and the prisoners had already
entered the hangar, and that Witness PO09 could not confirm exactly how long Sljivancanin was

< 1
present at Ov&ara.®®

189.  The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber’s findings as to the timeline of events were

reasonable®®?

and that the fact that the Trial Chamber made no findings as to the precise duration of
Sljivanéanin’s presence at Ov¢ara does not render the Trial Chamber’s findings unreasonable on
this issue, since in any event Sljivan&anin only needed to be there for a short time to witness the

. 3
mi1 streatment.68

190. The Appeals Chamber recalls its finding concerning Sljivancanin’s first ground of appeal
that he failed to demonstrate that the Trial Chamber committed any error of fact which occasioned a
miscarriage of justice at paragraph 383 of the Trial Judgement, where it found that he was at Ovéara
at about 14:30 or 15:00 hours.*®* It also recalls its finding under that same ground of appeal that the
buses were completely unloaded at around 15:00 hours and that Witness PO09 must have seen
Sljivan&anin at about 15:00-15:30 hours.*® In the present ground of appeal, Sljivanéanin essentially
contends that the fact that Witness PO09 saw him only after the buses were unloaded implies that he
only arrived in Ov¢ara after that period. The Appeals Chamber, however, fails to see how the fact

that Witness PO09 saw Sljivandanin only after the buses were unloaded undermines the Trial

%7 Prosecution Respondent’s Brief, paras 159, 177. See also AT. 191.

°” Sljivananin Appeal Brief, paras 386-387, 394-399; Sljivancanin Brief in Reply, para. 92. See also AT. 155-156.
6% Sljivancanin Appeal Brief, paras 397, 402; Sljivancanin Brief in Reply, paras 92-93, 96.

%1 Sljivancanin Appeal Brief, paras 386, 397-398, 401-402.

°2 Prosecution Respondent’s Brief, paras 163-164, 167. See also AT. 183-185.

%83 prosecution Respondent’s Brief, para. 168.

o84
111,
65See supra para. 11 ‘ ( [\.7

 See supra para. 123.
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Chamber’s finding that Sljivananin must have been in Ovéara at about 14:30-15:00 hours, at which
time “in the Chamber’s finding the unloading of prisoners of war and their having to pass through
the gauntlet towards the hangar were still in progress”.**® The Appeals Chamber further notes that it

%87 that it did not conclude that Sljivan¢anin was present

is clear from the Trial Chamber’s reasoning
for the entire period in which this process of transferring the prisoners of war from the buses to the
hangar occurred, but rather that it was satisfied that Sljivancanin was at Ov&ara at some stage
during this process. Therefore, the Appeals Chamber considers that the fact that Witness PO09 was
unable to confirm precisely how long Sljivan¢anin was at Ovéara does not invalidate the Trial
Chamber’s findings as to the timeline of events, nor its findings that Sljivananin was present at
Ovcara during the relevant period and witnessed the mistreatment of prisoners. Accordingly,

Sljivancanin’s argument is dismissed.

2. Other witnesses’ testimony

191.  In support of his argument that he was not at Ov¢ara when the prisoners passed through the
gauntlet, Sljivan¢anin points to the testimony of Witnesses Dragutin Berghofer, Emil Cakali¢,
P030, P031 and Hajdar Dodaj that they did not see him in front of the hangar at Ové&ara.®®® The
Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber properly considered the testimony of these

witnesses.*®

192. The Appeals Chamber recalls its earlier findings regarding Sljivancanin’s first ground of
appeal that the Trial Chamber properly considered the evidence of these witnesses when concluding
that SljivanGanin was present at in Ov¢ara in the afternoon of 20 November 1991.5%° In particular,
the Appeals Chamber found that the Trial Chamber: (i) properly exercised its discretion by relying
on the testimony of Witness P009, rather than Witness Hajdar Dodaj, concerning Sljivancanin’s
presence at Ovéara;691 (i1) carefully considered the evidence of Witnesses P030, P031, Hajdar
Dodaj and Dragutin Berghofer prior to accepting Witness P009’s testimony that he saw
Sljivanéanin at Ov&ara;*? and (iii) considered the testimony of Witnesses P031 and Emil Cakali¢

%93 Under the present ground of appeal, Sljivan¢anin

that they did not see Sljivan¢anin at Oviara.
does not attempt to further substantiate his arguments under his first ground of appeal. Accordingly,

Sljivan€anin’s argument is dismissed.

686 Trial Judgement, para. 663.
%7 Trial Judgement, para. 663.
088 Sljivancanin Appeal Brief, paras 403-405.
%9 Prosecution Respondent’s Brief, paras 172-176. See also AT. 186-191.
6% See supra para. 129.
! See supra para. 109.
See supra para. 111. 7
*See supra para. 128. l
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3. Conclusion

193. In light of the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber finds that Sljivan¢anin fails to demonstrate
that the Trial Chamber’s finding that he was present at Ovcara at the time when the prisoners of war
were seriously mistreated by TOs and paramilitaries and must have witnessed the mistreatment was
unreasonable. He fails to show that the Trial Chamber committed an error of fact which resulted in
a miscarriage of justice at paragraph 663 of the Trial Judgement.694 Accordingly, Sljivan¢anin’s

fourth ground of appeal is dismissed in its entirety.

E. Fifth Ground of Appeal: Whether the Elements of Aiding and Abetting the Torture of the

Prisoners of War in Ovcéara were Fulfilled

194.  The Trial Chamber found that Sljivanéanin’s failure to act pursuant to his duty to ensure the
security of the prisoners of war from the Vukovar hospital had a substantial effect on the
commission of the crimes of cruel treatment and torture at Ovdara in the afternoon of
20 November 1991.%° It further found that he knew that the TOs and paramilitaries were
mistreating the prisoners of war and concluded that he must have been aware that his failure to give
clear direction to the military police present or to reinforce them facilitated the commission of the
crimes.””® Accordingly, the Trial Chamber found Sljivancanin guilty of aiding and abetting the

torture of the prisoners of war at the hangar at Ov¢ara in the afternoon of 20 November 1991.%7

195.  Sljivanéanin submits that the elements of aiding and abetting were not fulfilled in that:
(1) the Trial Chamber erred in finding that his omission had a substantial effect on the commission
of the crimes at Ovcara; (2) the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he must have been aware that
his failure to give clear direction to the military police or to reinforce them assisted the commission
of the crimes; and (3) the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he was on notice of the occurrence of
acts similar to those committed in Ov&ara.®*® Accordingly, he requests the Appeals Chamber to

enter a finding of not guilty under Count 7 of the Indictment.**

196. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber properly found that the actus reus and
mens rea of aiding and abetting by omission were fulfilled.”” It submits that Sljivanéanin

misunderstands the applicable standard of substantial contribution’! and misconstrues the pertinent

% Slivancanin Notice of Appeal, para. 23.

%3 Trial Judgement, para. 670.

896 Trial Judgement, para. 670.

%7 Trial Judgement, paras 674, 715.

** Sljivananin Notice of Appeal, para. 28; Sljivancanin Appeal Brief, para. 466. See also AT. 157-160.
*” Sljivan¢anin Notice of Appeal, para. 30; Sljivancanin Appeal Brief, para. 467.

7% Prosecution Supplemental Respondent’s Brief, paras 37-38. See also AT. 170-174.

™! Prosecution Supplemental Respondent’s Brief, para. 37. ‘
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factual findings of the Trial Chamber that he was aware of his contribution to the crimes.””* It

further posits that the Trial Chamber’s findings regarding Sljivanéanin’s knowledge of earlier
crimes and the perpetrators’ propensity to harm the prisoners of war was relevant to his mens rea.”>
The Prosecution concludes that Sljivanéanin has not shown that the Trial Chamber’s findings on the

elements of aiding and abetting by omission were unreasonable.’®*

1. Whether §1jivanéanin’s omission had a substantial effect on the commission of the crimes

197.  Sljivancanin submits that no reasonable trier of fact could have concluded that his failure to
take action to protect the prisoners of war held at Ov¢ara had a substantial effect on the commission

of the crimes committed against them.’®

He submits that the Trial Chamber erred in reaching this
conclusion because it failed to consider the presence at Ov¢ara of officers who had the material
ability and were in a better position than him to take measures to stop the mistreatment of the
prisoners of war, and had reason to take such action.”” Sljivan¢anin particularly points to LtCol
Milorad Vojnovié,””” but also refers to LtCol Miodrag Pani¢,”® Captain Dragan Vezmarovi¢’® and
Captain Dragi Vukosav